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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and
mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful

consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized
companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make
no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Singyes New
Materials Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to
the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this
report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Company Announcements” page of the
Stock Exchange website (www.hkexnews.hk) for at least 7 days from the date
of its publication and on the website of the Company (www.syeamt.com).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHE

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present to you the annual results RABREREFS  MARZPEIETM
of China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its ERBERAF(TARR D) REKB AR (TR
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023. SEDHEE-_ZT-_=F+=-A=1+—HItx

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue of the Group was HE-Z-=F+=-RA=+—HIt  KEEWK
RMB85.4 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 9.3%. ABIANRKRS AT E T  FLIEIN.3% °

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT EFBBRERE

Upholding leading strategic role In 2023, the revenue of Smart PDLC BISEESIEEEN S = F  AEET
products of the Group recorded year-on-year increase of 38.3%, which BEF N EMUARLLIGIN38.3% « E&EBKHE
enabled this principal business to maintain a leading position in terms of Bl 515 A 38 R B ST AT

market share in the PRC.

Upholding cost reduction and efficiency improvement The Group had ERIFRE RGNS B - R AEES(E

effectively reduce production cost by changing the operation model, IRER - BIBREREL - BAFS - S AE®
developing new products, introducing competitive products and improving REASZEBEBTE AR EEEKX
production techniques throughout all areas of operations from research and K o

development, procurement to production.

Upholding product market expansion In 2023, the production of motor ~ EXfFHEAZEZHHN —T——4F » KEF#E
vehicle films of the Group had been continue to enlarge, which continue to BRAIBERMNEE  BEZEET RETE
tapping into the motor vehicle sector. Through efforts in recent years, relying BREES N REITOMBERRETER
on ITO development advantages and years of accumulation and reputation in ZEMFBEFNOE - NEBERIMARZSE
the industry, the Group has officially joined the supplier system of well-known WHRLEE MR R - FETEMA - EF
automotive glass manufacturers, consolidating its position in the industry and RIFEBMBERATS °

laying a good foundation and development prospects.

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE

TECHNOLOGY RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

In 2023, China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited achieved remarkable
scientific and technological achievements, of which Zhuhai New Materials
was recognized as a specialized and new small and medium-sized enterprise
in Guangdong Province and Zhuhai; Zhuhai New Materials and Shenzhen
Kangsheng Company were recognized as innovative small and medium-
sized enterprises in Guangdong Province; and Shenzhen Kangsheng was
recognized as a technology-based small and medium-sized enterprise. Our
“R&D and Industrialization of Smart Liquid Crystal Light-adjusting Products”
project was listed in the list of 2023 China Technology Advanced Materials
Field. It tackled the bottleneck problem regarding the key core technology of
light-adjusting products, and accelerated the application and development of
light-adjusting products. Our “Key Technology Development, Industrialization
and Application of Smart Liquid Crystal Light-adjusting Products” project
came in first in the 2023 Zhuhai Innovative Technology Progress Award.
Our “smart liquid crystal light-adjusting film for motor vehicles” and “anti-
transparency smart liquid crystal light-adjusting film” were continued to be
selected as Guangdong Outstanding High and New Technology Product; Our
“smart liquid crystal light-adjusting film for motor vehicles” was continued
to be selected as Zhuhai Innovative Project. In 2023, China Singyes New
Materials applied for a total of 15 patents, including 4 inventions and 11 utility
models; in 2023, it obtained 13 authorized patents, including 1 invention and
12 utility models, and revised 1 Enterprise standards and participated in the
compilation of the national standard “Functional Film for Architectural Glass”,
participated in the compilation of “Building Interior Prefabricated Decoration
Design Standards”, “Urban Renovation Old Community Renovation Interior
Decoration Design Standards” and “Building Decoration EPC Project
Management Standards” Group standards.

iR

TR —FHPEEERMBARREKRKRE
% HRBSMERERE AERE K™
SRR E  EREFMEARIIEEA
AINRTE AERE A RN E - RIIFEE
WRE AR RNDE - CEERSATNE
mEHEREEE)BERE S =FF 4
P SCHEMRL GBI E - WARALEMR [ RIF
F | R OB - IRA N E R ER R
B o (CRERBIANE R BIRAE RE
ECMERAVEEE-_S_=FEalFKEHR
BRIMESR—FR - (TERRATEREA
FIEVFICP BB 58 B R B A IR B A%
RAZESMEMER  OFEERTER
ARBEVEBE N ERETTAIFER - —T=
FHREEEFMEELRFEFN 15 - HhRE
BH41E  EAFAUIIE: — S -_=FESK
HEHF137 - HREAF1E - ERHE121E
WAEFT T 1 BREGEMBE TCREERIBA
BRI SRIRAE « 24 TCREEN R AR
IERRETMZEX T E R Z 8/ ESEE N
SRR E)CGEEE MRS EPC TRE BT
HE)E BT -

i

=

[1l Bo

S5

SRISFFERE R AR A



8

/CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE

FUTURE PLANS

Adhering to our new development vision of “prioritizing quality and
efficiency”, the Group has always upheld technology research, development
and innovation as its strategic support for business operation. On the basis
of strengthening technology research and development, we have accelerated
the formation of our innovative chain from theory study, experimental
development to practical application, striving to transform the research
results into production capability so as to consolidate our leading position in
the new material industry.

Du Peng
Chairman

22 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREW N D

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group carries out research and development on, and manufactures and
sells ITO film, Smart Polymer-Dispersed Liquid Crystals (“PDLC”) products,
LED Display and Projection System. The Group uses ITO film as one of the
main materials for the development of downstream products, namely: (i)
PDLC film (i.e. Smart Light-adjusting Film); (ii) electronically switchable
glass (i.e. Smart Light-adjusting Glass); and (iii) LED Display and Projection
System. The Group is one of the few integrated manufacturers in the PRC
which produces and sells ITO film as well as a range of related downstream
products.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, The domestic market has begun to
recover slightly, but the pace is still slow. We recorded an increase in both
revenue and gross profit margin as compared to the same period 2022.

ITO film can be applied for use in a variety of products including smart
phones, GPS systems and other touch-screen devices and equipment such
as automated teller machines. Our ITO film customers are primarily domestic
touch-screen device manufacturers. Revenue from sales of ITO film was
approximately RMB26.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
which represented a decrease of approximately RMB8.8 million or 24.6%,
from approximately RMB35.7 million for the same period in 2022.

Smart PDLC products include Smart Light-adjusting Film and Smart Light-
adjusting Glass. Smart Light-adjusting Film can be switched from a milky,
cloudy, translucent and opaque state into a colourless and transparent state
when electricity is applied to it, and may be applied to windows and glass
to control the passing-through of light. Smart Light-adjusting Glass permits
a user to control the permeability of light through the glass by adjusting the
voltage of electricity voltage applied to the Smart Light-adjusting Film fixed
therein. Our Smart PDLC products customers are primarily construction
companies and contractors of developers. Revenue from sales of Smart
PDLC products was approximately RMB48.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, which represented an increase of approximately RMB13.5
million or 38.1%, from approximately RMB35.4 million for the same period in
2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREW N DA

LED Display and Projection System has excellent brightness and energy-
saving characteristics. Such display and projection screens are manufactured
using Smart PDLC Products which can change from opaque for projection to
transparent when switching the power source applied to it. Our LED Display
and Projection System customers are commercial users, primarily media
companies and transportation equipment companies. Revenue from sales
of LED Display and Projection System was approximately RMB258,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023, which represented an increase of
RMB227,000 or 7.3 times compared to the same period in 2022.

Others include sales of other materials and products. The revenue from other
products was approximately RMB9.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, which represented an increase of approximately RMB2.3 million, from
approximately RMB6.9 million for the same period in 2022.

Our Group strives to manufacture and supply high quality products to our
customers, and our Directors believe that our Group is a reputable supplier
of ITO film and related downstream products in the PRC. Our key operating
subsidiary was ranked as the leading manufacturer of Smart Light-adjusting
Products in the PRC in terms of market share by revenue. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, our revenue has increased by approximately 9.3%
as compared to the same period in 2022. We recorded a loss attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company of approximately RMB39.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, as compared with the loss attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company of approximately RMB13.1 million
for same period in 2022. The loss for the year was mainly resulted from the
impairment loss of part of the long aged trade receivables. As the overall
business sentiment had yet to recover, trade receivables due from certain

customers became overdue.

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERW RO

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Our Directors believe that, as a market participant which is active in the
technology sector, it is crucial for the business of our Group to devote
substantial resources towards research and development (including
identifying new materials and applications) which will advance or sustain its
competitiveness in light of evolving market trends and customer preferences
and needs. Further, our Directors believe that our Group’s current market
leading positions in the PRC by market share relating to its ITO film and
Smart PDLC products is testimonial of sufficient market demand for its
products. In response to the rapidly changing market conditions of the Smart
PDLC products, our Group has been diversifying our product range.

Looking into the future, we believe that the competition remains keen in the
domestic market. While we are diversifying our business in response to the
challenges, our Group will remain cautious in expanding our production lines
and carrying out research and development projects to cater the expected
demand in the future. In the meantime, our Directors will closely monitor
the economic change, maintain a prudent and stable strategy and react
proactively to the challenges and opportunities ahead.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Our revenue was approximately RMB85.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, which represented an increase of approximately RMB7.3
million, or 9.3% from approximately RMB78.1 million for the same period in
2022. The increase was mainly attributable to the increase of sales volume of
smart PDLC products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREW N DA

Cost of sales and gross profit

Our cost of sales was approximately RMB62.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, which represented a decrease of approximately RMB3.3
million or 5.0%, from approximately RMB66.2 million for the same period
in 2022. The decrease in cost of sales mainly reflected the increase in the
production capacity during the year.

Our gross profit increased by approximately RMB10.6 million or 89.1%, from
approximately RMB11.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB22.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Our
gross profit margin increased from approximately 15.2% for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately 26.3% for the same period in 2023.
The increase was mainly due to the increase in production capacity utilization
of various products, the shared costs decreased year-on-year, resulting in an
increase in gross profit margin.

Selling and distribution expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses were approximately RMB4.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, which was approximately the same for
the same period in 2022. These expenses mainly included remuneration for
sales and marketing employees based on sales performances and expenses
relating to the marketing efforts in business promotion and participation in
exhibitions. The selling and distribution expenses was approximately 5.7%
of the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023, as compared to
approximately 6.3% for the same period in 2022.

Administrative expenses

Our administration expenses were approximately RMB21.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, which represented a decrease of
approximately RMB1.4 million or 6.2%, from approximately RMB22.7 million
for the same period in 2022. These expenses mainly included employee
wages and salaries, depreciation and research costs. The administrative
expenses was approximately 24.9% of the revenue for the year ended 31
December 2023, as compared to approximately 29.0% for the same period
in 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREW N D

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

Our primary use of cash is to satisfy our working capital and capital
expenditure needs. Historically, our Group’s use of cash has mainly been
financed through a combination of cash received from the sales of our
products and financial support from our Group’s related parties.

As at 31 December 2023, our Group had short term borrowings of RMB11.8
million and long term borrowings of RMB18.0 million. Going forward, we
believe our liquidity requirements will be satisfied using a combination of
cash generated from operating activities, bank borrowings and proceeds from
the Listing. Our Directors believe that in the long term, our Group’s operation
will be funded by internally generated cash flows and, if necessary, additional
equity and/or debt financing.

Capital expenditure

For the year ended 31 December 2023, our capital expenditure amounted to
approximately RMB8.0 million (2022: approximately RMB10.6 million) and
mainly arose from expenditures for purchase of production machinery.

Gearing ratio

Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total liabilities by total equity
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company at the end of the reporting
period. As at 31 December 2023, our gearing ratio remained stable at
approximately 54.9% (31 December 2022: approximately 54.7%).

Future plans for material investments or capital assets

Apart from those disclosed in this annual report, there was no plan authorised
by the Board for other material investments or additions of capital assets at
the date of this annual report.

Significant investments, acquisitions and disposals

The Group did not make any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associated companies and joint ventures as well as any significant
investments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREW N DA

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital commitments amounting
to approximately RMB4.5 million (2022: approximately RMB4.5 million) in
respect of equity investments.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities
(2022: Nil).

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had pledged deposits of RMB28,000
(2022: Nil).

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group has recognised RMB45.21 million as impairment losses charged
on overdue trade receivables during the year ended 31 December 2023,
where most of the outstanding balances have an ageing of over three
years. The Group engaged an independent professional qualified valuer
(the “Valuer”) to carry out a valuation of the recoverable amount of trade
receivables as at 31 December 2023 (“Valuation Date”).

Circumstances leading to the recognition of the impairment
loss

The Group understands that its customers and their repayment ability have
been affected by the adverse business environment and the slow recovery
of the economy. The customers of these trade receivables consist of various
customers with long aging. The Group has been following up the status to
understand the latest development of such customers. As at the date of this
announcement, the subsequent cash settlements of the trade receivables
with ageing of over three years amounted to approximately RMB200,000, the
remaining of which the management of the Group considered unlikely to be

recoverable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREW N D

Value of inputs used or key assumptions adopted in the
impairment valuation

With reference to the valuation, the Group carried out an assessment on the
recoverable amount of trade receivables and estimated the amount of the
expected credit loss (the “ECL”) of trade receivables.

The valuation of trade receivables considered ECL method, in which the ECL
is based on the assessments considering exposure at default, probability of
default, and expected recovery rates from default, adjusted with forward-
looking factor.

The key assumptions and inputs adopted in the estimation of the amount of
the ECL of trade receivables valuation are as follow:

(i) Estimation of exposure at default: For trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group adopted simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.

(i) Estimation of probability of default: The forecasted probabilities
of default of trade receivables as at Valuation Date were based
on historical default rates, which were collected from Moody’s
default study, and forward-looking factor, which was based on
regression analysis. Regression input includes GDP growth rate and

unemployment rate.

(iii)  Estimation of expected recovery rate: All trade receivables with ageing
of over three years are assumed to be fully impaired. Since the
customers have outstanding debts which for certain period of time, the
recovery probability from these customers is questionable.
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BEREW N DA

The Valuer is of the opinion that the recoverable amount of overdue trade
receivables of the Group with ageing of over 3 years as at the Valuation Date
is nil. The ECL was provided with reference to the valuation results conducted
by the Valuer. The Group believed that the above-mentioned valuation
basis, value of inputs used and key assumptions applied by the Valuer
were consistent with the current market trends and conditions. Accordingly,
allowance for expected credit losses for trade receivables has been made to
the Group’s audited consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Valuation Method and Reason for its Adoption

The Group’s impairment assessment policy on trade receivables was set
out in note 2.3 to the consolidated financial statements of the Company as
included in the 2023 Annual Report.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and has
applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance
at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding balances or
credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECLs on these items by using a
provision matrix, grouped by past due status.

In completing the valuation, reference was made to generally accepted
approaches to the valuation of trade receivables, as well as IFIRS 9 in relation
to the disclosure and presentation, recognition and measurement of financial

instruments.

Based on the valuation report, the Valuer adopted expected loss method
for the assessment of ECL which is commonly used in measuring the ECL
of trade receivables. The Valuer estimated the ECL as the product of three
factors: (i) exposure at default; (ii) forecasted probability of default; and (iii)
loss given default, if applicable. Recoverable amount of trade receivables is
estimated as its exposure of default less the ECL.

With reference to the valuation results, allowance for credit losses for trade
receivables of approximately RMB45,212,000 was recognised during the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERW RO

Having considered the above, the Directors are of the view that such
provisions of impairment were fair and reasonable, and were in line with the
prevailing accounting standards.

Actions to recover the trade receivables

While each case may have unique circumstances, the Company generally
follows a series of steps to recover outstanding payments. Set out below are
the usual actions undertaken by the Company:

Analysis and Communication
Reminder Notices

Payment Negotiation

Legal Actions

o K~ W=

Debt Recovery Agencies

It is important to note that the specific actions taken may vary depending on
the nature of the debt, the debtor’s financial condition, legal considerations
and also cost implications in recovering the debts. The Group’s priority is to
maintain open lines of communication, explore mutually beneficial solutions,
and ensure fair treatment of all parties involved.

By following these usual actions, the Group aims to maximise the chances
of recovering trade receivables while preserving relationships with our valued
clients. Our dedicated team remains committed to resolving outstanding
balances promptly and efficiently.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Shares of the Company were listed on GEM on 21 July 2017 (the “Listing
Date”) with net proceeds received by the Company from the Share Offer in
the amount of HK$93,500,000 after deducting underwriting commission and
all related listing expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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An analysis of the utilization of the net proceeds from the Listing Date up to

31 December 2023 is set out below:

Business Strategy

L3R

Overseas business expansion

INETS IR

Research and development of new
materials and products

HRT R AT EE S A 8

Purchase of machinery and equipment
for production of anti-ambient screen

BEAREERRLEREEN
Hes Kk

Enhancement to wide ITO film
BILEITOBERE

Sales and marketing effects in the PRC
RABEMHEREHTE

Project for full automation of production
line for Smart Light-adjusting Products
B ArEME B PEERER

Establishment and mass production of
domestic laser home cinema systems
By Lkt ERNERES R RZ5

Installation of extra-wide Production line
for Smart Light-adjusting Products
LREEARENBREEES

Installation of fully automated production
line for pressing of glass
CEREINLEBEEELS

Working capital
HEES

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Planned use of
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as stated in the
Prospectus up to
31 December 2023
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—g==
+=A=+—-H
FiesIEFE
ERERER
HK$ million
BEAT

9.8
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Annual Report 2023

Actual balances
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31 December 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREW N D

The business strategies as set out in the Prospectus were based on the best
estimation of the future market conditions made by the Group at the time of
preparing the Prospectus. The use of proceeds was applied in accordance
with the actual development of the market.

As at 31 December 2023, approximately HK$77.7 million out of the net
proceeds from the Share Offer had been used. The unused net proceeds
have been deposited in licensed banks.

The Company intends to apply the net proceeds in the manner consistent
with that set out in the Prospectus. However, the actual use of proceeds
was lower than planned use of proceeds because of the delay in automation
and installation of production lines. Moreover, while the domestic market
has begun to recover, the pace remains to be slow. It is the priority of the
Group to maintain a healthy financial position and conduct its operations in
a prudent and stable manner so as to maintain viability and sustainability.
It is therefore the business strategy of the Group to slow down the Group’s
business plans so as to mitigate short term risks and fluctuations faced by the
Group. In response to the rapidly changing business environment, it has also
taken more time than expected to look for suitable machinery and equipment
producers which could meet our production requirements. Hence, the
timeline for utilizing net proceeds allocated for installation of production
lines has been postponed accordingly. The Directors will constantly evaluate
the Group’s business strategies and may change or modify plans against
the changing market condition to attain sustainable business growth of the
Group.

DIVIDEND

The Directors did not recommend a final dividend (2022: Nil). The actual
dividend payout ratio in each year will depend on the actual performance of
the Group, the general industry and economic environment.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

OVERVIEW

=
e

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) recognises the importance of EFEESEHIBLERITERANMERMALRE
incorporating elements of good corporate governance in the management B EEBERBNMATIEHREFHEZ S - LA =
structures and internal control procedures of the Group so as to achieve HAEZEES - EERAE  ARAREZE
effective accountability. The Directors consider that the Company has applied =+ A=t+—HLEFERESE ZISAt‘:
the principles and complied with all the applicable code provisions set out in B ([#EREEAR ) B ER GEM AR BB 8% C1
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as 2 hEESRTA(EEE AT &
set out in Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules during the year ended 31 2 RB R ESFE RS 2 A EATRNE
December 2023 and up to the date of this report (the “Relevant Period”), WX E23E [F 8 RITHABE | —&npTit=r
except for the deviation from paragraph C.2.1 of the Code as described below A2 C.2. 1 BB IR BERR N ©

in the section “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” on page 23.

This corporate governance report (“Corporate Governance Report”) is REEERBE ([EERMRE D BARR
to outline the major principles of the Company’s corporate governance. AIREEANEZREA o WAQRRERE AR

Shareholders of the Company are encouraged to make their views known AIEHEREIRAEMERE - JERRAE
to the Group if they have issues with the Company’s corporate governance ERLES  rUlEERESe R (X
and to directly raise any matters of concern to the chairman of the Board B REERZEENEIE -

(“Chairman”).

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Board or Board NTEREHEEESSESTSRESEH D

Committees in corporate governance function during the Relevant Period: FE R PTHERN TIER4

(@)  develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate (a) HIERBEANRABEEEANBER
governance; A=

(b) review and monitor the training and continuous professional (b) BERLEEFAEBEERSHEEEN
development of the Directors and senior management of the Group; Bl R EEEERE

(c) review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on () BRREEAQNRTETAEMEE

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; KA ERIBR RMOE

(d)  review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to employees and (d) BEKEEEANREINESZMITALE
the Directors; and Al Ak

(e)  review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in () BREEEAMERAARIBEELRST
the corporate governance report. AR & RIEEER o
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CODE OF CONDUCT FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and all
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions
adopted by the Company during the Relevant Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

During the Relevant Period, the composition of the Board is as follows:
Executive Directors

Mr. Du Peng (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Chao (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhu Xuping
(appointed on 17 October 2023)
Mr. Nie Yuanzhou
(resigned on 17 October 2023)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Zhou Qing

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Pan Jianli

Mr. Pan Jianguo
Dr. Li Ling
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, four Board meetings and one

general meeting were held and the attendance of each director is set out as

follows:

BHE-_ZT-_=F+-"fA=1+—HItFE X&

BEHBTUREFEEE

—RBRBFERE

NEBEREZHEEREIIET

Attendance
HE
Board meetings General meeting
Name of Directors EEgs EXxgEs BREXE
Executive Directors BWITES
Mr. Du Peng MBS E 4/4 1/1
Mr. Zhang Chao SRERSCAE 4/4 0/1
Mr. Zhu Xuping KEFEE(RZZ_=F 1/4 N/A
(appointed on 17 October 2023) +A+tREZE) i
Mr. Nie Yuanzhou EEMNEE(RZE_=F 3/4 0/1
(resigned on 17 October 2023) +ATtEHEE)
Non-executive Director EHITES
Mr. Zhou Qing (appointed on 11 April 2022) ASEE(RZEZZF 4/4 0/1
MA+—REZE)
Mr. Liu Hongwei (resigned on 11 April 2022) B (N -—F N/A N/A
mA+—HEHE) TE A TiE A
Independent Non-executive Directors BIHERITES
Ms. Pan Jianli EEBLT 4/4 0/1
Mr. Pan Jianguo EEEEAE 4/4 1/1
Dr. Li Ling ES e 4/4 1/1

During the Relevant Period, the Board has complied with the requirements

of the GEM Listing Rules to have at least three independent non-executive

Directors who represent more than one-third of the Board and with at least

one of whom possesses appropriate professional qualifications or accounting

or related financial management expertise pursuant to Rule 5.05 of the GEM

Listing Rules.
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EBAES

The Board has received from each independent non-executive Director
(“INED”) a written annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 5.09 and 5.10 of the GEM Listing Rules, and the nomination
committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) has assessed
the independence of each INED and the Company considers that each of
them are independent in compliance with 5.05(1) and 5.05(2) and 5.05A
of the GEM Listing Rules as at the date of this report. Each INED will inform
the Company in writing as soon as practicable if there is any change of
circumstances which may affect his independence. The Directors do not
have financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships with
each other.

After annual assessment by the Nomination Committee, the Board considers
the current structure, size and composition of the Board is performing a
balanced and independent monitoring function on management practices
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy. The Directors and their
biographical details as at the date of this report are set out on pages 39 to 44
of this report.

The Group has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board and such mechanisms will be reviewed
annually by the Board:

o At least one-third of the Board are independent non-executive directors
in compliance with the Listing Rules requirements, and the Company
will assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors on at least an annual basis.

o The Nomination Committee will assess the independence of a
candidate who is nominated to be a new independent non-executive
Director before appointment and the continued independence of
the current longserving independent non-executive Directors on an
annual basis. All independent non-executive Directors are required to
submit a written confirmation to the Company annually to confirm the
independence of each of them and their immediate family members,
and their compliance with the requirements as set out in the Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.

o All Directors and committees of the Board are entitled to retain
independent professional advisors as and when it is required.
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° All Directors are encouraged to express their views in an open and
candid manner during the Board/Board committee meetings.

° The Chairman of the Board will meet with the independent non-
executive Directors at least annually without the presence of the
executive Directors.

. A Director (including the independent non-executive Directors) who
has material interest in any contract, transaction or arrangement shall
abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum on any Board
resolution approving the same.

° No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements will
generally be granted to independent non-executive Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by Mr. Du Peng
and Mr. Zhang Chao, respectively. The Chairman of the Board is responsible
for leading the Board, and facilitating the business of the Board. The
Chairman is also required to ensure that the principles of good corporate
governance and processes of Board meetings are maintained. The Chief
Executive Officer is responsible to lead executive management of the Group
within the limits of delegated authorities. The Chief Executive Officer commits
to take overall responsibilities for the supervision and the conducts of the
Company’s business and its ordinary operation, in accordance with the
policies, strategies and objectives established by the Group.

With effect from 25 January 2021, Mr. Zhang Chao has been appointed
as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The Company is aware of
the requirement under paragraph C.2.1 of the CG Code that the roles of
chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separated and should not
be performed by the same individual. Nevertheless, the Board considered
that the combination of the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
will not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and
the management of the Company as the Company has built up a structure
of the Board and has developed a set of procedural rules for the meeting
of the Board to consider major matters affecting the operations of the
Group. The Board is of the view that this structure provided the Group with
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strong and consistent leadership, which can facilitate the formulation and
implementation of its strategies and decisions and enable it to grasp business
opportunities and react to changes efficiently. Moreover, the Board considers
that the sufficient measures have been taken and it will not impair the
balance of power and authority between the Board and the management. As
such, it is beneficial to the business prospects of the Group. Therefore, Mr.
Zhang Chao had performed the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer. With effect from 13 July 2023, Mr. Zhang Chao resigned as Chairman
and Mr. Du Peng has been appointed as Chairman. The Company is in
compliance with Code Provision C.2.1 of the Code as the roles of chairman
and Chief Executive Officer are separated and not performed by the same
individual.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The current Bye-laws provide that at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation and that
every director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office until the first general meeting after his/her appointment and
be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the
Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-election.

All of the non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors
are appointed for a specific term but they are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with
the Byelaws. The term of appointment of each Independent Non-Executive
Director has been set out in the section headed “Directors’ Service Contracts”
of this report. Each independent non-executive Director is required to inform
the Company as soon as practicable if there is any change that may affect his
independence and must provide an annual confirmation of his independence
to the Company. Up to the date of this report, no independent non-executive
Director has served the Company more than 9 years.
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DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES BETWEEN THE
BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

While the Board is responsible for directing and approving the Group’s overall
strategies, the Group also has formed management teams in its business
areas, comprising both the executive Directors and senior officers of the
Group, with authority and responsibility for developing and exercising both
operational and non-operational duties. The management team members of
the Group have a wide range of skills, knowledge and experience necessary
to govern the Group’s operations. All management team members are
required to report directly to the Chairman on a regular basis to report
business performance and operational and functional issues of the Group.

This will allow the Group’s management to allocate resources more efficiently
for its decision-making and facilitate its daily operations. The Board and
the Group’s management fully appreciate their respective roles and are
committed to corporate governance. The Board is responsible for overseeing
the processes by which the management identifies business opportunities
and risks. The Board’s role is not to manage the day-to-day business
operations of the Group and the responsibility of which remains vested in the
management.

The Board has set up formal procedures for the Board’s decisions. Matters
which the Board considers suitable for delegation to its committees
are contained in the specific terms of reference of its committees. The
terms of reference clearly define the powers and responsibilities of the
Board Committees. In addition, the Board will receive reports and/or
recommendations from time to time from the Board Committees on any
matter significant to the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 21 July 2017 in
compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules. Among other things,
the primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
Company'’s financial reporting process, internal control system and risk
management system and to provide advice and recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditors.
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The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Pan Jianli, Mr. Pan Jianguo and Dr. Li Ling. Ms. Pan Jianli is the
chairperson of the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, four meetings of the Audit
Committee were held to review the Group’s quarterly, interim and annual
financial results. One of the meetings were attended by the Company’s
external auditor so that the members of the Audit Committee could exchange
their views and concerns on the financial reporting process of the Group with
the auditor.
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BBzt  ERREAERFREL KRB
LEIRBHRZEBEER -

BEZ_=-F+-_A=1+—RLFE FX
ZEBEEHETHRER  BHAKRENFE
FFEERFEMBGERE - ARRINEZEEICD
HEEP—REH  BEREZEGKE TEZZ
AR BN B HREREZIRERAEAE

ﬂo

No. of Audit Committee
Meetings attended/held
BZES

Name of Directors EElE ERHE BT 75@5[
Ms. Pan Jianli (Chairperson) BEBXLT(LE) 4/4
Mr. Pan Jianguo EERSA 4/4
Dr. Li Ling TEREL 4/4
The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and practices ERZE S0 BHASEMRAMEETRA R

adopted by the Group and discussed the financial reporting matters
with senior management and the auditors of the Company relating to the
preparation of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023. This report has been reviewed by
the Audit Committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation of such
results complied with the applicable accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and that adequate disclosure has been made.

The Audit Committee has also reviewed the effectiveness of internal controls
and risk management for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such review
covered financial, operational and compliance controls and risk assessment
of the Group. The Board was satisfied that the effectiveness of the internal
controls of the Group had been properly reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FHINEET

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee on 21 July ARNRERZT—tFE A= +— B FH M

2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.34 and ZEg  WERGEM FTRAIF534%5.35
5.35 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Remuneration GHETEEEBESE - THEEESN 2R
Committee are, among other things, to make recommendations to the Board ER(EPEE I BEAEE2EBEE AR
on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors and EREFENEETHBRAEBRESSIR
senior management of our Group; review and approve the management’s LHEER  EHMUETEENT RS

remuneration proposals and benefits; and to ensure none of our Directors BRWHERTEESBTETHE - HFHE

determine their own remuneration. The remuneration of our Directors will be Be % iR B B 5 5 ARE (RS BN S i (B K
regularly monitored by our remuneration committee to ensure that the level of TEEE -

remuneration and compensation is appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three independent non-executive HNEE SR = RBUIFNITESHENK - BVE
Directors, namely, Mr. Pan Jianguo, Ms. Pan Jianli and Dr. Li Ling. Mr. Pan ERLA BEBRIETREL  BERL
Jianguo is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. HRFMNEESER -

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee BEZZ-=F+"RA=1T—HLLFE - &
held a meeting to approve the remuneration packages and performance ZERRIT-REE KRNI TWEERE kA S
bonuses for the Directors and senior management of the Company for BEENSREEEZREALTEHESEZE
recommendation to the Board after reviewing of the remuneration policy RIRIAE  HEARARBEENEREEE 2 H
and structure of the Directors and senior management of the Group and B E RFRIREAL - MESSEDHEBER °
assessment of individual performance of each.

The R tion C ittee is tasked t i d/i tt L o . o~ P
e Remuneration Committee is tasked to review and/or approve matters SHEEea S SRS GEM LiiEaE3E

et RSB RRMET B EE - HIHE
Bt AEENFMBRRES - 21E(E
ARBFHE - AARRHNEZRHNESIEER
AT B HE - NREBMB MR RKRA
FA - HNE B EREERE TR 2R
K FERAE o

relating to share schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the remuneration policy and
package of the Group, including an assessment of individual performance,
attractiveness of the rewards offered by the Company, talent retention and
incentivization, the financial condition and performance of the Group. No
share awards and share options were recommended to be awarded by the
Remuneration Committee during the year.

No. of
Remuneration Committee
Meetings attended/held

HFNESE
Name of Directors EElE SRR BITRE
Mr. Jianguo (Chairman) EEBSE(FE) 11
Ms. Pan Jianli EEBLLT 1/1
Dr. Li Ling ESSi e 1/1
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 21 July 2017
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.36A of the GEM
Listing Rules. The primary function of the nomination committee is to
make recommendations to the Board and senior management regarding
appointment of Directors and candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and
senior management team review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and succession planning for directors to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and refreshment of the composition of the Board.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy which sets out the approach
to achieve diversity on the Board. Accordingly, selection of candidates to the
Board is based on a range of measurable objectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience
and qualifications, skills, knowledge and length of service, having due regard
to the Company’s own business model and specific needs from time to time.
With the existing Board members coming from a variety of business and
professional background, the Company considers that the Board possesses
a balance of skills, experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

Nomination procedures include identification and acknowledgment of
qualified individuals by the Nomination Committee and review and approval
of such nomination by the Board. The selection criteria for Directors are
that the candidates must have substantial experience in business relevant
to the Company, or in corporate management, or in relevant profession and
must be able to contribute effectively to the objectives of the Company. In
identifying suitable candidates for appointment to the Board, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates on merit against objective criteria (such
as professional expertise, relevant experience, personal ethics etc.) and with
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Any committee member
may propose suitable candidates for directorship for discussion and approval
by the Nomination Committee, after which the Board will consider and, if
proper, approve such nomination.
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As at 31 December 2023, there were 5 male Directors and 2 female N_E_=F+_A=+—H EZgHLE
Directors on the Board. The Board had not set any measurable objective EHER 2BLMEFT - FRN G EFSUE
for implementing the diversity policy during the year, as it considered that MEHZ T EBERREEMAIFIE B8R - JhA
the Board is sufficiently diverse in terms of gender and other aspect. The REFERAESEAMRIMEMITENZ T
male to female ratio in the workforce (including senior management) of the ftEERH - AEEETER(BERHRER
Group was approximately 64%:36%, which is consistent with the gender B)8 Bt 45 64%  36% + EAANE B AT
composition in the industry in which the Group operates. The Board has EEITENEREN B - EFHARRTER
not set any numerical targets, plans and timelines set for achieving gender MEREES NE THEMERNZT(EMEER
diversity on its Board and in the workforce. The Board is mindful of the 12 FHEIREER - EE2ZEEEIZITLEOR
objectives for the factors as set out in the diversity policy for assessing the FrE AN ESEEREREABBHNAERED
candidacy of the Board members and will ensure that any successors to the BiZ - WRESSMNEMNETERERS
Board shall follow the diversity policy. Similar considerations will also be in TALBER - g ABEUNZERAR TGS
place to assess the candidacy of the senior management team from time to BRERENREANER - AEBERFHFET
time. The Group is determined to maintain gender diversity and equality in B 2EMNMERZ T LEFE - WRERHRE
terms of the whole workforce, and to procure the senior management team BEEERMRLA EMMRITE - RREET
to achieve gender equality in terms of the gender ratio. The Nomination BERET S RO ERREERESES
Committee will discuss periodically and when necessary, agree on further oAb (BIEERIZ T ME— PRI E 2 B2
measurable objectives and plans for achieving diversity, including gender BEHE - WMESSROEBEZ AR -
diversity, on the Board and recommend them to the Board for adoption.
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The Nomination Committee consists of three members, including one
executive Director, namely, Mr. Du Peng and two independent nonexecutive
Directors, namely, Mr. Pan Jianguo and Dr. Li Ling. Mr. Du Peng is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee held
a meeting to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
concluded that members of the Board have possessed the expertise and
independence to carry out the Board'’s functions and responsibilities.
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No. of
Nomination Committee
Meetings attended/held

REZZEEE
Name of Directors EERE ERMEBITRE
Mr. Du Peng (Chairman) Mk E (FE) 171
(appointed as Chairman on 13 July 2023) (R-Z-=F+A+=HEZTEIFE)
Mr. Zhang Chao (Ex-Chairman) SREBSCHE (T F/E) 0/1
(resigned as Chairman on 13 July 2023) (RZZEZ=F+tA+=HBHEIEF)
Mr. Pan Jianguo EREBSLAE 1/1
Dr. Li Ling TEREL 1/1

SRCCEFERE  hEE=TV AR AR AR
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TRAINING

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure their contribution to the Board B
remains informed and relevant. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
all Directors participated in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by ways of attending training and/or reading materials relevant to
the Company’s business or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

|

RIEREEIETRIAE C.LAMGSTBIMES - Ff
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Attending
professional
briefings/seminars/
conferences
relevant to
directors’ duties,

Reading regulatory regulatory updates
updates and Reading materials and business
materials relating relating to HEEHES
to directors’ duties business and B BERE
HEEEREEN industry BN REBN
EHRERES HETRERR HEmRE
BmrEs fTEmEs WaE EE
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Du Peng HESEE v v v
Mr. Zhang Chao REBKAE v v v
Mr. Zhu Xuping RETEE(RZTZ=F v v v
(appointed on 17 October 2023) +A++LBEEZT)
Mr. Nie Yuanzhou BRNEE(RZBZ=F v v v
(resigned on 17 October 2023) +ATtHET)
Non-executive Director ERITESR
Mr. Zhou Qing BAEEE v v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIEHRTES
Ms. Pan Jianli EEBELL v / v/
Mr. Pan Jianguo EEEEAE v/ v/ v/
Dr. Li Ling FREL v/ v/ v/
Company Secretary ATHE
Mr. Chan Koon Leung, Alexander BERLE v/ v/ v
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Koon Leung, Alexander was appointed as the company secretary of
the Company on 1 May 2022. Please refer to the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this report for his
biographical information.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Chan has confirmed that he
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management provides to the Board explanation, information and regular
updates of the Company’s performance, financial position and prospects to
enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial and other
information put before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities (as set out in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report) for preparing the consolidated financial
statements of the Group that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group. The Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern and the Board has prepared the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis. The responsibility of the
external auditor is to form an independent opinion, based on their audit, on
those consolidated financial statements prepared by the Board and to report
their opinion to the shareholders of the Company. A statement by auditor
about their reporting responsibility is set out in the independent auditor’s
report on pages 67 to 223.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management and internal
control system and reviewing its effectiveness on a periodic basis, at least
annually. The review covers all material controls, including but not limited to
financial, operational, and compliance controls. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the Board assessed and reviewed the risk management
policies and measures and internal control procedures of the Group. The
Group has also engaged external independent professionals to review its risk
management and internal control systems. Our Directors considered them
effective and adequate, and further enhance the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems as appropriate.

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group. The Board has
reviewed the need for an internal audit function and is of the view that in light
of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the Group, it would be
more cost effective to appoint external independent professionals to perform
internal audit functions for the Group as the need arises. Nevertheless, the
Board will continue to review the need for an internal audit function annually.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the fees paid/payable for the
services provided by the Company’s auditor are set out as follows:
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Fees paid/payable

Services rendered FriR AR TS et FEfER
Statutory audit services SEEZERTE RMBS800,000
AR 800,000 7T
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Communication with Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of effective and on-going
communications with Shareholders and continues to act in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders. The Company keeps Shareholders and
investors informed of its business performance and strategies by adopting a
transparent and timely disclosure policy which complies with the GEM Listing
Rules and provides all Shareholders equal access to such information. The
Company also publishes all documents on the Company’s website.

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) also provides a
forum for the Board to dialogue and interact with the Shareholders directly.
The Directors and the committee members are available to answer questions
during the AGM. Notice of AGM, annual report, financial statements and
related papers were posted to Shareholders for their consideration at least 20
clear business days prior to the AGM.

At each general meeting, the chairman of the meeting proposes individual
resolutions in respect of each substantially separate matter. All matters at
the Company’s general meetings are resolved by poll and the procedures for
conducting a poll will be explained at the meeting. Independent scrutineer
will be engaged to ensure all votes at general meeting are properly counted.
Poll vote results will be posted on the websites of the Company and HKEx in

a timely manner.

AGM proceedings and policies regarding Shareholders’ communication of the
Company are continually reviewed in the light of corporate governance best
practices.

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the shareholders of the
Company.
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(b)
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EERHmE

Convening of general meeting on requisition by shareholders

Members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Company’s registered office in
Bermuda at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM11,
Bermuda and its principal office in Hong Kong at Unit 3108, 31/F,
China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong for the attention of the Board or the Secretary
of the Company, to require a special general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within three (3) months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with the provisions
of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a Shareholders’ meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, either any number
of the shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the
total voting rights of all the shareholders of the Company, or not less
than one hundred of such shareholders, can request the Company
in writing to (a) give to shareholders entitled to receive notice of the
next general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate
to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting any
statement of not more than one thousand words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business
to be dealt with at that meeting. The requisition signed by all the
requisitionists must be deposited at the Company’s registered office
in Bermuda at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM11,
Bermuda and its principal office in Hong Kong at Unit 3108, 31/F,
China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong for the attention of the Board on the secretary of
the Company, with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
relevant expenses and not less than six weeks before the meeting in
case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not less than
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one week before the meeting in the case of any other requisition.
Provided that if an annual general meeting is called for a date six
weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the requisition
though not deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have
been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

(c) Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board in writing to
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the enquiries.

Enquiry Contact:
By email: IR@syeamt.com
By post: Unit 3108, 31/F
China Merchants Tower
Shun Tak Centre
168-200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong
Attention: ~ Public Relationship

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy. Under the
policy, the Company should maintain various channels, including general
meetings and the Company’s website, to effectively communicate with
shareholders. The annual general meeting (AGM) is one of the principal
channels of communication with its shareholders. It provides an opportunity
for shareholders to question Directors about the Company’s performance.
The detailed procedures for conducting a poll will be explained at each
general meeting. Registered shareholders are notified by post of the AGM.
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Any registered shareholder is entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, provided
that his/her/its shares have been fully paid up and recorded in the register
of the members of the Company. The Group endeavours to disclose relevant
information on its activities to its shareholders in an open and timely manner,
subject to applicable legal requirements. Communication between the
Company and its shareholders is achieved through: (a) the Company’s annual
and interim reports which have been enhanced to present a balanced, clear
and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s position and prospects; (b)
forum and notices of AGMs and other general meetings and accompanying
explanatory materials; (c) press releases on major development of the Group;
(d) disclosures to the Stock Exchange and relevant regulatory bodies; (e)
response to inquiries from shareholders or media; and (f) the website of
the Company through which the public can access, among other things,
corporate announcements, press releases, annual reports, and general

corporate information of the Group.

The Company has revised the implementation of the shareholders’
communication policy during the year and concluded that such policy being
effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the annual general meeting of the Company to be convened and held on
28 June 2023, the proposed amendments to and adoption of the bye-laws
was approved by the shareholder, so as to (i) bring the bye-laws in alignment
with the Core Shareholder Protection Standards set out in Appendix Al to the
GEM Listing Rules and the applicable laws of Bermuda; and (ii) making other
housekeeping amendments, including consequential amendments.

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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The Directors’ updated information is set out below. Upon specific enquiry by
the Company and confirmations from Directors, save as otherwise set out in
this report, there is no change in the information of the Directors required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules since the
Company’s last published annual report.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. DU Peng (#tH8), aged 41, was appointed as an executive Director of our
Company on 25 January 2021, he has also been appointed as the chairman,
the compliance officer and the chairman of the Nomination Committee of the
Board since 13 July 2023. He is primarily responsible for overall operation
and management of Zhuhai New Materials.

Mr. Du served as a deputy general manager of the operation department of
Zhuhai Huajin Capital Co., Ltd. FR/EZESEARMNBRAF]), a company
the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000532), from September 2018 to November 2020; and the chief financial
officer and secretary to the board of directors of Zhuhai Higrand Technology
Co., Lid. KB ZET R M AR A &)), a company listed in National Equities
Exchange and Quotations in China (2BIF /NN EEZLT) (stock
code: 871447), from April 2015 to August 2018. From July 2007 to April
2015, he served as an accounting supervisor, a financial manager and the
secretary to the board of directors of Zhuhai Lihe Environmental Engineering
Co., Ltd.* CRENERHETIZBERAR)

Mr. Du obtained a bachelor’'s degree in management and a bachelor’s
degree in laws from Jilin University of Finance and Economics (& #REf4& A
&) in 2007; and a master’s degree in business administration from Macau
University of Science and Technology in 2020. He is a Certified Internal
Auditor and a member of the Institute of Internal Auditors and a senior credit
E 12 AM). He holds the qualification certificate for
serving as the secretary to the board of directors issued by Shenzhen Stock

manager (/= & 15 F

Exchange and the qualification certificate for serving as the secretary to the
board of directors issued by National Equities Exchange and Quotations (&
RN EROEZERR)

management and financial management.

. He has extensive experience in operational
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Mr. ZHANG Chao (3R#), aged 51, was appointed as a Director of our
Company on 10 March 2016 and he was re-designated as an Executive
Director of our Company with effect from 21 July 2017. He has been
appointed as the chief executive officer of our Company since 25 January
2021. He is primarily responsible for formulating the overall sales and
marketing strategies and overseeing the development and operations of our
Group.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Qigihar Railway Transportation Employee
University with a bachelor’s degree in July 1995. Mr. Zhang has over 16
years of experience in the curtain wall engineering sector. He was certified
as a cost engineer in October 2001, obtained the qualification of a level one
architect in January 2006 and obtained the level one architect certificate in
December 2007. He has also obtained a patent under his name in relation to
smart photovoltaic controller hubs.

Mr. Zhu Xuping, aged 50, is currently the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, a position he assumed from March 2023. In 2011, Mr. Zhu was an
Accountant at Hunan Singyes Solar Technology Co., Ltd.* (478 2 K5 e R
AR A F]). He was transferred to Hunan Singyes Green Energy Technology
Co., Ltd.* (i B ¥ & B R EHE AR A 7)) in 2014 as an Accounting
Supervisor, responsible for overseeing and managing the company’s financial
work. In October of the same year, he was promoted to Deputy Manager of
the Finance Department, responsible for implementing the company’s various
financial policies and systems. From January 2018 to September 2019,
Mr. Zhu worked as Deputy Manager of the Finance Department at Hunan
Singyes Green Power Technology Co., Ltd.. He was subsequently transferred
to Hunan Singyes Solar Technology Co., Ltd. as the Manager of the Finance
Department and was promoted to Chief Financial Officer of the company
in January 2020. Since September 2021, Mr. Zhu holds a concurrent post
as the Financial Controller of Jiangxi Yaxing Construction Co., Ltd, a direct
majority-owned subsidiary of China Shuifa Singyes Energy Holdings Limited,
a controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Zhu has solid professional
knowledge and extensive work experience in finance.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Zhou Qing (FF), aged 47, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of our Company with effect from 11 April 2022. He is the vice president
of China Shuifa Singyes Energy Holdings Limited (“Shuifa Singyes”), a
controlling shareholder of the Company and the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 750). Mr. Zhou
joined Shuifa Singyes in May 2009 as the deputy manager of the marketing
department and deputy director of operation centre. He served as deputy
general manager of Zhuhai Huatian Electricity and Gas Technology Co.,
Ltd.* FREEXRBREHEAR2QE]) from 2005 to 2009 and manager of the
operation centre of AsiaNet (Zhuhai) Co., Ltd.* (SEREBX (FKE)ER A A])
from 2003 to 2005. From 1998 to 2003, he worked as a technical engineer
(62975322

&]). Mr. Zhou has more than 20 years of experience in power

in the technical department of Zhuhai Hansheng Industrial Co., Ltd.*
s TEERA
engineering and electrical engineering, large-scale photovoltaic and wind
power project operations. Mr. Zhou graduated from Nanchang University
majoring in electricity system and its automation in 1998. He was awarded
the qualification of senior engineer in 2017.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. PAN lJianli (GB3E), aged 46, was appointed as an independent
nonexecutive Director of our Company on 6 December 2019. She is currently
the chairperson of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Board.

Ms. Pan obtained her master’s degree in management from Guanghua
School of Management, Peking University (3t R KE2 N EEIBER) in
the PRC in 2009 and her bachelor’s degree in economics from Shandong
University of Finance and Economics (LUEREF4EAER) in the PRC in 1999.
Ms. Pan is a Senior Accountant (AR & &5HAD) and a member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountant. Ms. Pan has over 20 years of
experience in accounting and financing. Ms. Pan also has been serving as an
executive director of Hospital Corporation of China Limited (whose shares are

listed on the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 03869).

Mr. PAN Jianguo (iB3E), aged 52, was appointed as an independent
nonexecutive Director of our Company on 6 December 2019. He is currently
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and members of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Board.

Mr. Pan has been the general manager of Shanxi Changan Electricity
Construction Company Limited* (BRFER%ZE HEZBRAF) since 2019
and has over 20 experience in business administration. He graduated from
the Northwest Light Industry Institution (Fa1tEE T 2 E£67) (currently known
as Shanxi University of Science & Technology (BRFERHEAER)) in the PRC in
1994.
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Dr. LI Ling (Z¥), aged 63, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of our Company with effect from 21 July 2017. She is currently a
member of the Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee, and Nomination
Committee of the Board.

Dr. Li graduated from Qigihar Institute of Light Industry with a bachelor
degree in synthetic fibre in 1983. She then graduated from Dalian University
of Technology with a master degree in engineering in 1990. She later
graduated from South China University of Technology with a doctoral degree
in high molecular material in 1998. From 1983 to 1987, she worked as a
technician in a chemical research institute in Jixi City in Heilongjiang. From
1990 to 1992, she worked as a lecturer at Qigihar Institute of Light Industry.
From 1992 to 1995, she worked as an engineer in the Zhongshan branch of
China Academy of Science & Technology Development. From 1998 to 2002,
she was an associate research fellow in biomedical engineering research
institute at Jinan University. From 2002 to date, she has been a professor
and researcher in the college of science and engineering at Jinan University.
She has 25 years of experience in the field of material research, she has
obtained 8 technology patents under her name and written 4 nanotechnology
books.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. WU Qin, aged 40, has been the head of the research and development
department of Zhuhai New Materials since January 2015 and is responsible
for product development and technology innovation management.

She graduated with a bachelor degree in physics from Shandong Normal
University in 2008, and obtained a master of science degree from Hunan
University in 2020, majoring in nano physics and devices, including thin film
materials, thin-film transistor and solar cells. She is familiar with various ways
of vacuum coating and has developed photoelectric thin film material with
high quality and a series of nanometer photoelectron devices. She has joined
Zhuhai New Materials since 2010 and is responsible for the development
and craftsmanship of ITO film, blue film and light-adjusting films. She is
a professional senior engineer specialised in polymer chemistry and has
obtained 5 invention patents and over 20 utility model patents.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Koon Leung, Alexander, aged 47, was appointed as the company
secretary of our Company on 1 May 2022 and is responsible for overall
company secretarial matters of our Group. Mr. Chan graduated from The
University of Southampton with a bachelor’s degree majoring in Accounting
and Finance. Mr. Chan has over 20 years’ experience in capital markets,
financial management, corporate finance, compliance of listing rules and
corporate governance. He is currently a fellow member of Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda under the Companies Act as
an exempted company with limited liability on 14 November 2014. The
registered office of the Company is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The Company has established a place of
business in Hong Kong at Unit 3108, 31/F China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak
Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road, Central, Hong Kong. The Company was
registered under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) on 18 April 2016. Each of Mr. Du Peng and Mr. Chan
Koon Leung, Alexander has been appointed as the authorised representative
of the Company for the acceptance of service of process and notices on
behalf of our Company in Hong Kong. The address for service of process on
the Company in Hong Kong is the same as its principal place of business in
Hong Kong set out above.

As the Company is incorporated in Bermuda, it operates subject to the
Companies Act and to its constitution, which comprises the Memorandum of
Association and the Bye-laws.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group carries out
research and development on, and manufactures and sells ITO film, Smart
PDLC products, LED Display and Projection System. The Group is one of the
few integrated manufacturers in the PRC which produces and sells ITO film
as well as a range of related downstream products. The Group principally
operated in Mainland China.

Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 December
2023.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the company for the year ended 31 December
2023 has been set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this report. Discussions and information therein forms part of this
Report of the Directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s result for the year ended 31 December 2023 and its financial
position as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements
on page 77 to 80 of this report. And the financial position of the Company
as at 31 December 2023 is set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors did not recommend a final dividend (2022: Nil). The actual
dividend payout ratio in each year will depend on the actual performance of
the Group, the general industry and economic environment.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2023 are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 81 of this report and in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserve available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the applicable law of
Bermuda, was approximately RMB11,583,000.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last 5 financial years is set out on page 224 of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s customers consist of domestic touch-screen device
manufacturers, construction companies, contractors of developers, and
commercial users. For the year ended 31 December 2023, sales to
the Group’s top five customers and its largest customer accounted for
approximately 40% and 14% of total revenue, respectively.

The Group procures a majority of the raw materials from third party suppliers
based in the PRC who are agents of overseas manufacturers, and procure
certain raw materials (including ITO target, protective film, PDLC and
projectors) from PRC manufacturers. For the year ended 31 December
2023, purchases from the Group’s top five suppliers and its largest supplier
accounted for approximately 43% and 15% of total purchases, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors, their close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules), or any of the shareholders
of the Company (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Du Peng (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Chao
Mr. Zhu Xuping
(appointed on 17 October 2023)
Mr. Nie Yuanzhou
(resigned on 17 October 2023)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Zhou Qing

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Pan Jianli
Mr. Pan Jianguo
Dr. Li Ling

Mr. Nie Yuanzhou resigned due to their other business commitments. In
accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Company’s bye-laws, Mr. Zhang Chao,
Ms. Pan Jianli and Mr. Zhu Xuping will retire by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-elections.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Zhang Chao, an executive Director, has entered into a service contract
with the Company commencing from 23 June 2017 for a term of three
years unless terminated in accordance with the terms therein. The service
contract has been renewed for another three years upon its expiration
as recommended by the Nomination Committee and approved by the
Board. Under the terms of the service contract, the service contract may
be terminated by not less than one month prior written notice or otherwise
served by either party on the other.

Mr. Du Peng, the executive Directors, have signed entered into a service
contract with the Company commencing from 25 January 2021 for a term
of three years unless terminated in accordance with the terms therein. The
service contract has been renewed for another three years upon its expiration
as recommended by the Nomination Committee and approved by the
Board. Under the terms of the service contracts, the service contracts may
be terminated by not less than one month prior written notice or otherwise
served by either party on the other.

Mr. Zhu Xuping, the executive Director, has signed a letter of appointment
with the Company for a term of three years commencing 17 October 2023.
Under the terms of the letter of appointment, the appointment may be
terminated by not less than three months’ prior written notice or otherwise
served by either party on the other.

Mr. Zhou Qing, a non-executive Director, has signed a letter of appointment
with the Company for a term of three years commencing 11 April 2022. The
service contract has been renewed for another three years upon its expiration
as recommended by the Nomination Committee and approved by the
Board. Under the terms of the letter of appointment, the appointment may
be terminated by not less than one months’ prior written notice or otherwise
served by either party on the other.

Ms. Pan Jianli, an independent non-executive Director, has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing 6
December 2019. The service contract has been renewed for another three
years upon its expiration as recommended by the Nomination Committee
and approved by the Board. Under the terms of the letter of appointment, the
appointment may be terminated by not less than one month’s prior written
notice or otherwise served by either party on the other.
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Mr. Pan Jianguo, an independent non-executive Director, has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing 6
December 2019. The service contract has been renewed for another three
years upon its expiration as recommended by the Nomination Committee
and approved by the Board. Under the terms of the letter of appointment, the
appointment may be terminated by not less than one month’s prior written
notice or otherwise served by either party on the other.

Dr. Li Ling, an independent non-executive Director, has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing 21 July
2017. The appointment letter has been renewed for another three years upon
its expiration as recommended by the Nomination Committee and approved
by the Board. Under the terms of the letter of appointment, the appointment
may be terminated by not less than two months’ prior written notice or
otherwise served by either party on the other.

The term of service of a Director is subject to the provisions on retirement
by rotation of Directors as set out in the Bye-laws. None of our Directors
has entered into a service contract with any member of the Group
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting which
is not determinable by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements. The emoluments paid to senior management (excluding
the Directors) during the year ended 31 December 2023 were within the
following bands:

Bands #ilE

BYERTERERR AL BARARRE
F - B2 NAF T ARNBRRHP=F -
KIRAZESHBEMNEEZGIER - RIEA
WERERRBBEO=F BREBEZERZK
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BYFRTEFFRIBIDEARREIZME
B BTt FEA- T BRERH=5F-
RREZESHBRESSHAER  REXE
REREBBEO=F - RERBEAH 2GR
RFEAAEBE—TAR—TERTIRM
EAzEREmMBAREMIT T LALLE -

B/ EHRANMBAERERRERTZIK
XATRR - EEENEERRBFRAELE
B EEEAEEEAK B R RR MRS
AR ETEERIATR-—FAIINEE
OEERBERIN MR LZBEL -

BREEHH 2 FBRRYFIRERMES - &
E-T-=F+-A=+—ALFE BXf
BREEAB (BERRIN) ZHMN FUATEH

= .
s :

Number of
Senior Management
EREEASHE

RMB100,001 to RMB1,000,000
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 17 October 2017, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”). Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may,
at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it may think fit, grant Share
Options to the any Eligible Person (who is (i)(a) any director or proposed
director (whether executive or non-executive, including any independent
non-executive director), employee or proposed employee (whether full time
or part time) of, or (b) any individual for the time being seconded to work for,
any member of the Group or any substantial shareholder or any company
controlled by a substantial shareholder (a “Category A Eligible Person”);
or (ii) any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support or any advisory, consultancy, professional or other
services to any member of the Group (a “Category B Eligible Person”) and,
for the purposes of the Share Option Scheme, shall include any company
controlled by one or more persons belonging to any of the above classes
of participants, collectively the “Eligible Person”) to subscribe at a price
calculated in accordance with the Share Option Scheme for such number of
Shares as it may determine in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme.

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant
Share Options to the selected Eligible Persons as incentives or rewards for
their contribution or potential contribution to the growth and development of
the Group.

Total number of Shares available under the Share Option
Scheme

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all
share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total issued share capital of the Company as at 17 October 2017 (i.e.
52,000,000 shares, representing approximately 10% of the shares as at
the date of this report), being the date on which the Share Option Scheme
is adopted unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from shareholders
to refresh the 10% limit on the basis that the maximum number of shares
in respect of which share options maybe granted under the Share Option
Scheme together with any share options outstanding and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes shall
not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to
time.
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On 31 January 2018, options to subscribe for a total of 21,000,000 shares RIZE—\F—A=Z+—0H ' BREZTERDY

with a nominal amount of US$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company T REEAR B AR AR 4858 A 21,000,000 i &

were granted under the Scheme at the exercise price of HK$1.16 per share. IREMEO0.01 €L 2 BEARE - 1T EAER]L.16
PEIT

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a total of 740,000 options (2022: HE T —F+-A=1+—HULEFE &a®

2,690,000) were forfeited due to the resignation of grantees and no options AR ABE - A LU 740,000 B IR HE (=

(2022: Nil) were surrendered by a grantee. As at the date of this Report, T~ 4 1 2,690,000) MAR AR H B

4,360,000 share options has been granted under the Share Option Scheme (D —F: 8)  RAREBH - RBiE

to entitle the holders of these share options to subscribe for a total 4,360,000 HEARAE ST 2 2 4% H 4,360,000 17 & A 0] iR, T

Shares, representing 0.84% of the issued Shares of the Company. HEAR S B A REE 48 45 4,360,000 A A% (7 K1
- BMERRFRIE BTN E)0.84% °

The number of Share Options available for grant under the scheme mandate RZZE—=F—A—BkZZE-_=F+=A
as at 1 January 2023 and the 31 December 2023 were 31,000,000 and =+—R - RERF SR AR AR E R
31,000,000, respectively. B 5 54 31,000,000 K 31,000,000 °

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of share options granted AN BAFENARIEFT B T2 D B B iR n]
under all schemes of the Company during the year divided by the weighted BITHINR M BB BR AGF A B 31 TAR (D A9 N
average number of shares in issue for the year is 0.84%. HE50.84%

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 27 to the IBARIERT B 83 — P IB RN R A SR T
consolidated financial statements. FT27

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant EEERLHEATREBNRNEE LR

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise RIBEE R B S AR AT E b B RS A A1 2
of the Share Options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other BTRAEERAT 2 ERE(RIEEEHE -
share option schemes of the Company to any Eligible Person(s) (including EATEE R M AR TIE 2 B AR ) ST (R B 2 37T
cancelled, exercised and outstanding Share Options), in any 12-month period E#TFETZRODAE  REEREEH L
up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue, FA+ZE AR TERBEBETRNOE
unless (i) a circular is despatched to the Shareholders; (ii) the Shareholders B21%  BRIEG() —HBEREFTETRE : (i)
approve the grant of the Share Options in excess of the 1% limit referred to in BB AR E BB ANE Tl 2 1% ER 2 R
this paragraph; and (iii) the relevant Eligible Person and his associates shall o R(i)BEEER AT RHEBE AHEME
abstain from voting. The number and terms (including the exercise price) of WE - BERTFEERATZEBREZZE RIE
Share Options to be granted to such Eligible Person(s) must be fixed before K (BIEITEE) MWARBRREREE -
Shareholders’ approval.
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Time of exercise of option

A Share Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period commencing on such date on
or after the date on which the Share Option is granted as the Board may
determine in granting the Share Options and expiring at the close of business
on such date as the Board may determine in granting the Share Options but
in any event shall not exceed ten (10) years from the date of grant (which
is the date of offer of grant if the offer for the grant of the Share Options is
accepted).

Vesting Period

The Company may specify any vesting period for which a Share Option must
be held before it can be exercised at the time of grant of the Share Option.

Acceptance of offers

An offer for the grant of Share Options must be accepted within thirty (30)
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable
by the grantee of the Share Options to the Company on acceptance of the
offer for the grant of Share Options is HK$1.00.

Exercise price per Share for the exercise of a Share Option

The exercise price per Share payable on the exercise of a Share Option is
to be determined by the Board provided always that it shall be at least the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant (which is deemed
to be the date of Board meeting for approving the grant of Options), which
must be a business day; and (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
(5) business days immediately preceding the date of offer of grant, provided
that the exercise price per Share shall in no event be less than the nominal
amount of the Share.

Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten (10) years
commencing on 17 October 2017, the date on which the Share Option
Scheme is adopted by Shareholders in general meeting, and shall expire at
the close of business on the day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary
thereof unless terminated earlier by Shareholders in general meeting.
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The Company may by resolution in general meeting or the Board may at any
time terminate the Share Option Scheme and in such event no further Share
Option shall be offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall
remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any
Share Option granted prior to the termination or otherwise as may be required
in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme. Share Options
granted prior to such termination at the time of termination shall continue to
be valid and exercisable in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.

The movements of outstanding share options under the Scheme during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

ARBAIEERAS BB ORERIEFTGHE
iR IERERSHERT &) M A M Z R BEBAER
TR ERBEER 8] 2D E R E R
B2 RALHEBRAET SR ILATE R
HZ EABBIENTTE - RIREBRETSZ
{ERSRE < BT EADARBR » LRI
B 2 BB R PT AR IR P A ot B AR R e 1T
&

REE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HBILFEZ:2
TEARITEERE 2 Z8han T

Number of share options
JRiENE

B
Exercise At Granted Exercised Forfeited ~ Surrendered Lapsed At
Category of Exercisable Vesting price per 1 January during the during the during the during the during the December
participants Date of grant period period share 2023 year year year year year - 222;
i = == i ~ =
2EEER fidulzk fries HEY BRITER -A-B  ERERH EhiTR ERRK ENHE EREH =t-8
(HKS) 000 '000 000 ‘000 000 '000 000
(BT) T T T T T T T3
Employees 31/01/2018 31/01/2021- 31/01/2018- 116 500 - - (147) - - 353
\{%iggregate 30/01/2028 30/01/2021
=
fit 31/01/2022- 31/01/2018- 116 500 - - (147) - - 393
300012028 30001/2022
31/01/2023- 31/01/2018- 116 500 - - (146) - - 304
30001/2028 30001/2023
Sub-total
It 1,500 - - (440) - - 1,060
Director
- Zhong Qibo 31/01/2018 31/01/2021- 31/01/2018- 116 33 - - - - - 33
EZ 30001/2028 30001/2021
-HE
31/01/2022- 31/01/2018- 116 33 - - - - - 33
300012028 30001/2022
31/01/2023- 31/01/2018- 116 334 - - - - - 334
30/01/2028 30001/2023
Sub-total
It 1,000 - - - - - 1,000
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Number of share options
fRiEE

Exercise At Granted Exercised Forfeited ~ Surrendered Lapsed At
Category of Exercisable Vesting price per 1 January during the during the during the during the during the December
participants Date of grant period period share 2023 year year year year year r{‘_§_2923
] == ) ‘ =
SEEER EHEH fries GEY BRHE -A-B  £RERH ERITE EREK ERiE ERER =t-8
(HKS) 000 000 000 000 000 000 000
(&) h T3 T T T T 1
Related entity participants (Exceeding 9.1% of the shares in issue in any 12-month period)
RS EE (KT 12 ERHHRAERTRE0.1% HREHE)
- Xie Wen 31/01/2018 31/01/2021- 31/01/2018- 116 333 - - - - - 33
-#X 30001/2028 30001/2021
31/01/2021- 31/01/2018- 116 333 - - - - 333
30001/2028 30001/2021
31/01/2021- 31/01/2018- 116 334 - - - - - 334
30/01/2028 30/01/2021
-Liang Bing Qiang  31/01/2018 31/01/2021- 31/01/2018- 116 23 - - - - - 233
- R 30001/2028 30001/2021
31/01/2021- 31/01/2018- 116 233 - - - - - 233
30001/2028 30001/2021
31/01/2021- 31/01/2018- 116 234 - - - - 234
30001/2028 30001/2021
Sub-total
it 1,700 - - - - - 1,700
Related entity participants (Not exceeding 0.1% of the shares in issue in any 12-month period)
REES HE (£ 12 R HATRATHTRG 0.1% MEKE)
In aggregate 31/01/2018 31/01/2021- 31/01/2018- 116 300 - - (100) - - 200
s 30001/2028 30001/2021
GH
31/01/2022- 31/01/2018- 116 300 - (100) - - 200
30001/2028 30001/2022
31/01/2023- 31/01/2018- 116 300 - - (100) - - 200
30/01/2028 30/01/2023
Sub-total
It 900 - - (300) - - 600
Total
o5 5,100 - - (740) - - 4360
Note: MIE
1. Save as disclosed above, no share options were granted and to be granted to 1. PR EPIREES  BBAHMEE - &
other Directors, chief executive or substantial shareholders of the Company. 1T /\E'-\ sEE %E B¥R z‘f’r@ mEME
£ BReTBAEBRETERTR THERE -
2. No share options were granted and to be granted in excess of the 1% individual 2. BERTRESE THIB 1% @R ENER
limit. 1 o
3. Save as disclosed above, No related entity participant or service provider were 3. b EXFTHETREIN - HEE B2 EE LR

granted or to be granted Share Options exceeding 0.1% of the shares in issue in
any 12-month period.

No participants were granted options in excess of the individual limit pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme.

TR B 121E B R SR T ki
BRTBBC BTN 0.1% HRBAGE

I 22 ELE R AB B AR 81A TMERIRER
BB AR
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as the Directors are aware, the following
persons (other than a director or chief executive of the Company) have or are
deemed or taken to have an interest and/or short position in the Shares or
the underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions
of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQ”) or which were recorded in the register of the Company required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or who is, directly or
indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the
Company or any other members of the Group:

FERRN IR R ARG EHE
mRRE

WZBZ=F+=R=+—H " S%EFHM
ATAL(RRAREEHEZERITERABRIN)
AR D SARRE AR 0 R BB SRR (E B A IR 1B
&7 R BRI ([ &5 R BEE]) XV ED
2R3 0 BRI A M RE A kK
B REFARRRRIEEF LG R F
336 1& AT+ & HY AN 2 ) & ROl A RO 48 2 Bk
B RERARREEHEEN RN EAER
TEARRABHAEBEAEAMKE AR ZRE
RE LEREZEERIBRAEES% A LR
e

Long position in the Shares K eFE
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of shareholders Capacity/Nature of interests Shares held shareholding
BEREZHE S HEsE Ptz 88 BaRE St
(Note 3)
(BI&E3)
China Shuifa Singyes Energy Holdings Beneficial owner 324,324,325 62.37%
Limited (“Shuifa Singyes”) EnBEEA
REDKEEZEREE AR AR
(IkEE@mE )
Water Development (HK) Interest in a controlled 324,324,325 62.37%
Holdings Co Limited corporation (Note 1)
(“Water Development (HK)") e EE R (L)
IREEEE (BE) ZEIRBR AT
(MKBEE(HE)])
Shuifa Group Co., Ltd (“Shuifa Group”) Interest in a controlled 324,324,325 62.37%
KREEEBRAR ([KEEE]) corporation (Note 1)
kB (L)
AMATA Limited Beneficial owner 40,000,000 7.69%
BB A
Mr. Luo Jingxi Interest in a controlled 40,000,000 7.69%
BEFRRLAE corporation (Note 2)
e AE R (FE2)
Kunlun Holdings Group Limited Beneficial owner 26,021,206 5.00%

EmiEREERERAR
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Notes:

Water Development (HK) is the legal and beneficial owner of 1,687,008,585
shares of Shuifa Singyes and has a security interest in 180,755,472 shares
of Shuifa Singyes, representing approximately 66.92% and 7.17% of the
issued share capital in Shuifa Singyes respectively. Water Development (HK)
is beneficially and wholly-owned by Shuifa Group. As such, each of Water
Development (HK) and Shuifa Group is deemed to be interested in the Shares in
which Shuifa Singyes holds under Part XV of the SFO.

AMATA Limited is legally and beneficially owned by Mr. Luo Jingxi, Mr. Hua
Jianjun, Mr. Zhong Qibo and Mr. He Qiangmin as to 39%, 27%, 20% and 14%
respectively. Mr. Luo Jingxi is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
AMATA Limited under Part XV of the SFO.

The percentage is calculated on the basis of 520,000,000 Shares in issue as at
31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, according to the register

of interests required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the

SFO, there was no person or corporation other than the Directors and the

Chief
Chief

Executives whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and
Executives’ interests and short positions in Shares, underlying Shares

and debenture of the Company and its associated corporations” below,

had any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of

the Company that was required to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 or Part XV of the SFO.

1. KBEE(HHB) RKEEE 7 1,687,008,585
Az B ERBERER AW KEEE Y
180,755,472 IRAR A HE B (R FEH - PRk
IKEE R B BITIRAN 2 #166.92% % 7.17% ©
KERE (BB BKBEEEERRE2ER
B o Et - BIEES R EBRBIZEXVE - K
BEE () ROKBEEEHHR AR K E
ERBZROPHEEER -

2. AMATA Limited D RIERZEFRERSEAE ~ EREF %
£ BRURSAERABREESERE S H
B39% * 27% ~ 20% K 14% - IRIFEFEH & H
BIRGIZEXVED - BEFERIE AR AR AMATA
Limited F55 B9 PG #EAs ©

3. ZESDHIRBER_ZE_=F+=-_A=+—
H 2 %77 520,000,000 X A D 5t & ©

B EXHEEEN RZB-_=F+_A
=t+—H  REARFREESRAEGIE
3B EMFENRRELM - REESDHN
TX [EFRESTTHA SRR R FEER
EER - AR REEE R MOAR
—HINERRESITBAESN  BHEALRA
RAPRMHIAERD T REEAREEFRAE
fEDIZE XV BB 5 2 K2 58 3 0 ARG SRR AN R A
BOEfEEIORAE -
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURE OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, so far as the Directors are aware, the interests
and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) or have been entered in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were required, pursuant to
Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, have been notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, are as follows:

EERREHTHAEREAER
HAAENERRRS - HEARKR RE
HEENERRRE

RZZZ=F+=A=+—8  $EEFHH "
EEZRARAESTTHRABRARRSKEA
HEE (ExREHFRIERDIZEXVED) AR
- HERGOKERETHBDREBES R
HEERIEXVEE 7 RESDFMEARNA K
TR AR (BIEREFES RAE K
D178 BRGSUIE S45 & (F SR AR B 25 Sk
B) AEHARQRREFSRAEEGE
352 EFTIF EME R MAmERE AR - 5B
RIEGEM LR BIE 546 2567 (FEHE R
SRR R KBTS ¢

Long position in the Shares RiBBFE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of total registered
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interests share held share capital
RN
PRz i B2 MR
EEna S e L of=| Bt
(Note 3)
(BF7E3)
Mr. Zhou Qing Beneficial Interest 556,000 0.11%
BB L BmiEm
Share Option 1,000,000 0.19%
B RE
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Long positions in the shares of Shuifa Singyes (Note 1)

TIKEEE R R RYIF A (PRt 1)

Approximate
percentage of

Number of total registered

Name of Director(s) Capacity/Nature of Interests Shares held share capital

LT S

FRis R {5 BE 2

EENE 54 #EnnE =] =507 4

(Note 2)

(Mt 2)

Mr. Zhou Qing Beneficial interest 229,000 0.009%
Ei=pia B

Notes: 3T

1. Shuifa Singyes is listed in the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock
code: 750. Shuifa Singyes is a holding company of the Company pursuant to the
SFO.

2. The percentage is calculated on the basis of 2,521,081,780 shares in issue of
Shuifa Singyes as at 31 December 2023.

3. The percentage is calculated on the basis of 520,000,000 in issue of the
Company as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise required pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM
Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

1 KREEZEREXFAERLD  BORRER:
750 © *ETEM%&,HJ%%?%WJ P IREEE AR

NG R
2. ZEDLIREBKEEEN T =F+=
A=+—HBE2%172,521,081,780 B i% 17 &t

3. ZEADLIREARBR=ZZE==F+=A
=+—HE%77520,000,000 f& B nEtE o

BREXBEEEN R-F_=F1+_A
=t—R  BEEEIARFARTRARR
AARSEEMAREE(ERLESFLPE
{5158 XV &F) BB LD ~ ARRERXED Sk EHERE P
BARBEZRMEGHIFXVEET R8E
HMEARRR] LBZANEMERSOAR (B
RIBEFES RGOSR EFRER/HEE
Mgz NORR) - RBERIEE S M IE RIS
352 EREER R E MR SOA R - SZERIE GEM
EHRAIE 546 (6= 5.68 162 TTAME AR A
NESZ VIR TR
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RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests ad Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations” above, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report, was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company
or their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) to have
any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) or to acquire benefits
by means of acquisitions of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the Company’s
business was entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

No permitted indemnity provision existed during the year ended 31
December 2023.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not make any
charitable donations (2022: Nil).

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as set out under the
heading “Share Option Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements that will or
may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company or subsisting during the year ended
31 December 2023.

INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

Shuifa Singyes, one of the controlling shareholders (as defined under GEM
Listing Rules) of the Company, has entered into the deed of non-competition
dated 23 June 2017 (the “Deed of Non-competition”) in favour of the
Company, details of which were set out in the Prospectus. Pursuant to the
Deed of Non-competition, Shuifa Singyes has undertaken to our Company (for
ourselves and as trustee for each of our subsidiaries) that with effect from the
Listing Date, it shall not, and shall procure each of its close associates (other
than our Group) shall not, whether on its own account or in conjunction with
or on behalf of any person, firm or company and whether directly or indirectly,
whether as a shareholder, director, employee, partner, agent or otherwise
(other than being a director or shareholder of our Group or members of our
Group), carry on or be engaged in, directly or indirectly, a business which
is, or be interested or involved or engaged in or acquire or hold any rights
or interest or otherwise involved in (in each case whether as a shareholder,
partner, agent or otherwise and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) any
business which competes or may in any aspect compete directly or indirectly
with the business or which is similar to the business currently and may
from time to time be engaged by our Group (including but not limited to the
production and sale and businesses ancillary to any of the foregoing).

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report,
none of the Directors, the controlling shareholders of the Company or their
respective close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had
any business or interest in a business which, either directly or indirectly,
competes or may compete with the business of the Group and any other
conflicts of interest with the Group.
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The controlling shareholders of the Company have confirmed to the Company
that during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report, Shuifa Singyes and its respective close associates (as defined under
the GEM Listing Rules) have complied with the undertakings contained in the
Deed of Non-competition.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements headed “Related
party transactions and balances” of this report, no transactions, arrangements
and contracts of significance in relation to our Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any Director of
the Company or his connected entity had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have purchased, sold or redeemed
any listed securities of the Company during the year end 31 December 2023.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Talent is the core of the Group’s operations, recruiting the most suitable
talent for each position is one of the Group’s important tasks. The Group
strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations and establishes a human
resources management system to protect the legitimate rights and interests
of all employees.

We maintain on-going communication with our customers to ensure
understanding and satisfaction of their demand and expectations, as well as
to constantly improve our services by knowing their satisfactory rates.

As a manufacturing company, the quality of the Group’s products and even
its reputation depend largely on the quality of the raw materials. In order to
ensure the quality of suppliers and maintain a healthy and orderly supply
chain system, the Group has committed to improving the relationship
management of suppliers.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, we had a total headcount of 97 (2022: 139)
full-time employees. The remuneration package of our employees includes
a basic salary, allowances and bonuses, as well as equity incentive where
appropriate. The various allowances cover holidays, social security and
housing contributions. We make contributions to all mandatory social security
and housing provident funds for our employees.

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at annual general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s Board
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities, his experience and
qualifications, the prevailing market rate and performance and the results of
the Group.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to shareholders
by reason of their holding of the Company’s listed securities.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Directors believe that the Group has implemented sufficiently robust
internal control policies and procedures to ensure the on-going compliance
with applicable laws and regulations by the Group, the Directors and the
senior management. During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
date of this report, as far as the Company is aware, the Group has complied
in material aspects with applicable laws and regulations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group pursues best practices for the environment and focuses on the
impact of the Group’s business on the environment and natural resources.
In addition to complying with environmental laws and international
standards and appropriate protection of the natural environment, the
Group also integrates the concept of environmental protection into its
internal management and daily operation activities to achieve the goal of
environmental sustainability.
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For details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
2023 which will be published around the end of April 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-
laws, or the law of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company is

incorporated.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float of at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules as at the date of this report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no connected
transaction or continuing connect transaction between the Group and its
connected persons (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) which were
subject to the reporting, announcement and the independent shareholders’
approval requirement under the GEM Listing Rules. No transactions as
set out in the “Related party transactions and balances” in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements are “connected transaction” or “continuing
connected transaction” which were subject to the reporting, annual review,
announcement and/or independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Company would publish an announcement to inform Shareholders and
potential investors about the closure period of the register of members for the
eligibility to attend the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2023 were audited SUYA WWC CPA Limited (formerly known as: Rongchuang
CPA Limited) which will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A
resolution for the re-appointment of SUYA WWC CPA Limited as auditor of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

KPMG were the auditors of the Company for the financial year ended 31
December 2021. As KPMG and the Company could not reach a consensus
on the audit fee for the financial year ending 31 December 2022, KPMG
has resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 13 December
2022. SUYA WWC CPA Limited has been appointed as the new auditor of
the Company with effect from 29 December 2022. The Board confirms that
there were no disagreements or unresolved matters between the Company
and KPMG and there were no other matters in connection with the change
of auditors that need to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of
the Company. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 14 December 2022 and 30 December 2022.

Ernst & Young were the auditors of the Company for the financial years ended
31 December 2019 and 2020. Due to the relevant regulations issued by the
Ministry of Finance of the PRC and the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council of the PRC in respect of the
restrictions on the term of continuous audit services that an accounting firm
can provide to state-owned enterprises and its subsidiaries, Ernst & Young
retired and KPMG was appointed as the auditors of the Company effective
upon the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company dated
21 May 2021. The Board confirms that there were no disagreements or
unresolved matters between the Company and Ernst & Young and there
were no other matters in connection with the change of auditors that need to
be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 30 April 2021 and
the supplemental announcement of the Company dated 21 May 2021.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board is not aware of any significant events affecting the Group, which
have occurred subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report.

By order of the Board

Du Peng
Chairman
Hong Kong, 22 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B A2 AR

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA SINGYES NEW MATERIALS
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Singyes New
Materials Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) set out on pages 67 to 223, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA™). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter
is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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B A2 AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

FREREE(E)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FAEEZRER Bz E TR A REREIE
Expected credit loss allowances of trade receivables
B 5B SR TR S I X1

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2.3.

B2HEA M BRKME 18 R 2.3 & FHR -

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s gross trade receivables
amounted to RMB155,339,000, against which an allowance
of RMB82,185,000 for expected credit loss (“ECL”) was
recorded, which was material to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

RZZBZ=F+_HA=+—0  EXENZFREKKEL
/S AR#155,339,0007T + W RtULERISTREMEREL ([78
HERBR)BEARKS2185000T ¥ BEXEGZAE
IBHREBERX -

Management measures the loss allowance at an amount
equals to lifetime ECLs. Trade receivables are grouped
according to shared credit risk characteristics. The estimated
loss rates take into account the ageing of trade receivable
balances and the historical payment, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the customers, and an assessment of both
current market conditions and forward-looking information.
ERBARENEMEAERERANSEASBRAEE -2
SIRBGHRIERRARNERRARS DM o (hetiBRETh5
R E S RBGRIBAGIRR RBENRIER - YEPEER
HEL AT - WHIRR TR KATIE M ERHER(E -

Our audit procedures to assess the ECL allowance for trade
receivables included the following:

HIFRHEE SR KF IR R E R B R BN ETEF B
TFIBIE

o Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls relating to credit control, debt
collection and estimating the credit loss allowance and
accounting for such credit loss allowance;

PR ST (A R RME AR - EIRU B A 3 ZE AR E
BVRRET - BieMEERR  RMAFHERBREE - I
MZERBRARBESTER

° Evaluating the Group’s policy for estimating the credit
loss allowance with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standard;
Z2ERITEITTERNNRTE - 718
REEBEVBUR

BEREEFHERE

o Assessing the competence, independence and integrity
of the external valuer engaged by the Group;
Tl BEEBFEEIMNDEER TIERE S - B
K
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

PSS SEIE (/5)

Key audit matter

FAsEZEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

#HRzEHNREEARERER

We identify ECL allowances of trade receivables as a key audit
matter because determining the level of the loss allowance
requires the exercise of significant management judgement,
which is inherently subjective.
BMREESRYGFIENERERIERRERBREZS
B RERECTEABEREEEETFEAE LBFEBNE
R -

o Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting

with the external valuer to discuss and challenge
the valuation process, methodologies used and
market evidence to support significant judgements
and assumptions applied in the valuation model and
comparing the methodologies for consistency as
compared to prior year;
E{SIMNER b (B R W B AN ED (L E R B T - AR SR{GE
B PTRAAERTISEELE IR HE R - A F
HERE AN SR RERR  WEEFLER
TER) L

o Inspecting correspondence with customers for the
latest progress of settling the outstanding amounts
and the credit status of these debtors by performing
company search, on a sample basis;
MBI A EEE IR EEFIEMERERE PR
5 WERAREMRR M ZEEANGEBMRR

o Re-performing the calculation of the loss allowance
as at 31 December 2023 based on the Group’s ECL
allowance policies; and
R BERENERERBABERR  SFHER
ZEC=F+Z A=+ —BEMIEREE &

o Assessing the appropriateness of financial statement
disclosures as stated in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements regarding the Group’s exposure to
credit risk.

FHAERR B S E AT I R R e e B R R BB (A
AR E B TS R P RE 18 Pl ) =R A -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

PSS SEIE (48)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B2RRE MBS MARMTT 16 R 2.3 @ETHK -

FAEERZRER Bz E TR EAREREIR
Impairment of goodwill
A E

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2.3.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded an amount of
goodwill of RMB6,448,000.
R-ZB_=Ff+-_HA=+—H"
6,448,000 7T °

EEEEGHBARE

Management performed an assessment of impairment of
goodwill annually as required by IAS 36. No impairment has
been charged against goodwill in the current year.
ERECIRBER R RIS 365 2 AR E MR
B - AFEHESHENRRE -

TTFER

In performing the impairment assessment, a discounted cash
flow forecast was prepared for each CGU to which goodwill
has been allocated. The preparation of the discounted cash
flow forecasts requires significant assumptions with respect
to growth rate of revenue, the gross profit margins and the
discount rate, which were subjective and involved significant
judgements.

PETRER AR - ESEEMOENIR S EL B FRA
RFRERR - RN\ REBAFT2EABN S
BEE  ENXRMRXNEAREK  MtEREBEEL
BRERHR o

We identified assessing impairment of goodwill as a key
audit matter because the impairment assessment involves
forecasting future cash flows by management which is
complex and inherently uncertain and subjective.

MR TEHBRELMBREEFFE  RERAENESRE
BEELEMARE FTREBRERIBENARRERER
Al

Our audit procedures to assess potential impairment of
goodwill included the following:

B RHEABEEERENERF R TISIEA

° Assessing management’s identification of CGUs and
the allocation of assets and liabilities to each CGU
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

SEBRTEFHENNETE  THEEBHReELS
UHBRARRASHREELEEMNETEENABENS
fig

o Assessing the competence, independence and integrity
of the external valuer engaged by the Group;
Tl BEEBFEIEIMNDEERS TIERE S - B
Rtz

° Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting
with the external valuer to discuss and challenge
whether the methodologies and key parameters used
by the Group and the discount rate applied were within
the range adopted by other companies operating in the
same industry;

SN AR S I BN BRI G E - iR AE
l%%ﬁf&%ﬁﬁﬁuﬁﬁf%m%ﬁ EEEE
fEE QAR PAERANHEE A - W IR EE S
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

PSS SEIE (/5)

Key audit matter

FsEZEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

#RzEH N REEARERER

Comparing the actual results for the current year
with management’s forecast in the previous year in
order to assess the reliability of historical accuracy of
management’s forecasting process and whether there
was any indication of management bias;
HBEAFEERERBAEFHEIRERA - AFEE
BEGSEEARENERERTAZERESAETMAE
BRERETR

Performing sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions
adopted in the discounted cash flow forecast and
considering the possibility of error of management bias;
and

HUBRBRRSTRAMAE EMBETHRMEDHT -
REBGFHEERNERERENTRIE &

Evaluating the reasonableness of the financial
statement disclosures regarding goodwill impairment
test with reference to prevailing accounting standards.

SZERITEFHER - SR EREH MM B R

RIFBEEOAARE -
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B A2 AR

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.
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ZHETR B G SMBRR AR
BEE(E)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Chung King Ho.

SUYA WWC CPA Limited

(formerly known as Rongchuang CPA Limited)
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Room 1210, 12/F., Tower A,

New Mandarin Plaza,

14 Science Museum Road,

Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon,

Hong Kong,

22 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

relEmRkEMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H#E =T =_=F+-A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-=%f —E-
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AREFT ARETF T
REVENUE PN 4 85,353 78,057
Cost of sales SHERAR 6 (62,868) (66,166)
Gross profit E7 22,485 11,891
Other income and gains, net EMUA KUz o SR8 5 4,795 10,355
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAS (4,872) (4,920)
Administrative expenses THRFAX (21,310) (22,675)
Impairment loss on trade receivables H 5 REBGRIE 2R EEE 6 (45,212) (831)
Impairment loss on prepayments, deposits ~ FBZRIA - 2 R EAbE
and other receivables WRIE 2 R EEE 6 (4,860) (4,330)
Impairment loss on goodwill [EESEAEL o 6 - (717)
Finance costs ISV 7 (2,070) (1,453)
Foreign exchange gains, net P& e - FEE 6 208 127
Other expenses HAuhA - (2,271)
LOSS BEFORE TAX (ELNT] o] (50,836) (14,824)
Income tax credit Fiisfi e 10 8,480 1,313
LOSS FOR THE YEAR EEEE (42,356) (13,511)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS: Hih2HEESE :
Items that may be reclassified to profit or BB BRI EZ 752
loss in subsequent periods: Bam o HE -
Exchange differences on translation of ME B R ERR 2 [ K AR
financial statements (11) 466
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or T & REEZERIFEF HIEE
loss in subsequent periods: Bam o HE -
Fair value change of equity investments R AT EFAEM
designated at fair value through other 2HEINE Z ESIRE
comprehensive income H A EEE - (3,000)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FEELEEESE
FOR THE YEAR (42,367) (16,045)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

melEmRkEMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #E =T =_=F+-A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E'-= —E-_F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BiEE ARETRT AREETIT
Loss attributable to: AR A e ES1E -
Equity shareholders of the Company ZANNCIL (39,779) (13,098)
Non-controlling interests FEIER RS (2,577) (413)
(42,356) (13,511)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: AR A TG EHEEERE
Equity shareholders of the Company /NG i (39,790) (15,632)
Non-controlling interests JEPE AR R 2 (2,577) (413)
(42,367) (16,045)
LOSS PER SHARE SREHE
Basic and diluted ERRES 11 RMB(0.076) RMB(0.025)

AE#(0.076)t AR (0.025)7T

The accompanying Accounting Policies and Explanatory Notes form an BEMT R & RTIROR SRR Y s P iR S B T
integral part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these financial KE—385 - WEEE —G16:E -
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

As at 31 December 2023 —ZE - =%+_-H=+—H

As at 31 December
+=A=+-H

As at 1 January

2022
2023 2022 o —F
—E-=F —E-4F —A—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
B EE ARSETT AREETTT ARETTT
(Restated) (Restated)
(#&=:7)) (#&=:%))
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment 1% - = K& &4 12 66,904 69,458 70,314
Equity investments designated BRI A EFFAREMETR
at fair value through other s (MEAFEFT AR
comprehensive income EEWE]) 2 ERRE
(“FVTOCI™) 13 - - 5,000
Prepayments JEft 08 - = 367
Deferred tax assets FEREFIAE E 14 16,739 8,215 6,902
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15(a) 1,426 10,144 12,390
Intangible assets mILEE 16 6,472 6,475 7,165
91,541 94,292 102,138
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE
Inventories ES—Y 17 15,697 22,453 24,048
Trade and bills receivables FEYE 5508 M B R IE 18 82,188 123,723 138,987
Prepayments, deposits and TERFIA - EBe Rk
other receivables HAb U GRIA 19 15,403 13,602 24,038
Pledged deposits [REEwEYEE 20 28 = 297
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREZEY 20 44,409 59,535 26,757
157,725 219,313 214,127
CURRENT LIABILITIES AR
Trade payables E S ENFIE 21 28,866 29,030 40,084
Accruals and other payables FERTE A R E MR A 22 22,539 23,364 35,825
Short-term borrowings EHIEE 23 11,800 20,646 =
Lease liabilities HE&aE 15(b) 91 2,091 1,992
Provision for product warranties 7= & /8 % B4 24 732 1,200 1,169
Tax payable FERFRIR 1,951 1,960 1,962
65,979 78,291 81,032
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 91,746 141,022 133,095
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRHERE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 183,287 235,314 235,233

—BCCEEERE
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/CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI R

As at 31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+_-H=+—H

As at 31 December As at 1 January
+=-HA=+—H 2022
2023 2022 B
—EB-=Hf —E-fF —H—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
FEE ARETT AREETTT AREEFTT
(Restated) (Restated)
(#&E7)) (#&=5)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  FEiRENE S
Long-term borrowings REEE 23 18,000 18,800 =
Lease liabilities HERE 15(b) 1,601 8,906 10,997
Deferred income RIEWA 25 1,834 3,051 3,749
R 21435 30757 . 14,746
NET ASSETS BEE 161,852 204,557 220,487
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARRGEE
Issued capital BRI A 26 35,415 35,415 35,415
Reserves e 28 123,712 163,839 180,529
Total equity attributable to equity 7N/ B %5 A% 5 FE(G 4@ HE 25
shareholders of the Company 159,127 199,254 215,944
Non-controlling interests FEIZERR AR 2,725 5,303 4,543
TOTAL EQUITY g 161,852 204,557 220,487

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 March BEEeR T NE=A -+ AR EE

2024. % o
Mr. Du Peng Mr. Zhang Chao
adLE S REERA
Director Director
BEE BE

The accompanying Accounting Policies and Explanatory Notes form an BEMT B & 5T IR R R Y s P iR S I T
integral part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these financial KW —E 5y - WEEE—OFFE -
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAEERDE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z —Z —

=F+oASt+—ALLEE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FATHEAELS
Fair value
reserve of Retained
Share Statutory Share equity  Exchange profits/ Non-
Issued ~ premium  Contributed resene option Capital ~investments  fluctuation ~ (Accumulated controlling Total
capital ~ account surplus fund reseve  resenies  at FVTOCI reserve losses) Total  interests equity
BAFETA
Kfe2mk
EaT ffp e EkE JERRE  ERR® RERN/ Fi2R
ks BER  HARR B BE  EGE MATERE B (Rat) it B EneE
RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBIOO0  RMBO0O  RMBOO0  RMBIOOO  RMB0OO  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETr ARETr ARETr ARMTr ARMTn ARETT ARMTR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2022 (originall stated) ~ R=F==%-B-A
(R%231) Ba5 Bl 18 13 3804 585 - 8D BB A76% 43w
Prior period adjustments (nofe 2.4) AR (24) = - - - - - - = (1,752) (1,752) - (1,752)
At 1 January 2022 (restated) R-§-Z&-R-A
(45E3) 35415 65,163 11,583 13306 3804 55,875 - (2630) B4B 21594 4583 20,487
Loss for the year KERRR - - - - - - - - B (130) (@3 (1350
Other comprehensive loss for the year: ~ EAEHABER :
Exchange diffrences on trenslaion of - B HR Y
financial statements EizE - - - - - = = 466 = 466 = 466
Fair value change of equity investments ~ BERATEH AL
designated at FVTOC] Al ERRE
NATERY = = = = = = (3,000) = = (3,000) = (3,000)
Total comprehensive loss for e year ~~ ER2EFREE - - - - - = (3,000) 46 (1308 (15632 @3 (16045)
Transfer from retained profts ERaREEA - - = n = = - - (23) = = =
Deregistration of a subsilary (note 30) Bt M-HHELR
(H30) - - - (90) - - - = = (90) - (%)
Acquisiton of a subsidiary (note 29) WA (i) - - - - - - - - - - 53 593
Capitalinection by non-controling interests FEATRIERTE - - - - - - - - - - %0 50
Equitysetted share option arrangements  WEREE 7 BT S
(note 27) (H27) = = = = (968) = = = = (968) = (968)
At 31 December 2022 (restated) g |
=+-H(&E5) 35415 65,163 11,583 13439 28% 55,875 (3,000 (2,164) 2,107 199,254 5303 204,557
At 1 January 2023 R-§-z&-A-B 35415 65,163 11,583 13,439 2,836 55,875 (3,000) (2,164) 20,107 199,254 5303 204,557
Loss for the year KERER - - - - - - - - (39779 (39779 (2571)  (42,356)
Other comprehensive loss for the year: — FAZEHZEEE :
Exchange diffrences on trenslgion of ~~ B HRRZE
financial statements £E - - - - - - - (1) - (11) - (1)
Tota comprehensive oss fortheyear — FMREESELRE - - - - - - - (1) (39779 (39790 (2577  (4236D)
Disposal of & subsiciay (note 30) HE-FHELT
(HE30) - - - - - - - - - - 1) 1)
Equiy-setted share option arrangements  WER S BRER S
(note 27) (hs27) - - - - (337) - - - - (337) - (337)
At 31 December 2023 RZ§ZZE+ZR
=1-f 35415  65163*  11,583* 13439 2499 55875 (3,000 (2175 (19672 159,127 2725 161,852

* ZERBERE R EREAVBIRARAZERE
B AR 123712000 (ZTE-—F: A
R# 163,839,000 7T (L EFI)) »

BEMT B0 & R EUR R IR I e B R S 7%
BRO—#D - WREEAE GBI -

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB123,712,000
(2022: RMB163,839,000 (restated)) in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The accompanying Accounting Policies and Explanatory Notes form an integral
part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
an\ EE%UHJEZ:—I%

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE T —=F+-A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E-=5F T —F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
PitEE ARETT AREETTT
(Restated)
(5 =%))
OPERATING ACTIVITIES LR
Loss before tax MRESRTE 1B (50,836) (14,824)
Adjustments for: FENT :
Amortisation of intangible assets mLAE 2 EiE 16 3 3
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - WEREETE
equipment 12 10,203 10,146
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEENE 15(a) 1,017 2,246
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary RE—fMBARZEE 30 = 142
Impairment loss on goodwill R EEE 16 — 717
Impairment loss on trade receivables ﬁ%ﬁ%‘”ﬂlmﬁﬂ@}ﬁﬂ@ 18 45,212 831
Impairment loss on prepayment, deposits A « 326 N E A EUL
and other receivables MEM@E 18 6 4,860 4,330
Unrealised foreign exchange (losses)/ R EEEE(ESTE)/
gains, net @ R (11) 420
Reversal of equity-settled share option @@*Eﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ%
expense, net FX - JFEE 6 (337) (968)
Gain on bargain purchase from Llﬁlﬁﬁ BB EEE
acquisition of a subsidiary Z B 6 - (618)
Gain on disposal of items of property, Hjﬁft%ﬁ W E &
plant and equipment I8 B s 6 (21) (778)
Gain on rights transferred under IFRS 16 1RIEBIFR B4 753 5 £ R 58
16 557 85 S 4 N ) W 5 (322) =
Gain on written-off for other payables Jilh 8 EL At A RIE Y M R 5 (2000) (3,400)
Effect of withdrawal of government grants W[l Bt i i Bh B 52 42 25 (720) -
Bank interest income RITHBULA 5 (170) (237)
Interest expense on borrowings E=ilks = Sz 7 1,804 994
Interest on lease liabilities MEaERS 15(b) 266 459
Deferred income released to profit or loss B ZEEZAE LH&me 25 (497) (1,488)
8,451 (2,025)
Changes in working capital: LA
Changes in inventories FEEE) 6,756 1,595
Changes in trade and bills receivables B S WA K&
e EIEE (3,656) 14,434
Changes in prepayments, deposits and TERTR « 1=E RE AL
other receivables FIBED) (6,233) 1,163
Changes in trade payables E RN FIEZE) (164) (11,054)
Changes in accruals and other payables FERTE A R E M ER
I E) - (2,051) (3,888)
Changes in provision for product EmEREBHEE  F8
warranties, net ~ (468) 31
Changes in amounts due from related FEUBRE 77 SRR &)
parties B (106) (651)
Changes in amounts due to related FEASTRRE T SRIE &)
parties 3,226 2,087
Receipt of government grants related to U HR A s52 18 B ABRE 2
income TN 25 - 992
Cash generated from operations WM%?@)? SIHEMR 5,755 2,684
Income tax paid BRATEH - (61)
Net cash generated from operating B FHABRETE
activities 5,755 2,623
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
an\ IE%UH;E%

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT-=F+_-A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
BaE AREFT AREEFIT
(Restated)
(5&=:5))
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEES
Purchases of items of property, plant and ﬁ%,ﬁ%% = M=%
equipment 12 (8,023) (10,645)
Purchases of intangible assets ﬁ% =z ﬁﬁ/é(? 16 - (30)
Addition of right-of-use assets ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ’féﬁ? 15(a) (91) -
Disposal of right-of-use assets BEFREEE 15(a) 4,850 =
Decrease of right-of-use assets under HEBE NMEREEE
lease modification A 15(a) 2,942 =
Decrease in amounts due from related PR A T IR
parties - 7,890
(Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits ETKWT?—MG?JD)/ 28) 297
Proceeds from disposal of items of Hj%%% lﬁ?%& =]
property, plant and equipment B Z PS5k 395 2,188
Proceeds from equity investments E’&?@J)\/HJ’QEEW
designated at FVTOCI \Z*Eﬁﬂxé“ﬁﬁ?%ﬁ’ﬂ - 2,000
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash WEEMT B AT - HRRAT
acquired g %ﬁ% 29 - 1
Interest received B Ui w8 5 170 237
Net cash generated from investing BEEHFEHRESTE
activities 215 1,938
FINANCING ACTIVITIES AEES) N
Principal portion of lease payments HENZAARESEH (859) (1,992)
Addition of lease liabilities AEHEEE 15(b) 91 -
Loss on lease modification HEEE]E1E (37) -
Disposal of lease liabilities HEMERE 15(b) (5,824) -
Decrease of lease liabilities under lease HEZBETHEAR
modification A 15(b) (2,713) =
Proceeds from borrowings BB RS 20,000 39,846
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (29,646) (400)
Interest paid on borrowings SRNEEMNS 7 (1,804) (994)
Interest portion of lease liabilities HEBENTSED 7 (266) (459)
Decrease in amounts due to related JEF BRsE 5 SRIE R
parties = (7,981)
Net cash (used in)/generated from RS (FTA) P8R
financing activities ok ] (21,058) 28,020

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash IRE&RIFLZEEY
equivalents (Jﬁ@‘)/*%ﬂﬂgﬁ (15,088) 32,581

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January ﬁ’*—ﬁ HIRE R
59,535 26,757

%1“% o
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, QMZIZ B BT

net (38) 197
Cash and cash equivalents at R+=—A=+—HHRER
31 December REeEEEY 44,409 59,535
Analysis of balances of cash and cash HERFEEEEMEGIIT
equivalents
Cash and bank balances R MIRTTAE B 20 44,409 59,635
The accompanying Accounting Policies and Explanatory Notes form an BAPM A0S & THIOR S R RE 1 BT o 1B PR R R 5
integral part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these financial FKH—Fb - WHEEHE —OFRE -
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 ¥ MY oE

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

84

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered
office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of business of the
Company is located at Unit 3108, 31st Floor, China Merchants Tower,
Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan,
Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company’s subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) were principally engaged in the sale and installation
of Indium Tin Oxide (“ITO") film, and the research and development,
production, sale and installation of Smart Polymer-Dispersed Liquid
Crystals (“Smart PDLC”) products, Light Emitting Diode (“LED”)
Display and Projection System in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"). There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year.

On 28 December 2022, the board of directors of the Company was
informed by China Shuifa Singyes Energy Holdings Limited (“Shuifa
Singyes”), the controlling shareholder of the Company, that Top Access
Management Limited (“Top Access”), being the immediate holding
company of the Company who owned 62.73% of the total issued
share capital of the Company immediately before the completion of
the Restructuring (as defined below), has transferred all the shares
in the Company owned by it to Shuifa Sinyes, who wholly owned Top
Access (the “Restructuring”). The Restructuring was completed on 28
December 2022.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
upon completion of the Restructuring and as at 31 December 2022
and 2023, the parent company and the ultimate holding company
are Shuifa Singyes and Shuifa Group Co., Ltd. (“Shuifa Group”),
respectively. Shuifa Sinyes was incorporated in Bermuda and its shares
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Shuifa Group was an state-owned
enterprise incorporated in the PRC.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R B 5t

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Place and date of

AT REEEH (B)

A BAT ZE#

ARFMBRAR ZFBLT

incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Registered equity attributable Principal
Name place of operations share capital to the Company activities
AL
BREERAH RO
Z% REZMEHRERA A Bt TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# el
Singyes New Materials (H.K.) Hong Kong ush1 100 - Investment
Company Limited 28 November 2014 1% holding
(“New Materials (H.K.)") B REER
ERRENMHBRAA “E2-ME+-AZT/\E
([BEBEE])
Huabei Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 - Investment
BRERARAA 23 March 2018 10,000/7T holding
e REER
“E-N\F=A=+=H
Zhuhai Shuifa Xingye New Materials  The PRC RMB62.5 million - 100 Research,
Technology Company Limited 31 March 2010 AREG25HET manufacture, sale
(“Zhuhai New Materials”)@ H and installation
WEKEEENMHREERAA “T-FFZA=+-H of photovoltaic
(THEFR e products
i BE - HER
ENARER

“RCEFFERE  PEEXFVAHERARAF
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows (continued):

Place and date of

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AT REKEEE (F)

AEAMBARZEH ()

ARFMBRAR ZFBNT (&)

incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Registered equity attributable Principal
Name place of operations share capital to the Company activities
AL,
BEaEHRBEH FATIME
EAH REEMEFRRE EEAUTES AR 17 TEER
Direct Indirect
B el
Yan'an Singyes New The PRC RMB20 million - 100 Research,
Materials Company 1 December 2017 ARE20EETL manufacture, sale
Limited H and installation of
(“Yan'an New Materials”)® —T—+F+=fA—-H new materials
R EEMMHBERERAF e B8 HER
([ZZFMEL ) REETIE
Shenzhen Kangsheng The PRC RMB16 million - 75 Research,
Photoelectric Technology 11 March 2011 AREI6EETL manufacture
Company Limited I and sale of
(“Shenzhen Kangsheng”)© —Z2—%=A+—-H photovoltaic
FMEEA SR AR AR products
(IR ) © % - glE
KR RER
Shuifa Sinyes New Materials The PRC RMB10 million - 60  Provision of
(Sishui) Company 20 November 2017 AREI0EETL solid waste
Limited H treatment and
(“Shuifa Sishui”)® —T—+F+—A=1H utilisation of
KB LK) BT renewable
(KB mK]) @ resources
REEBEMRER
ERTEEER

86 China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R A MY et

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)

AT REEEH ()

AEAMBATZEH ()

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
ARRIMB AR ZFBMT (B)

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows (continued):

Place and date of

incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Registered equity attributable Principal
Name place of operations share capital to the Company activities
AL
BREERAH RO
Z% REZMEHRERA A Bt TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# ik
Sishui Singyes New Building The PRC USD10 million - 100 Research,
Materials Company 10 June 2021 IV manufacture,
Limited HE sale and
(“Sishui Singyes”)® —E-—%xXAtH installation of
KRR EMBR AT new materials
(DHKEE])@ B g HER
TEIME
Shuifa Singyes (Shandong) The PRC RMB10 million - 51 Provision of
New Materials Holdings 1 December 2020 AREI0BET solid waste
Limited H treatment and
(“Shuifa Singyes Shandong”)® “Z-TFE+-A—H utilisation of
KERE(LR)IRER renewable
BRAT resources
(KBEREFLR]) REEBEMRER
ERABLER
Shuifa Singyes (Angiu) The PRC RMBb5 million - 51  Research,
New Materials Limited 1 December 2020 ARESHET manufacture,
(“Shuifa Singyes Angiu”)® F sale and
IKBEE (R ) MR “E-ZF+-A-H installation of
BRRA new materials
(kBEERE])® % BiE - HER

“RCEFFERE  PEEXFVAHERARAF
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows (continued):

Place and date of

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AT REKEEE (F)

AEAMBARZEH ()

ARFMBRAR ZFBNT (&)

incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Registered equity attributable Principal
Name place of operations share capital to the Company activities
AL
BERAH RO
Z% REZMEHRERA A EmEnt TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# el
Shanxi Yida Thermal Insulation The PRC RMB20 million - 51 Manufacture
Material Company 3 December 2018 ARE20EETL of thermal
Limited (“Shanxi Yida")® H insulation and
WFREREME —Z-\Ft+=-A=H sound insulation
BRAR(NLARED® materials
HERANREH
Shuifa Xingye The PRC RMB50 million 100 - Dormant
New Materials (Zhuhai) 12 January 2021 ARKS0EET e
Company Limited H
(“Shuifa Xingye Zhuhai” ) 2= —%—F+=H
KBEREFTH (K8 BRAF
(IRBEEREHREG])O
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R B 5t

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Zhuhai New Materials and Sishui Singyes were registers as a wholly-
foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC law. The company name of
Zhuhai New Materials changed from “Zhuhai Singyes New Materials
Company Limited” to “Zhuhai Shuifa Xingye New Materials Technology
Company Limited” on 2 February 2024.

(b) Yan’an New Materials was deregistered under PRC law on 17 May 2022.

(c) Shenzhen Kangsheng was registered as Sino-foreign equity joint venture
enterprise under the PRC law.

(d) Shuifa Singyes Shandong was disposed on 29 December 2023.

(e) Shanxi Yida was acquired on 25 March 2022.

(f) Shuifa Xingye Zhuhai was acquired on 30 November 2023.

(g) Shuifa Sishui and Shuifa Singyes Angiu were incorporated under PRC
law.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), whose
collective term includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards
Board (the “IASB”), Standing Interpretations Committee interpretations
approved by the International Accounting Standards Committee
that remain in effect and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of the Hong
Kong Limited. Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

1.

2.1

AT REEEH ()

AEAMBATZEH ()
BfeE

(@)  TREFME RONKEEAR B HEDER
AMAIEBEDLKE KR _F_MF
“—AZB - WEHHMHMNAFAMEH
[BREREFRMHRARAR ] BN
BIREKEEERMHBRERR
ale

(b)) EEHFMHR-_F-__FAA+LEAR
IR BUA R -

© RIEBRREPEDEREMATING
B -

(d KEERZEIFER-_T_=F+=A
—thBERLE -

() WAEKEER-_ZE-_—_F=A=-+1
AR -

(fH  KBEEEREBENR-_FT_Z=F1+—A
=+ BB -

(g)  /KEEMK RKEE B2 % L ARYR A BlE
RS -

B

AREATEERRAR IR BIPR B 5 s 5 22 B ([ B
BREBHEREN DR HERERS
AHEAEEE ((BRREFEAERE])
1t B0 P A B R B ) BB B A R
Al - BIFRE SR (TBR g2/ ) &
SEABEREHENZESEHARDA
BRHMERRBREGZR2E  URE
BRANEDIZ WERTE - EHHHRE
TETE BB A X ZMARAR GEME
F EMRAZERRE G - ARER
R EAETBERN T XK

“RCEFFERE  PEEXFVAHERARAF
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 ¥ MY oE

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2.1 (REIEEE(B)

90

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost basis, except for certain equity investments which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation and preparation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs that

have significant effect on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 e Y oE

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation and preparation (Continued)

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (e.g., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results
in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it
has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.

2.1 RREE(E)
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Basis of consolidation and preparation (Continued) FEREREE (E)
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income BakHEt2ERENE-—HEEYRE

are attributed to the equity shareholders of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as recognised gains but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders
of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having
a contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets the
definition of a financial liability. For each business combination, the
Group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests in
the results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for
the year between non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders
of the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and
other contractual obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position

depending on the nature of the liability.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation and preparation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interest, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain
or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or joint venture.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group applied for the first-time certain standards and
amendments, which are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 (unless otherwise stated). The Group has not
early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that
has been issued but is not yet effective.

2.1

2.2
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 S5t RIEEEE (8)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

DISCLOSURES (Continued)

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts is a comprehensive new accounting
standard for insurance contracts covering recognition and
measurement, presentation and disclosure. IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts, IFRS 17 applies to all types of insurance contract
(i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless of
the type of entities that issue them as well as to certain guarantees
and financial instruments with discretionary participation features;
a few scope exceptions will apply. The overall objective of IFRS
17 is to provide a comprehensive accounting model for insurance
contracts that is more useful and consistent for insurers, covering all
relevant accounting aspects. IFRS 17 is based on a general model,
supplemented by:

° A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation
features (the variable fee approach)

. A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly
for short-duration contracts

The new standard had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 Gt IR TEEE (5)

DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Definition of Accounting Estimates —
Amendments to IAS 8

The amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates, changes in accounting policies and the
correction of errors. They also clarify how entities use measurement
techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates.

The amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies — Amendments to IAS 1
and IFRS Practice Statement 2

The amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements provide guidance and examples to help entities
apply materiality judgements to accounting policy disclosures. The
amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures
that are more useful by replacing the requirement for entities to
disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to
disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and adding guidance on
how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about
accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments have had an impact on the Group’s disclosures
of accounting policies, but not on the measurement, recognition
or presentation of any items in the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction - Amendments to IAS 12

The amendments to IAS 12 /ncome Taxes narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exception, so that is no longer applies to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences
such as leases and decommissioning liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 Gt RIETEEE (5)
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DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction — Amendments to IAS 12 (Continued)

The amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

International Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules -
Amendments to IAS 12

The amendments to IAS 12 have been introduced in respond to the
OECD’s BEPS Pillar Two rules and include:

o A mandatory temporary exception to the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the jurisdictional
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules, and

° Disclosure requirements for affected entities to help users of the
financial statements better understand an entity’s exposure to
Pillar Two income taxes arising from that legislation, particularly
before its effective date.

The mandatory temporary exception — the use of which is required
to be disclosed — applies immediately. The remaining disclosure
requirements apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023, but not for any interim periods ending on or before 31
December 2023.

The amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements as the Group is not in scope of the Pillar Two model rules
as its annual revenue did not exceed the benchmark of the Pillar Two
model.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability
to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
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Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests; and any fair value of the Group’s previously held
equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference
is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities
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Fair value measurement (Continued)

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — Based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, deferred
tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Asset acquisition

Groups of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are assessed to
determine if they are business or asset acquisitions. On an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis, the Group chooses to apply a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is an
asset rather than business acquisition, when substantially all of the
fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. When a group
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed do not constitute a business,
the overall acquisition cost is allocated to the individual identifiable
assets and liabilities based on their relative fair values at the date
of acquisition. An exception is when the sum of the individual fair
values of the identifiable assets and liabilities differs from the overall
acquisition cost. In such case, any identifiable assets and liabilities
that are initially measured at an amount other than cost in accordance
with the Group’s policies are measured accordingly, and the residual
acquisition cost is allocated to the remaining identifiable assets and
liabilities based on their relative fair values at the date of acquisition.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.3 EXE:TBI% (&)

Related parties FAERH
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: FEUATERT » —HBEEAAREER
BER -

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family (@) BEAB—BALIZALZH
and that person: REYREKE » Mz AT :
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; () Rk AEE
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i HAEBEEATE X
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the (i) AREEKAEBETATH

Group or of a parent of the Group;

TEREBAEHER—HK

or 54
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions (b) ZAREBMEE TNAR—IA
applies: iRt

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group; () ZEREAEFEER-—%£E

ZKERT]

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (il ZEBRE XEREMEZE
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the NREHABELE(HE—K
other entity): EEMNTAR - MBAR

EEL=VNSI))

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same (i) ZEREAEEHYAR S
third party; =HIRGERE

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other (iv) RZRERAF-FEEMEE
entity is an associate of the third entity; P ME—KRELRAZ

E=AEBHEEAT
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies: (Continued)

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group; (If the Group is itself such a plan) and the
sponsoring employers of the post-employment benefit

plan;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced as intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value (nil
to 5% of cost) over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives
of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Plant and machinery 5 - 30 years
Motor vehicles 5-10 years
Office equipment 3 - 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Construction in progress represents items of property, plant and
equipment under construction, which are stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises the
direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowing funds during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful
lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are assessed
to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of an intangible
asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine whether events
and circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful life
assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for prospectively from
the date of change and in accordance with the policy for amortisation
of intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.
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China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Patents and licences

Registered patents and licences are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 10 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability
to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria
is expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(@)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Plant and office premises 2 to 30 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of
an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group elected to present lease liabilities separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets that are considered to
be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in other income in profit or loss due to its non-
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as other income in the
period in which they are earned.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor (Continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, are accounted for as
finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt
instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment
losses or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and computed in the
same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The
remaining fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition of
equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit
or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in the statement
of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a
recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such
gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are not
subject to impairment assessment.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.3 EXE5H%K(E)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also
recognised as other income in profit or loss when the right of payment
has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e.,
removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if,
and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership
of the assets. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”)
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the
original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months after the reporting
date (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime
ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 180 days past due. The Group has rebutted the 90
days past due presumption of default on reasonable and supportable
information, including the Group’s credit risks control practices and
the historical recovery rate of financial assets over 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R MY et

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following stages
for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract
assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component,
the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings, and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
borrowings and lease liabilities.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of the Group’s financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, the Group’s financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of
work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank over drafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of certain
products for general repairs of defects occurring during the warranty
period. Provisions for these assurance-type warranties granted by the
Group are recognised based on sales volume and past experience of
the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present values as
appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting

purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

2.3 EXERTEE ()

Fiis®i (&)

BERABRENABENEERBRLA
BEREENRERPERNRXEE
WRBER |REHRE BT HER L 5
FTROB R (RBUE)FTE -

EEASBEAAAERTENAISE M
MAREERENHBERERE  BET
BB A E EE A A B EF — A
R — R E BN ERKARESR
BARBEERAABREERTREER
BER - RIFREEEGEE NG A
BEREEXRAREREEREHEAEN
TRBRBERBWNAMSHER - AR
FERIRE E RS ARER T -

BIAFHHED

8 A B IRE R REBUT B - MATA
Bt R T T LA A - R (EME
RIRFFE - B HIBR AR
AIAE R RN L IR fH BY P ARG A A
5% 2 BEFERRBEA -

W@ rk—REE  AMERAFERLA
B R B MNER B ERTREIR] 2
RERPHZERAFECRBOEER
R RCEERREE P R A HIR
FERXHRERRER -

“RCEFFERE  PEEXFVAHERARAF

123



124

/

- NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R B 5

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the Group with a significant financial benefit for more than one year,
revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method.
For a contract where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.3 EXE5H%K(E)

Revenue recognition (Continued) U\ &R (&)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) KEEFELA s ()

(a)  Sale of goods (a) SHEEM
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in HEmMOREREEZTI#ES
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, BTEP 2 RKERE(—RARNE
generally on delivery of the goods. M) FERR o

(b) Installation contracts (b)) ZEELD
When the outcome of a installation contract can be estimated ELRENNE R -G
reliably, revenue from a fixed price contract is recognised using REBEEEREGNNBERAR
the percentage of completion method, measured by reference RAENB D LER W EiL
to the percentage of contract costs incurred to date to the SEERNEGHKARNESG N B4R
estimated total contract costs for the contracts. BRIRANBEDLETE ©
When the outcome of a installation contract cannot be estimated EREAGNNERTET SRR
reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs e WMEREES LKA E A B
incurred that it is probable will be recoverable U Bl Y150 T 77 T AR o

Other income E A

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective FIBIR AR EETEE  WHABEHmT

interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the BEEFTFHAA (il A VB2 BAf ) (st

estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial RRWEBHRSTRESMEERETF

instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying ENREE IR RUERFSEER -

amount of the financial asset.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease AW AZRE L HIERERRER -
terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a AEUR R Bsk F & 69 0] 0 &R R
rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they SETHMEERERARA -

are incurred.

CECSHREERE NESETMRERERAT 125



126

/

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R B 5

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. A contract liability would
also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).

For disclosure purpose, contract liabilities are included in accruals and
other payables in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services as consideration
for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The
fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in note 27 to the financial statements.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but
without an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless
there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that

all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair
value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for
the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on
the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Other employee benefits
(a)  Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China
are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local government. These subsidiaries and their employees
are required to make monthly contributions calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ wages and salaries, subject to
certain ceilings and local practices set by the relevant local
governments, to the central pension scheme. Other than the
central pension scheme, the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland
China have no legal obligation for retirement benefits beyond the
contributions made. Contributions to these plans are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central pension scheme. The employer contributions
vest fully once made.

(b)  Housing fund

Contributions to a defined contribution housing fund
administered by the Public Accumulation Funds Administration
Centre in Mainland China are charged to profit or loss as
incurred.
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised.
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by
the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
Directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they
are proposed and declared. In the event that the interim dividends
are paid out of the share premium account, shareholders’ approval
at an extraordinary general meeting is needed. When these interim
dividends have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they
are recognised as a liability.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 e Y oE

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB. The functional
currency of the Company is HK$. The Group’s presentation currency
is RMB because the Group’s principal operations are carried out in
Mainland China. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in these financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit

or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date
of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment
or receipt of the advance consideration.
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China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statement of profits or losses are translated into RMB at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting transaction exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve, except to the extent that the differences are attributable
to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.

2.4 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS AND

RESTATEMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Zhuhai New Materials (the
“Recipient”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, received
official notice (the “Notice”) from the local government in respect of
withdrawal of two government subsidies granted during the year ended
31 December 2019.

Based on the re-evaluation of the captioned government grants and
the circumstances encountered by the local government, the directors
of the Company considered it appropriate to make adjustments to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the years ended
31 December 2022 and before, and consequently prior period
adjustments were recorded by the Group in respect of the following
matters:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R B 5t

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.4 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS AND
RESTATEMENTS (Continued)

(i)

Withdrawal of government grant amounted to
RMB720,000

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the local government
approved and announced its funding arrangement to the
Recipient to support the research and development of a project,
namely “Preparation and Industrial Application of Thermoelectric
Liquid Crystal Color Changing Dimming Materials Based on
Bidirectional Dyes” (the “Project”). The total funding amount
of the Project amounted to RMB8&,000,000, RMB720,000 of
which was granted by the end of 2019. The RMB720,000 was
recognised in its entirety in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019.

Due to the persistent impact of COVID-19, the Recipient
applied for termination for the Project during the year ended 31
December 2022, after performing a cost-benefit analysis. The
RMB720,000 was subsequently repaid to the local government
in 2023.

In accordance with IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants
and Disclosure of Government Assistance, government grants
are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. Meanwhile, when the grant
relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed. The directors of the
Company consider that the prior period consolidated financial
statements should be adjusted.

As a result of this prior period adjustment, total reversal of other
income of RMB720,000 and total liability of RMB720,000 were
adjusted and included in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.4 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS AND 2.4 BEYEREREHRZT
RESTATEMENTS (Continued) (#&)

(i) Withdrawal of government grant amounted to (i) Yo AEK%1,032,0005TH)

RMB1,032,000

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the local government
launched a “Reimbursement of Unemployment Insurance
Scheme” (the “Scheme”) to ensure that the affected enterprises
as defined in relevant regulations (“Qualifying Entity”) could
continue their operations without significant curtailment.
RMB1,032,000 was granted to the Recipient and recognised
in its entirety in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019.

However, in 2023, a governmental audit on the Scheme
revealed that the Recipient was not a Qualifying Entity while
RMB1,032,000 has been unintentionally granted. The local
government notified the Recipient and required that the
RMB1,032,000 be repaid within 10 days of the notification.
Consequently, the amount has been repaid to the local
government in 2023.

In accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, The directors of the Company
consider that the prior period consolidated financial statements
should be adjusted.

As a result of this prior period adjustment, total reversal of other
income of RMB1,032,000 and total liability of RMB1,032,000
were adjusted and included in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The effects of the above adjustments on the consolidated
financial statements are summarised in note 2.4(iii) below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R A MY et

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.4 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS AND
RESTATEMENTS (Continued)

(iii) The effects of restatements described above on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 are as follows:

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended 31 December 2019

2.4 %%ii)ﬂﬂ%ﬁ%lﬁ%&i%ﬁiﬂ

(iii) LREHEINHNBE_T
—hE ZBBER-TE
——#+-“H=+—HL%E

EHSFESMBRRMTZEN

T :

BE_F-NFIT-_HA=1—H
IFFEAEE B KA M2 E K

-
As previously

reported Prior period adjustments Restated

RERIZR BT EEAR mE5

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETT

(i) (i)
Revenue A 148,034 = = 148,034
Cost of sales SHERAKR (89,052) - - (89,052)
Gross profit 7 58,982 - - 58,982
Other income and gains Hi A R 5,897 (720) (1,032) 4,145
Selling and distribution expenses  $4& & 7 #5575 (9,587) - - (9,587)
Administrative expenses TEREY (22,636) = = (22,636)
Impairment loss on trade B S RN IBR EEE

receivables (7,779) - - (7,779)
Interest expenses MEZH (482) - - (482)
Finance costs BB (3,227) = = (3,227)
Profit before tax EEnpaed] 21,118 (720) (1,032) 19,366
Income tax expense FERET (2,605) - - (2,605)
Profit for the year KEERF 18,513 (720) (1,032) 16,761
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.4 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS AND
RESTATEMENTS (Continued)

(iii) The effects of restatements described above on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 are as follows:
(Continued)

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended 31 December 2019
(Continued)

As previously

2.4 BiEHEREREHRZS

(4

%E)

=

(i) EREHRENHNRBEE=FT

—hE ZTF-BFER-T
——F+ZA=+—HL%F
ENZSMBHROMEW
T (&)

BE_F-NFIT-_HA=1—H
IFFRAEE B KA M2 E K
zk (&)

reported Prior period adjustments Restated
RERNZR B HEAR g
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT
(i) (ii)
Other comprehensive income: 2 EKi%s :
Other comprehensive income T e R E B ERIERT
that may be reclassified to SR AR A2 E
profit or loss in subsequent Yoz -
periods:
Exchange difference on BENKRRCELESR
translation of financial
statements 1,315 - - 1,315
Total comprehensive income FEERENEEE
for the year 19,828 (720) (1,032) 18,076
Profit attributable to: AT ARG :
Equity shareholders of the ARRERRR
Company 18,221 (720) (1,032) 16,469
Non-controlling interests iR 292 = = 292
18,513 (720) (1,032) 16,761
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R A MY et

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.4 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS AND 2.4 BEHEREREHRZ5
RESTATEMENTS (Continued) (%&)
(iii) The effects of restatements described above on the (i) LREHEINEHNRBE=F
consolidated financial statements for the year ended —hE - ZFB-FBEFR=-F
31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 are as follows: ——F+-A=+—H1t#F
(Continued) ENGFESMBRFTNEM
T (&)
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other BE—_F—NF+-_A=+—H
Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 IFFFRAR A B RE M2 K
(Continued) i (#)

As previously

reported Prior period adjustments Restated
REAZR BAHEHEE g
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETTT ARETT
(i) (ii)

Total comprehensive income T ARG 2 mEE

attributable to: Foki
Equity shareholders of the ARFERBRR

Company 19,536 (720) (1,032) 17,784
Non-controlling interests FEiES 292 = = 292
19,828 (720) (1,032) 18,076

Earnings per share BREF
Basic and diluted HEAR#E RMB AR RMBAR®
0.0367T - - 0.0327T
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.4 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS AND
RESTATEMENTS (Continued)

(iii) The effects of restatements described above on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 are as follows:
(Continued)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December
2019

As previously

2.4 %%ii)ﬂﬂ%ﬁ%lﬁ%&i%ﬁi?ﬂ
(i) EREFEIIHRBE=T
—nE - ZB-BER-E
——%+-A=+-HiL%
ENEAMBRRNREN
F: ()

R-E—NF+-HA=+—HK
A BAEE

reported Prior period adjustments Restated
BERIZ B ERAR mE7|
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARET ARETT
(i) (i)
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plantand equipment %1% « BERRE 67,183 = = 67,183
Equity investment at FVTOCI BERATEF AL
2HEKRZERRE 5,000 = = 5,000
Prepayments BIFUE 15,116 = = 15,116
Deferred tax assets FEERMEEE 3,195 = = 3,195
Right-of-use assets FTREEE 8,058 = = 8,058
Goodwill EES 6,448 - - 6,448
Total non-current assets ERBEEEE 105,000 = = 105,000
Current assets RENEE
Inventories FE 19,231 = = 19,231
Trade and bills receivables RWE SR ENEE 131,652 = = 131,652
Prepayments, deposits and BN - e REMEK
other receivables OB 18,747 - - 18,747
Financial assets at FVTPL RATEFNERZ
SREE 5,000 - - 5,000
Pledged deposits BEAER 12,538 - - 12,538
Cash and cash equivalents ReMBREEEY 26,932 = = 26,932
Total current assets REEESE 214,100 - - 214,100

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R A MY et

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.4 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS AND 2.4 BEHREREREHZY

RESTATEMENTS (Continued) (&)

(iii) The effects of restatements described above on the (i) LREH2INENEBE_F
consolidated financial statements for the year ended —hE - ZFB-FBEFR=-F
31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 are as follows: ——%+=-H=+—H1%
(Continued) ENSGaMBRIRNIEm

T (8

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December RZFE—NF+-A=+—HH
2019 (Continued) A MBI ()

As previously

reported Prior period adjustments Restated
RERZH BESMAR BE]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETTT ARETT ARBTT
(i) (ii)

Current liabilities RBaRE
Trade payables B ARATUR 19,186 = = 19,186
Accruals and other payables [EEHE R R EMENTUR 29,791 = 1,032 30,823
Lease liabilities HEaRE 1,738 = = 1,738
Provision for product warranties S E IR & 583 = = 583
Tax payable FERTHIR 4,346 = = 4,346
Total current liabilities REAEEE 55,644 = 1,032 56,676
Net current assets REEEFE 158,456 = (1,032) 157,424
Total assets less current BEERRDAR

liabilities 263,456 - (1,032) 262 424
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/ NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R MY et

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.4 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS AND
RESTATEMENTS (Continued)

(iii) The effects of restatements described above on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 are as follows:

2.4 BENEREREHZT
(%)

(i) LREFSIHRBEE=F
—hE “B-BER-T
——%+-A=+—HiL#

(Continued) ENSESMBRRMBZEM
T (&)
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December RZFE-—NFL+ZH=1+—HH
2019 (Continued) IEA BT ()
As previously
reported Prior period adjustments Restated
RERZH BEHEAR E5
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTL AREFT AREFTT
(i) (i)
Non-current liabilities El )| =0
Lease liabilities HEARE 6,656 = = 6,656
Deferred income EEWA 6,869 720 = 7,589
Total non-current liabilities =] 13,525 720 = 14,245
Net assets FEE 249,931 (720) (1,032) 248,179
Capital and reserves BARGE
Issued capital BEITRA 35,415 = = 35,415
Reserves &t 209,049 (720) (1,032) 207,297
Total equity attributable to FATEBRFE G EES
equity shareholders of the
Company 244 464 (720) (1,032) 242,712
Non-controlling interests FEIER S 5,467 = = 5,467
Total equity s 249,931 (720) (1,032) 248,179
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R A MY et

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.4 %%ii)ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%lﬁ?é&i%ﬁiﬂ

2.4 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS AND
RESTATEMENTS (Continued)

(i) EREHRENHNBEE=TFT
—hFE -ZBZFFR-TF

(iii) The effects of restatements described above on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended

31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 are as follows: ——f+=-BA=+—HILF
(Continued) ENSGaMBRIRNIEm
T: (&)

R-_E-FF+ - FH=+—HK
A BAEE

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December
2020

As previously

reported Prior period adjustments Restated
BEA25R BESERAE LE3)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
(i) (i)
Non-current assets kREEE
Property, plantand equipment %1% BEL&E 73,074 = = 73,074
Equity investment at FVTOCI BEEATE AL
FERG  ERRE 5,000 = = 5,000
Prepayments SENE O 1,754 = = 1,754
Deferred tax assets FEEMEEE 3,762 = = 3,762
Right-of-use assets FREEE 6,319 = = 6,319
Goodwill GES 6,448 - - 6,448
Total non—current assets FRENEEEE 96,357 = = 96,357
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 26,479 = = 26,479
Trade and bills receivables EWE SZERERER 145,146 = = 145,146
Prepayments, deposits and BN BeREME
other receivables WsiaE 29,728 = = 29,728
Pledged deposits BIERBER 10,054 = = 10,054
Cash and cash equivalents BeRALEEY 8,293 = = 8293
Total current assets mEEESE 219,700 - - 219,700
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B R R MY et

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.4 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS AND 2.4 BEHREREREHZY

RESTATEMENTS (Continued) (&)

(iii) The effects of restatements described above on the (i) LREH2INENEBE_"F
consolidated financial statements for the year ended —hE - ZFB-FEFR=-F
31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 are as follows: ——f+=-BA=+—HILF
(Continued) ENSGSMBRIRNI 2

T (&)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December R-IFE-ZFF+—HA=+—HH
2020 (Continued) AR (&)

As previously

reported Prior period adjustments Restated
RERZH BAHREE ]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT ARBTR ARETR ARETT
(i) (ii)

Current liabilities REaR

Trade payables B SREAHE 22,909 = = 22,909
Accruals and other payables Rt 2R R At FE 37,086 = 1,032 338,118
Lease liabilities HEGRE 2,803 = = 2,303
Provision for product warranties mEREE 737 = = 737
Tax payable iR 1913 = = 1913
Total current liabilities ok =R 65,448 = 1,032 66,480
Net current assets REEEFE 154,252 = (1,032) 153,220
Total assets less current liabilities @B ERREEF 250,609 = (1,032) 249,577
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.4 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS AND
RESTATEMENTS (Continued)

(iii) The effects of restatements described above on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 are as follows:

2.4 %%ii)ﬂﬂ%ﬁ%lﬁ%&i%ﬁiﬂ

(i) EREHRENHNBEE=TFT
—hFE -ZBZFFR-TF
——F+-“A=t+—HIL%F

(Continued) ENSSMBRRMBZEM
T (&)
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December R-ZFE-ZFFL-—H=4+—HH
2020 (Continued) AR (4E)
As previously
reported Prior period adjustments Restated
REARZR BAHREE ]
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT AREFT AREFL
(i) (if)
Non—current liabilities knEaR
Lease liabilities HEakE 4922 = = 4,922
Deferred income ERMA 4,235 720 = 4,955
Total non-current liabilities ERBAREE 9,157 720 = 9,877
Net assets FEE 241,452 (720) (1,032) 239,700
Capital and reserves BXRfkE
Issued capital BERITRA 35,415 = = 35415
Reserves i 201,093 (720) (1,032) 199,341
Total equity attributable to equity A SIERIRERESEHELR
shareholders of the Company 236,508 (720) (1,032) 234,756
Non-controlling interests JEERE R 4,944 = = 4,944
Total equity s 241,452 (720) (1,032) 239,700
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R MY et

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.4 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS AND
RESTATEMENTS (Continued)

(iii) The effects of restatements described above on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended

2.4 BiEHEREREHRZS

(48)

(i) EREHRENHNRBEE=FT
—hFE -ZBFFR-F

31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 are as follows:
(Continued)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December
2021

As previously

——$+=-A=+—HI#E
EMEEMBRROEM

TF: &)

R-ZFE-Z—F+-H=4+—HH
A BAEE

reported Prior period adjustments Restated
REA2R BESERAE ]
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETT NS
(i) (i)
Non-current assets kREEE
Property, plantand equipment %1% BEL&E 70,314 = = 70,314
Equity investment at FVTOCI BEEATEHALLZE
W EmRE 5,000 - - 5,000
Prepayments B 367 = = 367
Deferred tax assets EEMEEE 6,902 = = 6,902
Right-of-use assets FREEE 12,390 = = 12,390
Goodwill HE 7,165 - - 7,165
Total non—current assets FREEELEE 102,138 = = 102,138
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 24.048 = = 24,048
Trade and bills receivables ERESFRNEUFE 138,987 - - 138,987
Prepayments, deposits and BER - ke REMER
other receivables B 24,038 - - 24,038
Pledged deposits [REZRTIER 297 S = 297
Cash and cash equivalents ReRB2EEY 26,757 - - 26,757
Total current assets REEESE 214,127 - - 214,127
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R A MY et

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.4 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS AND
RESTATEMENTS (Continued)

(iii) The effects of restatements described above on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 are as follows:

2.4 BEYEREREHZT
(%)

(i) LREFSIHRBE"F
—hE —B-BER"-T
——%#+-A=+—HiL#

(Continued) ENSSMBRRMBZEM
T (&)
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December R-ZFE-—F+—A=+—HH
2021 (Continued) AR (4E)
As previously
reported Prior period adjustments Restated
RERZH BEHERER ey
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTL AREFT ARETFT
(i) (i)
Current liabilities RBaRE
Trade payables B ARATUR 40,084 = = 40,084
Accruals and other payables [EEHE R R EMENTUR 34,793 = 1,032 35,825
Lease liabilities HEaRE 1,992 = = 1,992
Provision for product warranties S E IR & 1,169 = = 1,169
Tax payable FER A 1,962 = = 1,962
Total current liabilities RBaEEE 80,000 = 1,032 81,032
Net current assets REEEFE 134,127 = (1,032) 133,095
Total assets less current BEERRDAR
liabilities 236,265 - (1,032) 235,233

“RCEFFERE  PEEXFVAHERARAF 145



/

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

2.4 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS AND 2.4 BEHREREREHZY

RESTATEMENTS (Continued) (&)

(iii) The effects of restatements described above on the (i) LREH2INENEBE_"F
consolidated financial statements for the year ended —hE - ZFB-FEFR=-F
31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 are as follows: ——f+=-BA=+—HILF
(Continued) ENSGSMBRIRNI 2

T (&)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December R-ZFE-—F+—FA=+—HH
2021 (Continued) AR (&)

As previously

reported Prior period adjustments Restated
REAZR BESMAR KE]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT
(i) (ii)

Non-current liabilities =0
Lease liabilities HEarE 10,997 - - 10,997
Deferred income EEWA 3,029 720 = 3,749
Total non—current liabilities =] 14,026 720 = 14,746
Net assets FEE 222,239 (720) (1,032) 220,487
Capital and reserves ARk
Issued capital BRIRA 35415 . 2 35415
Reserves e 182,281 (720) (1,032) 180,529
Total equity attributable to FATIEBR R GRS

equity shareholders of the

Company 217,696 (720) (1,032) 215,944
Non-controlling interests R 4,543 = = 4,543
Total equity R 222,239 (720) (1,032) 220,487
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, which
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the
value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2023 was
RMB6,448,000 (2022: RMB6,448,000). Further details are given in
note 16 to the financial statements.
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China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on ageing for groupings
of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by
customer type and profile).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust
the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecasted economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
products) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can
lead to an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecasted economic conditions and ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and forecasted economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit
loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not
be representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is
disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 e Y oE

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Leases — estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”)
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a
similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The
IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when it
needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market
interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-
specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in Mainland China are subject to
PRC CIT. As a result of the fact that certain matters relating to PRC CIT
have not been confirmed by the relevant local tax authorities, objective
estimates based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations and other
related policies are required in determining the provision for PRC CIT
to be made. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts originally recorded, the differences will impact the
income tax and tax provision in the period in which the final outcome is
determined. The carrying amount of PRC CIT payable at 31 December
2023 was RMB1,951,000 (2022: RMB1,960,000).
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China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of property,
plant and equipment, the Group has to consider various factors, such
as technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or
improvements in production, or from a change in the market demand
for the product or service output of the asset, expected usage of the
asset, expected physical wear and tear, the care and maintenance
of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. The
estimation of the useful life of the asset is based on the experience
of the Group with similar assets that are used in a similar way. The
depreciation amount will be adjusted if the estimated useful lives
and/or the residual values of items of property, plant and equipment
are different from the previous estimation. Useful lives and residual
values are reviewed at each financial year end date taking into account
changes in circumstances. The carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment at 31 December 2023 was RMB66,904,000 (2022:
RMB69,458,000).

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of selling products of a
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes in
customers’ interests or competitor actions. Management reassesses
these estimates at the end of each reporting period. There was no
impairment provision for inventories as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R A MY et

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets should be recognised when it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the deferred tax assets
can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. The net carrying amount of
deferred tax assets at 31 December 2023 was RMB16,739,000 (2022:
RMB8&,215,000). Further details are given in note 14 to the financial
statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION AND
REVENUE

Operating segment information

The Group’s revenue and contribution to consolidated results are
mainly derived from its sale of ITO Film, Smart PDLC products,
LED Display and Projection System, which are regarded as a single
reportable segment in a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s senior management
for the purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.
In addition, the principal assets employed by the Group are located in
Mainland China. Accordingly, no segment analysis is presented other
than entity-wide disclosures.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION AND 4. EEFBERBEAN (B)
REVENUE (Continued)
Operating segment information (Continued) JESBEE (B)
Entity-wide disclosures: BEERARIMEE
Geographical information I/ EHY
Non-current assets EREBEE
2023 2022
—TC-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT %  AREFIT %
Mainland China ey N 74,802 100.00 86,077 100.00
Hong Kong BE - - - -
74,802 100.00 86,077 100.00
The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of FHIERBEEER DEREENAML
the assets and excludes financial instruments and deferred tax assets. B BETBEESRIANETEFHFESR
o
Information about major customers FRAEXEERNER
Revenue from major customers, which amounted to 10% or more of KEBEIUNALZEE10% KA FHEER
the total revenue, is set out below: FPRUWALNT :
2023
RMB’000
AREFT
Customer A EPA 12,202
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION AND
REVENUE (Continued)

Information about major customers (Continued)

No individual major customers contributed 10% or more of the total
group revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022.

EENMER RN ()

AREEERMEH (F)

HE-_T-_—_F+=-A=

+T—RIF

- BEERNEZEFREMASERK

A 10% A L ©

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: HAEBEPAHSTAT
2023 2022
—ES-=f —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
Revenue from contracts with REEFPELHMIRA
customers 85,353 78,057
Revenue from contracts with customers RKEBEESHHKA
(a)  Disaggregated revenue information (a) SEUWAEH
2023 2022
—B-=f ot St =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFTT
Type of goods or services B mE RS AR
Sales of ITO Film HEITOEER 26,910 35,738
Smart PDLC products BEEFNEM 48,943 35,399
LED Display and Projection LED B TR RIEF RE
system 258 31
Sales of other products SHEEMEM 9,242 6,889
Total revenue from contracts REBFALOMNKRALLRTE
with customers 85,353 78,057
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION AND 4., HEBERBUN (E)
REVENUE (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) KEEESHHKA (B)
(a)  Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) ZHERAEH (&)
Geographical market o [& 5
Revenue from external customers REINEPEFHURA
2023 2022
—gC-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Domestic — Mainland China* A — A KR * 58,626 61,079
Others Hih 26,727 16,978

Total revenue from contracts REFFALONKRALLEE

with customers 85,353 78,057
2 The place of domicile of the Group’s principal operating subsidiary * AEEBXELENBRRAER
is Mainland China. The principal revenue of the Group is T APBIARE - AEBEME
generated in Mainland China. BWAEE B R REABE o
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION AND REDEEEIRUN ()
REVENUE (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) KEEESHHKA (E)
(a)  Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) FDHERAEH (&)
Timing of revenue recognition IR AR 2 By ]
2023 2022
—B-=F kSt =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTT ARETTT
Goods transferred ata pointin R —FFEShEE 7 M
time 83,645 73,831
Services transferred over time R— BB AEE 2 R 1,708 4,226
Total revenue from contracts REBEFALOMKRALRTE
with customers 85,353 78,057

The amount of revenue from the sale of goods recognised in the
current year that was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year amounted to RMB1,213,000 (note 22).

“RCEFFERE  PEEXFVAHERARAF

FMNFAAGHNABYRAFE
BRANHEARBEESARE

1,213,000 7t (Ft5E 22) °
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BT R B 5

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION AND
REVENUE (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
goods and payment is generally due within one to six months
from delivery, except for small and new customers, where
payment is normally expected to be settled shortly after the
delivery of goods.

Installation services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due upon completion of
installation and customer acceptance, except for new customers,
where payment in advance is normally required.

At 31 December 2023, the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) were expected to be
recognised within one year. As permitted under IFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

5. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5. HWA Rz - iF8R
An analysis of other income and gains, net is as follows: A A RS - SFREATOT ¢
2023 2022
ot 3 ke Stk 2
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT
Written-off for trade payables FLE Z E FIE M - 942
Written-off for other payables S EL At FE 5 SRR 35 2,000 3,400
Rental income LA 935 2,590
Deferred income released to profitor B EIBZSAVIREIES
loss (note 25) (F43E25)
— related to assets - mEERH 497 496
— related to expenses - HAXEH - 992
Government grants* ERATHE D * 824 161
Bank interest income RITHLEHA 170 237
Gain on bargain purchase from REKE—RWHBEBARWD
acquisition of a subsidiary EEWEKES (FE29)
(note 29) - 618
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME - BEMRERES
and equipment 21 778
Gain on rights transferred under IRR BRI S S 2E RIS 1657885
IFRS 16 FORE A U 2 322 -
Others Hith 26 141
4,795 10,355
* There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these * BHEE BZ S H R R ERIE ek
grants. RNEH o
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX 6. BR¥BiRIESHE
Loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the following BREBRTE R D& (GFA) AT &
items: 18 :
2023 2022
—E-=F T —F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BiEE ARETRT AREETFIT
Cost of sales HEKA 62,868 66,166
Employee benefit expenses (including EE@AHX
directors’ and chief executive’s (BREZRITHERE
remuneration (note 8): B <) (FI3ES) -
Wages and salaries TENRH® 11,164 14,399
Pension scheme contributions RIS FT B 648 295
Reversal of equity-settled share ol s 4 B B AR i
option expense, net X - R 27 (337) (968)
11,475 13,726
Amortisation of intangible assets mILEEBE 16 3 3
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - REREEITE
equipment 12 10,203 10,146
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 15(a) 1,017 2,246
Research costs T FER A 6,601 4,431
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEGEAEN
measurement of lease liabilities HEFE 15(c) 1,102 21
Auditor’s remuneration ZEET B2 800 800
Impairment loss on goodwill EESDERET 2! 16 = 717
Impairment loss on trade receivables & 5 UG IERIEE B 18 45,212 831
Impairment loss on prepayment, TENFIE - RE Rk
deposits and other receivables E b FEGRIE B B 18 4,860 4,330
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary BE B ARNER 30 = 142
Gain on bargain purchase from R’ E YRS — R B A F)
acquisition of a subsidiary KRB E W 29 - (618)
Gain on disposal of items of property, — HEWE  HE L&
plant and equipment 18§ e (21) (778)
Product warranty provision EmERER 24 466 1,032
Foreign exchange gains, net PE 5 e - SRR (208) (127)
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

7. FINANCE COSTS AU R A
2023 2022
—®'-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT

Interest expenses on: THFIENF B

Borrowings BE 1,804 994
Lease liabilities HERE 266 459
2,070 1,453

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM,
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

ESRITHERME

RIBEGEM FE 5 TR - BB A RNES
£383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ () R () FER AR (]
BEENDER)ROIE 2 BPRENARF

EEZERITHAHGTMNT

2023 2022

—E=H T —F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREFTT

Fees e 996 979

Other emoluments: Eie -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in e R REYA &

kind 804 713

Pension scheme contributions RIRET SR - =

804 713

1,800 1,692

SRISESFERE  TEEXHMMAHERBRAR
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. ESRITBUEEMN: (&)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIAFERITESE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the FRINTFEBILIERITEEZH
year were as follows: &M
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT
Dr. Li Ling iE L 136 129
Ms. Pan Jianli EEBL LT 136 129
Mr. Pan Jianguo BRI E 109 103
381 361
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent RENTEENEIIFRATES
non-executive directors during the year (2022: Nil). ZEME (T _—F : &|&) -
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) BITEBRIERITES
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration
& - ERY BH®E

& HFlz= sHEIfRR b
RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTET ARETR AR®TT ARETR

2023 —BC=HF
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Zhang Chao @ SREBSEAE 217 - - 217
Mr. Du Peng @ Mg E® 217 578 = 795
Mr. Nie Yuanzhou @ R M S E 181 226 = 407
Mr. Zhu Xuping (i KRG o @ - - - -
615 804 - 1,419
Non-executive director: IEBMITES -
Mr. Zhou Qing ¥ BExREY = = — —
615 804 - 1,419
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERITHAERMNE (&)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) BITEERIEBITESE (B)
(Continued)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind  contributions remuneration
E e = : ) BIRE

e REYM® BE SN oA
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARKETT ARBTE ARETT

2022 —Eg-CF
Executive directors: WITES :
Mr. Zhang Chao @ RERSCHED 206 = = 206
Mr. Du Peng @ PSS E® 206 478 = 684
Mr. Nie Yuanzhou ® ERM A 206 235 = 441
618 713 - 1,331
Non-executive directors: IEBMITES -
Mr. Zhou Qing BABRLEW = = = =
Mr. Liu Hongwei ™ RAT S = = = =
618 713 - 1,331
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BT R B 5

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Executive directors and non-executive directors
(Continued)

()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Mr. Zhang Chao was appointed on 25 January 2021.

Mr. Du Peng and Mr. Nie Yuanzhou who act as executive directors
of the Company were appointed on 25 January 2021. Mr. Nie
Yuanzhou resigned as the executive director and the chief
financial officer of the Company on 17 October 2023.

Mr. Zhu Xuping who acts as an executive director and chief
financial officer of the Company was appointed on 17 October
2023.

Mr. Liu Hongwei received remuneration from the Group’s holding
company, in respect of his services to the larger group which
includes the Company and its subsidiaries. No apportionment
has been made as the qualifying services provided by the
director to the Company and its subsidiaries are incidental to his
responsibilities to the larger group. Mr. Liu Hongwei resigned as a
non-executive director on 11 April 2022.

Mr. Zhou Qing who acts as a non-executive director of the
Company was appointed on 11 April 2022.
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8. EERIT

BEWE (5)

(b) BITEFERIIEHITES (B)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

RBEENR-_ZE-_—F—A
—t+RAERE-

MBS EERBRMNEER-T
——F—A-t+hAEZEA
RRARPITES - MEMEAE
RZEFEZ=F+AT+tHEME
RARITE S R ISHRE -

REFEER_T_=F1+A
HEAREARARNTES
RIS BE -
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.

The five highest paid employees during the year included 2 directors
(2022: 2 directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining three (2022: three)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive
of the Company during the year are as follows:

AfimEHiES

FRN AfUGEeRHEEBEMLES
(ZZ2=—F  MuER) ' GHEFH
HEHR EXHES FRN - AN =ML
(ZZE-—F: =) FARAEER
FITHRHN RS HEESNEHIFIEN
T

2023 2022
—E-=%f T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in e ERREYAIE
kind 776 1,199
Pension scheme contributions RIREET B - -
776 1,199

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid

5 BN B R SF E B e SFTT AR AR

employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as SHEENHENAT
follows:
Number of employees
EEAE
2023 2022
—E|-=F T F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,0007%7C 3 3

SRISESFERE  TEEXHMMAHERBRAR
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10. INCOME TAX 10. Fii5#i

RAEEREHEARNERZROMT

The major components of income tax credit for the year are as follows:

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT

Current tax — Mainland China EHAIE - P EKRE
Provision for the year FERE 44 _
Deferred tax (note 14) RETIA (H5E 14) (8,524) (1,313)
Total tax credit for the year FENIBR R AR (8,480) (1,313)

UAEEHRHATER - RARBEARZ
REIEZ AAEERMAERBXE
MTER R - REAEEERVRGTE

A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax at the
applicable tax rates for the jurisdictions in which companies within the
Group are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as

follows: MRIBEMAY - MELHEREOT :
2023 2022
—E|C-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREEFIT
Loss before tax PR A 18 (50,836) (14,824)
Tax at the applicable tax rates BEABRETEZRIE (6,532) (2,309)
Tax losses utilised from previous year @B FEEH 2 FHIEEIE (139) (73)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BRURAZ Big 2 (407) (467)
Tax effect of additional tax deduction B EHEAFIERLAFTE £ RSN IE
for research cost incurred MRz g2 (702) =
Expenses not deductible for tax AR ER X 163 24
Recognition of deferred tax previously — WERR4E R RIERER 2 LT IA
not recognised (953) -
Tax losses where deferred tax assets ~ IEIERIIBEE AR
not recognised ZBIEEE 20 1,512
Tax credit at the Group’s effective tax ~— EANEBEER B R H
rate IR S (8,480) (1,313)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R B 5t

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

11.

Notes:

(a)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in Bermuda. Losses incurred by the Company
during the year mainly consist of remuneration of directors and fees paid
for professional services. These expenses are not expected to be tax
deductible.

During the year, Zhuhai New Materials was entitled to a preferential
PRC CIT rate of 15% as it is accredited as “High and New Technology
Enterprise” (“HNTE") from 28 November 2018 to 28 November 2021
and renewed on 20 December 2021 for a period of three years until
2024. Shenzhen Kangsheng was entitled to a preferential PRC CIT rate of
15% as it is accredited as HNTE from 9 December 2019 to 9 December
2022 and renewed for a period of three years until 2025.

The applicable CIT rate for the other PRC incorporated subsidiaries was
25% during the year.

The applicable CIT rate for Hong Kong incorporated subsidiaries was
16.5% during the year. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made as these Hong Kong incorporated subsidiaries incurred tax losses
during this year.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on the

loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the year
of RMB39,779,000 (2022: RMB13,098,000), and the number of
ordinary shares of 520,000,000 (2022: number of ordinary shares of
520,000,000) in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amount in

respect of a dilution as the exercise price of the Company’s outstanding

4,360,000 share options was higher than the average market price of

the Company’s shares for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
5,100,000 share options).

10. FIfE#L (58)

11.

BfAE

(a) REBEBRENERER AEEEA
BRBRENERMAEHR - ARER
REERNELAZEBRIEREESH
BB EERBINOER - ZEH
XA T AR

(b) FANG HRKEFMBE=ZZ—N\F
+—A-+tN\BE-ZE-—%+—#
ZtHtN\BHERER I BMEE]
(T dz])  EAEZH15%
WEBTRBEPEMEHRTE  WER
—E—F+AZ+HEE " »H
=F HEZZ-MNFALL - HRF
JRERE_ZE-—NF+ZANBEZ
T _FTZANBEREASITIE
% YEE=-FE_T_R1FA
I EBAEZHE15%MESFRME
FRGRITR o

© FR- EMRHEEMKZOME R
AREREEMSHER25%

d  RAFE - NEBEMKZOMNER
AHERDEMBHER16.5% ° @
RS BB MASL B A BN A
FREERBAER  RAUBELEEF
BUiEHRRE -

;E’Ailﬁﬁﬂﬁiﬂﬁ‘lﬁ BixE
i}

FREABESHEREAABERSR
BRFE AN R B 1B A R 539,779,000
T(ZEFE=Z=—F: AR¥13,098,000
) UERAEECHTEBREE
520,000,000f% (ZZF ==& : EL@ARE
B 520,000,000 f%) 5+ & -

HREBE-_ZE-_=F+-A=+—H1t
FEARF 4,360,000 (T ==

5,100,000 17 FE R4 ) 18 RAT R FE AR 1 2
TEESRAQRRN 2 FHHE -
BERESHERANBESBEIELS

= o
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% - BERERE
31 December 2023 —®¥-=%+=HA=+—H
Plant and Motor Office Construction
machinery vehicles equipment in progress Total
B EREE RE OHMARE 2 EEIR ast

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000
AREFT ARBTRE ARETR AR®TRT ARETR

At 1 January 2023: RZZEZ=F
—A—8:
Cost BN 139,491 933 466 5,015 145,905
Accumulated deprecation RETE (75,405) (827) (215) = (76,447)
Net carrying amount BREFE 64,086 106 251 5,015 69,458
At 1 January 2023, net of RZEZ=F—H—
accumulated depreciation B WREFHTE 64,086 106 251 5,015 69,458
Additions NE 2,237 - 6 5,780 8,023
Depreciation provided for the year AEEIFTERE (10,098) (15) (90) - (10,203)
Disposals, net of accumulated HE - R RTITE
depreciation (374) - - - (374)
At 31 December 2023 i ——
+=-A=+—8 55,851 91 167 10,795 66,904
At 31 December 2023: RZEZ=F
+-A=+-H
Cost BXAR 139,386 933 465 10,795 151,579
Accumulated depreciation ZENE (83,535) (842) (298) - (84,675)
Net carrying amount IREFE 55,851 91 167 10,795 66,904
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

31 December 2022

12. ¥ - FERaRE (E)

T —F+-A=+—H

Plant and Motor Office  Construction
machinery vehicles  equipment  in progress Total
RS Bt es bk NS TERTR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®TT ARBTT
At 1 January 2022: e =
—R—8:
Cost [BEN 132,250 4,784 375 1,702 139,111
Accumulated deprecation ZENE (65,804) (2,838) (155) = (68,797)
Net carrying amount REFE 66,446 1,946 220 1,702 70,314
At 1 January 2022, net of i —
accumulated depreciation —A—A8 - MBEs
e 66,446 1,946 220 1,702 70,314
Additions NE 5,958 = 91 4,596 10,645
Transfers EL B 1,283 - - (1,283) -
Depreciation provided for the year  REEH E& (9,601) (477) (68) - (10,146)
Exchange realignment fE R AR - 47 8 = 55
Disposals, net of accumulated HE  MBRRINE
depreciation - (1,410) - - (1,410)
At 31 December 2022 i ——
+=—A=+—H~ 64,086 106 251 5,015 69,458
At 31 December 2022: i
+=-A=+—-H
Cost PR 139,491 933 466 5,015 145,905
Accumulated depreciation 2EHTE (75,405) (827) (215) - (76,447)
Net carrying amount IREFE 64,086 106 251 5,015 69,458

—BCCEEERE
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

(@) Machinery and motor vehicles leased out under (a)

operating leases

31 December 2023

12. 3 - FERaRE (E)

RIPESHERHMER

AE

—E-=F¥+=-H=+—H

Machinery  Motor vehicles Total
23 RE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFx AREFT
At 1 January 2023 R-—®-—=%—H—H
Cost AR 20,588 416 21,004
Accumulated deprecation REINE (5,068) (396) (5,464)
Net carrying amount BREFE 15,520 20 15,540
At 1 January 2023, net of R-ZTE-_=%—HF—H"
accumulated depreciation Mk RFTITE 15,520 20 15,540
Depreciation provided for the year ZNFE &R (1,039) - (1,039)
Disposals, net of accumulated e - R REHIE
depreciation (7,804) (20) (7,824)
At 31 December 2023 R=-|=-=
+=-A=+-—H 6,677 - 6,677
At 31 December 2023 n-®=-=
+=-—HA=+—H
Cost KA 10,958 - 10,958
Accumulated deprecation RETITE (4,281) - (4,281)
Net carrying amount BRENFE 6,677 = 6,677
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12. ¥ - FERaRE (E)

(Continued)
(@ Machinery and motor vehicles leased out under (a) RIBEZHEHHMKER
operating leases (Continued) RE(8])
31 December 2022 T —_F+-_HA=+—H
Machinery ~ Motor vehicles Total
Wz RE #aEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFIT AREFIT AREFIT
At 1 January 2022 RZZEZ=F—HF—H
Cost DN 20,588 8507 24,145
Accumulated deprecation REHITE (3,116) (1,866) (4,982)
Net carrying amount BREFE 17,472 1,691 19,163
At 1 January 2022, net of R-E-_—_F—F—H"
accumulated depreciation MR REHTE 17,472 1,691 19,163
Transfers B = 20 20
Depreciation provided for the year 7R E T ERE (1,952) (438) (2,390)
Exchange realignment T &A% - 84 84
Disposals, net of accumulated HE - MR ERFTINE
depreciation = (1,337) (1,337)
At 31 December 2022 N-E-—4F
+=—A=+—8 15,520 20 15,540
At 31 December 2022 A= S—
+—-A=+—H”
Cost AR 20,588 416 21,004
Accumulated deprecation RETITE (5,068) (396) (5,464)
Net carrying amount BRENFE 15,520 20 15,540

The Group leases out a number of items of property, plant and
equipment under operating leases. The leases typically run for
an initial period of 1 to 3 years, with an option to renew the lease
after that date at which all terms are renegotiated. None of the
leases includes variable lease payments.

AEBRELEHERHZ AR
2 BB MR- LEHEE—K
MERP—ZE=F MHEE
B ARMBGRREFBTEE B
ERHEE - HFHERTIBER

SRS -
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13. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR 13. EERATHEARMBRE

VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE iR 2 RIS
INCOME
2023 2022
—EC=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR AREEFTT

Unlisted equity investment, at fair value 3E F#EzRE @ 22 FE

Xi’an Xingye Metro Media Co., P B S E AR A A

Limited - =
The above equity investment was irrevocably designated at fair HRAEER A Ll ERRE BB
value through other comprehensive income as the Group considers ME - WA REEZEEETE R
the investment to be strategic in nature. During the year ended 31 BEAFEFARMEEMKE - REBZE=
December 2022, the Group received RMB2,000,000 from the investee T _FF+ZA=+—HLFE 'K
as partial withdrawal of the investment. The remaining RMB3,000,000 £ B B 1% E 77 BELA R % 2,000,000
has been written off through other comprehensive income since the T EARBHEBE - BTHARYE
directors of the Company consider that the amount is highly unlikely to 3,000,000 70 2 R H b 2 E Uk 25 i8S -
be recoverable. THERARBIEER AL G R

AW E -
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

14. DEFERRED TAX

RMB'000
ARRTR ARBTR AREBTT AREBTL ARETT ARETE

14, EIEHIE

Impairment
on
prepayments,
Impairment deposits
ontrade  and other Deductible
Leases receivables receivables  tax losses Others Total
N ENER
EoREl HeRHf T30
HE FEHE BUEERE #ESS it st
RMB'0O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

As at 1 January 2022 RZE-_—F—-HF—H 9 4919 - 1,288 600 6,902
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to profitor SRR EL (1) /3HA
loss during the year (note 10) ZIERER A (M3 10) 45 414 = 1,105 (251) 1313
As at 31 December 2022 i S—y gy
=+-A 140 5,333 - 2,393 349 8215
As at 1 January 2023 RZB-=F—-F—H 140 5,333 - 2,393 349 8,215
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to profitor £ AMME (1K) /3 A
loss during the year (note 10) ZIERERIIA (i 10) (74) 6,589 1,658 285 66 8,524
As at 31 December 2023 RZZE==F+=A
Sq=[g 66 11,922 1,658 2,678 415 16,739

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of RMB761,000 (2022:
RMB761,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group
also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of RMB16,637,000 (2022:
RMB15,106,000) that will expire in one to five years for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses

arose.

NEEREEABEAELEZHBEEIEA
R#761,000T(Z B -4 : AR
761,0007T) FIEERR A NI S EE £ S
BRRAZARRERBRF - REE T
BEETPRAEELAZBEBRAR
16,637,000 T(ZE-—4F : ARMK
15,106,0007T) ] AR K S EE £ B 1B A
B2 RRFERBHEF - BR—ERFA
F)Hp
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14. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 14. BEBIE (/E)

172
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Under the CIT Law of the PRC, a 10% withholding tax is levied on
dividends declared to foreign investors from foreign investment
enterprises established in Mainland China effective from 1 January
2008. Under the arrangement between Mainland China and the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double
Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect to Taxes
on Income, the withholding tax rate for dividends paid by a Mainland
resident enterprise to a Hong Kong resident enterprise is 5% if the
Hong Kong enterprise owns at least 25% of the Mainland enterprise, if
applicable.

Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
statement of financial position in respect of temporary differences
attributable to the profits of the PRC subsidiaries during the year, as
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totaled approximately RMB12,381,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB46,150,000).
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BEHBEMEMREEE  AZTTNEF
—A— B EFRBEARERYZINE
TEAFIEREESRBRE - BBk
10% M TEIHL o RIEC A& B B
TR EBARE S E S ESHB MM L
fIRMAZHE)  WEBLERIMSE
REEDZ25% MR - BAEER
GCEMTFESERACENRENTEINH
5% (@) °

B B 7N 55 [ AT 45 151 93 1 ) ey 2 RE O B
W BEEREBEARTEBAATSE
B B ERFRNEESPEBEARR
i B B 2 BBTE AR A BT A IROR R AT
REEFHERE RT_=F+=
A=+—8" BREMAFTEKRED
MEBARBANEREZEAXOAR
12,381,000 C(Z T - =4 : ARW
46,150,0007T) W BIEREEF IBEE o
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for plant and office premises used in
its operations. Leases of plant and office premises generally have lease
terms of 1 to 30 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(a)  Right-of-use assets

15. iS5

FEEERFRBEAN

AEBREEEBAR ZBERRAE
MEMFTLAERY - BERRAE
MEZEPBRER—ZE=1T%F - —KRM

5 AEENARAKE A A L HEE
RAOEEEEE

(a)

The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the

movements during the year are as follows:

EHEEE

AREFNERELENREE
REEHMT -

Plant and office

premises

BER

WAEMZE

RMB’000

ARETFT

As at 1 January 2022 R-BE-—_F—H—H 12,390

Depreciation charge WERX (2,246)

As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January WRZZE-_—_F+-_A=+—HK

2023 —E-=%—H—H 10,144
Additions NE 91

Disposals BE (4,850)

Lease modification HEEE] (2,942)

Depreciation charge TERX (1,017)
As at 31 December 2023 RZBE_=ZF+=-_A=+—H 1,426

—BCCEEERE

B BT R A R AT
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15. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

174

Lease liabilities

the year are as follows:

15.

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and movements during

HE(E)
FREEARBEAN(E)

(b)

HEERE

FAHEEBENROERZSHN
T~

2023 2022
—F=-= T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AREFTT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—HME@EE 10,997 12,989
New leases e 91 =
Accretion of interest recognised FRE R 1808
during the year 266 459
Disposals BE (5,824) -
Lease modification HEEE] (2,713) -
Payments INES (1,125) (2,451)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+—A=+—HmEAE 1,692 10,997
Analysed into: Xv=
Current portion mEhE S 91 2,091
Non-current portion IEmBE D 1,601 8,906
1,692 10,997

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited
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15. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) The amount recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases is as

15. & (&)

FREERKEA (F)
(c) RBZEHEROAEEEFAD

follows: ™
2023 2022
—EC=F —EC
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 266 459
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FFHAEEEITERR X 1,017 2,246
Expense relating to short-term leases B AHERENAY
(included in administrative expenses GTF AT RHERA)
and cost of sales) 1,102 21
Gain on rights transferred under IFRS 16 1R & BIFR B %R &5 #0128 16
SRE RN e (322) -
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 1855 MR U858 2,063 2,726
The Group as a lessor AEEERL N

The Group leases its certain property, plant and equipment
under operating lease arrangements. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was RMB935,000 (2022:
RMB2,590,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the
financial statements. As of 31 December 2023, there was no
undiscounted lease payment receivable by the Group in future
period (2022: Nil).

AEBERBEEHERHEER
ETME - BEREE - FAK
EEBEANESBARBARE
935,000 (= E == : AR
2,5690,0007T) - B EFIEEH R
BRERMFS - BE-T ==
+ZA=+—8 AEBRKK
R EERARRAENR (=
TITF M)

P
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. B EE

Patent Goodwill Total
B i st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARET T AREFT
Cost 5%
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—_F—AF—H = 7,165 7,165
Additions NE 30 = 30
At 31 December 2022, 1 Januaryand R—ZE - —F+_-HA=+—
31 December 2023 H —Z-=F—H—H
k+=ZA=+—AH 30 7,165 7,195
Accumulated amortisation/ Bty REsE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2022 R-ZTE-_—_F—HF—H = - =
Amortisation charged for the year FRNEIEER (3) - (3)
Impairment losses for the year FRREEE - (717) (717)
At 31 December 2022 WZZE-—_F#+=-F=+—H (3) (717) (720)
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—HF—H (3) (717) (720)
Amortisation charged for the year FRNEIEER (3) - (3)
At 31 December 2023 RZB-_=F+=-A=+—H (6) (717) (723)
Net carrying amount BREF{E
As at 31 December 2022 RZEBE-_—_F+=-A=+—H 27 6,448 6,475
As at 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+=-A=+—H 24 6,448 6,472

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited
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16.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the
Group’s cash-generating units (“CGU”) identified according to place of
operation as follows:

. BRAE(E)

BB Z iR E A

BREBAHESHEESEZIERE
BB RPN AEERSEESM (]
SEABEM)NT

2023 2022

—E-=%f T4

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AREFIT

Shenzhen Kangsheng CGU FYIRBRIRESEEEN 6,448 6,448
Shuifa Sishui CGU 7k§§/ﬂ7kfﬁiF$$u - -
6,448 6,448

The Group engaged a qualified independent valuer in assessing
impairment of goodwill.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior management.

The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 14.5%
(2022:18.5%) for Shenzhen Kangsheng CGU. The growth rate used
to extrapolate the cash flows of the industrial products unit beyond the
five-year period is 3% (2022: 3%).

The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections for the
year ended 31 December 2022 is 16.3% for Shuifa Sishui CGU. The
growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the industrial products
unit beyond the five-year period is 3%.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the CGU
as at 31 December 2023. The following describes each of the key
assumptions on which management has based its cash flow projections
to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

REEERFGERE L AEMTGEE
EFE -

REeELRU AR ESED ERNER
BEFEMET  ERAKSREEE
HWERERFR M BRERKE 2R
TREEA -

HANERRECELEMTE - BER
EERARAZHAMRERR145% (=
T4 1 185%)  HEAFHEKRZ
I¥EmBURERERAZERER
3%(ZTBZF :3%) °

SKEIKREELBMME  BEZ
T FF A=+ -RUEFENRS
METRRARAZHATIRER16.3% °
HERFHRB s IXEMBEURSR
ERAZERER3% -

BREBRFAE_ZE_=F+_A
=t HREELBMUZEREE- A
THEEEEENERSRETRAET
AERBERNRE M RE 2 S HBRR

in .
B
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Budgeted revenue — The budgeted revenue is based on the historical
data and management’s expectation on the future market.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins
achieved in the year immediately before the budget year, increased for
expected efficiency improvements, and expected market development.

Pre-tax discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to Shenzhen Kangsheng CGU and Shuifa
Sishui CGU, respectively.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development
of the cash-generating unit and the discount rate are consistent with
external information sources.

The directors of the Company estimated the reasonably possible
changes in the above factors and acknowledged that, even if the
most unfavourable possible values were assigned to those factors, the
recoverable amount then calculated, after incorporating any sequential
effects of such assignments on the other variables used to measure the
recoverable amount of Shenzhen Kangsheng CGU, would still exceeds
its carrying amount.

16. B EE (/B)

BBz RER (&)

FRE e — BEWETDERE S BiE
REBBEARKM S 2 AH -

BEEMNE - AREEDPEEREE
MR EBEMANEERRZBEFER
Al — ARG 2 FHEMNE - WH B
BMERFHAR AR TI5 %R LH -

HATA T — PR R RERTLAT
3 2 BR SR Y| 7 B 3R B B A B Sk B
MRS EEFEMB RO ERR o

MEBREEEBL 2 TIHEERENE
FNERBRAABT 2EE - BINEE
AR —2 -

AAREEGG DRRENSE A LR
b WAR - BIEZERRES KT
ME AT BE(E - REBZE N L H A st
ERYIERREELBM RO SRR
Hth B E o AEBTEE  ERFE
BRI @ S BRI B EAREE -

17. INVENTORIES 17. 58
2023 2022
—E|-=fF —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARET T
Raw materials R 7,657 11,139
Work in progress EEE 5,097 3,713
Finished goods EERK i 2,943 7,601
15,697 22,453
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18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 18. & 5 EWIFRIE & FEUL 4R
2023 2022
—g=-= —E-
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT
Trade receivables Z F e FIE 155,339 149,965
Less: impairment losses B OREEE (82,185) (36,993)
73,154 112,972
Bills receivables EREE 9,034 10,751
82,188 123,723
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. AEBBREFENEDETIAEERS
The credit periods generally range from one to six months for major BE -AEBE—RBETEFERPNT—
customers. EREANEER-
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements REEN B E S EWGIBREF AT
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest- IR sk M E MR TEIE - B 5 ME
bearing. WHIBREE °
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of REERR - AR EZEAHRINKRER
the reporting period, based on invoice date and net of loss allowance, BENE S RKFIEREREERES
is as follows: e
2023 2022
—E-= TEC
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREEFTT
Within 3 months =@AR 27,676 20,439
3 to 6 months == NEA 11,606 11,375
6 to 12 months ~e+=-f@Aa 11,033 18,091
1to 2 years —FEMF 16,820 35,050
2 to 3 years MEE=F 14,854 19,160
Over 3 years =FLAE 199 19,608
82,188 123,723
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18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

18. B BfEWRIA R U R 1R

==
=)

B REFIANREBEREBEZES N
T

2023 2022

—E-=f ot St =

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARSTT AREFTT

At beginning of year REH) 36,993 36,161
Impairment loss, net (note 6) EEIE - FEE (5E6) 45,212 831
Exchange realignment HE AR (20) 1
At end of year REXR 82,185 36,993

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on historical credit loss experience for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type
and profile). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from bills receivables
is limited because the Group considers that there is no significant
increase in credit risk. All bills receivables are with maturities within 12
months (2022: 12 months).

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 18. B S FEUGTFRIE K FEIL

Set out below is the information about default rates based on ageing of

the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

(#&)

N=F==%F+=-A=+—H

TRERBBRFZBAREE S REK
RIBZFREH BT ER

Ageing
AR
Within 1-2 2-3 Over 3
1 year years years years Total
—FH —EWE WE= =ZENE st
Expected credit loss rate TEHERBAE 2.51% 5.61% 42.11% 99.71% 52.91%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BRmE#(E (ARETT) 42,345 17,820 25,659 69,515 155,339
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) ~ FBHIEFHEX (ARKETT) 1,064 1,000 10,805 69,316 82,185
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+=A=+—H
Ageing
BRER
Within 1-2 2-3 Over 3
1 year years years years Total
—FN —EWMFE WMEZF =FMUE fst
Expected credit loss rate EHERBAE 2.08% 468%  31.08%  56.82%  24.67%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BRE4EE (AREFT) 39,984 36,770 27,800 45411 149,965
Expected credit losses (RMB'000)  TaERzAiEL (ARMEFIT) 830 1,720 8,640 25,803 36,993
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19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

19. AHRIR - RERHEAREY
L

2023 2022

—E|C-=F —TE- 4

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR AREFTT

Prepayments to suppliers TR FERE FRIE 11,497 9,317
Deposits e 1,811 2,177
Due from related parties UL B8 5 508 1,327 1,221
Other receivables HE bl RIE 768 887
15,403 13,602

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS

20. RERTEFRYLIRIKR
=2

2023 2022

—E|C-=F T4

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AREFTT

Cash and bank balances R e RIRTTEERR 44,437 59,535
Less: Restricted cash B ZRFIEE (28) -
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIReEED 44,409 59,535
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 20. IRERIIVEEEY L RIKHH

PLEDGED DEPOSITS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the restricted cash represents cash sealed
by a court in the PRC as the Company’s subsidiary, Shuifa Sishui,
has been named as a defendant in a lawsuit against non-controlling
interests arising in the ordinary course of business.

The Group’s cash and bank balances were denominated in the
following currencies:

=R (E)

MN-ZE-_ZF+-A=+—H  ZREH4
BE BARRABINERBIKENKEFE
ERREC R e ARAEEELED
BRI RA DI RS -

AEERE RBITHERIATINE LS
H:

2023 2022
—E-=F - F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBFT

RMB equivalent amount: ANREEEDEE -
RMB ARE 42,982 54,886
HK$ BT 521 958
Us$ ETT 760 3,668
EUR EX T 174 23
44,437 59,5635

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

ARETI BRI ERAREMER - &
i - AR P BK Bk M) SN B IR AR D1 e
- HSELNETERE  AEEEE
BB EREINEXBNRITHEAR
BRBREME -

RITRSRE A RITFERNE 2FEF
KR - RITHEREFNIHRETR
HRFLE: ~ FERIFAVIRITE ©
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21. TRADE PAYABLES 21. BS5EMARIE
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting RBER  EREREERARGEE
period, based on the purchase recognition date, is as follows: SENFIENERES T
2023 2022
—F'-= T _F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT
Within 6 months ~NEARA 16,884 18,446
6 to 12 months NETZEA 3,382 3,021
1 to 2 years —FEWMEF 1,166 3,154
2 to 3 years MEE=F 3,025 2,425
Over 3 years =FM 4,409 1,984
28,866 29,030
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled ZEEHENREREENBER=F
on three-month terms. RERR&EH -
22. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. FESTER R H M EFFRIE
2023 2022
—®'-= —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREEFIT
(Restated)
(#&E:%))
Contract liabilities* GHBE" 1,836 2,175
Accrued expenses e 997 1,046
Payroll and welfare payable BT TE REF 2,385 3,466
Tax and surcharge payables FERTHIE K i hn & 5,188 6,642
Payables related to property, plant and #12% - Bz M2 1E A 2 BN F0E
equipment 1,716 1,798
Due to related parties (note 34b) JE <A 7 50 (F17E 34b) 8,584 5,358
Other payables HEAbfET5RIE 1,833 2,879
22,539 23,364
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22. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

2. BT ERREEMKIE

(%)

3 Contract liabilities consisted of short-term advances received from * EHNEBERERZNERE TP IE
customers in relation to delivery of products. Changes in contract TR FA - ERABZE
liabilities during the year are as follows: BN -

2023 2022
—FT== —T_—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREEFT
At 1 January ®n—A—H 2,175 2,576
Revenue recognised that was included in the  REFFAA LB EZ RS
contract liabilities at the beginning of the year (M5 4)
(note 4) (1,213) (1,392)
Net increase due to cash received, excluding BHIRIEINFERE - TRIFFANER
amount recognised as revenue during the Rl &8
year 864 991
Exchange realignment FE H, 2R 10 _
At 31 December RW+-—A=+—H 1,836 2,175
23. BORROWINGS 23. B
2023 2022
—EC=HF B F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT
Guaranteed interest-bearing borrowings & #&{R 1 S &%
Unsecured it 29,800 39,446
Portion classified as non-current NERIERBEENT D
liabilities 18,000 18,800
Current portion BIHAER 11,800 20,646

The fair value of the borrowings of the Group are approximate to their AEEBEFNAFEELREEMRS

carrying amounts, since either the interest rates of those loans are TR ZEE RN ERERRITHSF

close to current market rates or the loans are of a short-term nature. KRG ERBREME -
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23. BORROWINGS (Continued)

24.

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

As at 31 December 2023, the unsecured borrowings were supported
by guarantees from related parties and an independent third party.

Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 34(a).

i

ERE)

D]]

R-ZB-_=F+-_A=+—R &R

BB EER KB
T4 o BER

=T RHHER
R S BRI E34(a)

The Group’s borrowings are repayable as follows: REEERARATIMEERE
2023 2022
—EC=HF T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT

Bank loans repayable IRITERARATFHEE

— Within one year - —FR 11,800 20,646
— In the second year - FE-F 18,000 800
— Beyond two years - BT - 18,000
29,800 39,446

As at 31 December 2023, all borrowings were dominated in RMB and
bared a weighted average effective interest rate per annum of 4.30%.

(2022: 4.90%).

PROVISION FOR PRODUCT WARRANTIES

R-ZF_=F+"A=+—R " Ak
FHUAREEHE - LNk FIHER

MEL30%(—F ==

. EmERERA

F:490% )R -

2023 2022

—Eo=fF —E-F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREFTT

At 1 January R—HA—H 1,200 1,169
Additional provision BEOMEE 466 1,032
Amounts utilised during the year REAEBHSHEE (934) (1,001)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 732 1,200

The Group provides 6-month to 3-year warranties to its customers on

certain of its products, under which default products are repaired or

replaced. The amount of provision for warranties is estimated on sales
and past experiences of the level of repairs and returns. The estimation
basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised as appropriate.
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25. DEFERRED INCOME 25. RIEUW

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFT
(Restated)
(gg&E51)
At 1 January n—A—H 3,051 3,749
Being withdrawal of government W Bl B B (FisE2.4)
grants (note 2.4) (720) =
Receipts of government grants related YW ER % BT67E T8 81 -
to:
Research and development 3 - 992
Written-off upon deregistration of a &5 5 it — [ B B 2 B RS Al 8
subsidiary - (202)
Released to profit or loss BxiEn (497) (1,488)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 1,834 3,051
Government grants related to: BB FTHER) -
Property, plant and equipment W - BE REE 1,834 2,331
Research and development iE2s - 720
1,834 3,051

Notes:

(i) The Group has received certain government grants in respect of the
purchase of equipment and is released to profit or loss by annual
instalments to match with the expected useful lives of the relevant assets.

(ii) During 2021, the Group received government grant in relation to the
research and development project of Polymer-stabilized metallurgical
materials with electronically smart light-temperature controlled
undertaking by the Group under the “2020 Zhuhai Industry-University-
Research cooperation-funding programmes”. The grant is released to
profit or loss as other income over the periods when the research costs,
which the grant is intended to compensate, are expensed.

BfeE

(M

(ii)

AEBBEESEHBERBNE TR
B - WIRFE D BB SR AT
ERREE 2 BRI EMAFEY -

R-F_—%F  RNREEFGEN2020
FINGHEBHAIERE) THEITAE
BEERECORFENEENRERSR
FRIFNES A R 2518 B EEUT ARG © 3%
AR EL A (E R0 BT 70 B A S R
EREMK AR =8 -
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26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. &
2023 2022
—F-= —E-—F
US$’'000 US$'000
F=Ex FET
Authorised: SETE
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of ~ 10,000,000,000 % & I I {E
US$0.01 each 0.01 Tz EEM 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
520,000,000 ordinary shares of 520,000,000 f&% &R EE
US$0.01 each 0.01ETz TR 5,200 5,200
Equivalent to approximately RMB'000 ZR#) AR FIT 35,415 35,415

There was no movement in the Company’s issued share capital during
the year.

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible persons for their
contribution or potential contribution to the growth and development of
the Group (“Eligible Persons”). Eligible Persons of the Scheme include:

(i) a) any director or proposed director (whether executive or
non-executive, including any independent non-executive
director), employee or proposed employee (whether full
time or part time) of; or

b) any individual for the time being seconded to work for, any

member of the Group or any substantial shareholder or
any company controlled by a substantial shareholder;
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(i) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional or other services to any member of the Group; and

(i)~ for the purposes of the Scheme, shall include any company
controlled by one or more persons belonging to any of the above
classes of participants.

The Scheme was approved by the Company’s shareholders on 17
October 2017 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years from that date.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon the exercise
of all share options to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at the date
on which the Scheme is adopted unless the Company obtains a fresh
approval from shareholders to refresh the 10% limit on the basis that
the maximum number of shares in respect of which share options
may be granted under the Scheme together with any share options
outstanding and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
share option schemes shall not exceed 30% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of the share options granted under the Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company to any Eligible Persons (including
cancelled, exercised and outstanding share options), in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the number of
shares in issue, unless (i) a circular is dispatched to the shareholders;
(ii) the shareholders approve the grant of the share options in excess of
the 1% limit referred to in this paragraph; and (iii) the relevant Eligible
Persons and his associates shall abstain from voting. The number and
terms (including the exercise price) of share options to be granted to
such Eligible Persons must be fixed before shareholders’ approval.

27.

REliztEstE (&)

(iy AAEEEMAKE R F R
K RBES RN SRR
BE - B EXRIEMMRED
ERALHER &

(i) FEFEME > BEE LREF—
B2EEN—RRZH ALTES
EER AR °

AEER —_E—tFTATLHERR
BIRCRHLE - BRIESTTAHEKERT - &
AT EIMERZ B RER S T ENRTT o

RITERBEE B RA R REAE AR
REET RIS TR 2 PR R AR T AT pE 2%
1T 2B BB A KT FBB AR RN
EtEl 2 BB BITRALER10% @ BR
FEA DB ESIRR AL /EE F 10% R
B R RIRBRTBIR R 2 AR A
AR &) R AR ] L A AR At 8 i R
TTEMBRFITE TR M2k
MEE LRE I FRERD R TR 3
1IBRAN 2 30% °

RIRET &I R AR RHEf E i A it 2l
BETEAaEBALZEREZE(REE
A DITREREARITE ZERE) &
TR BT TRITZROEE
REBERBE A ILER+ @A BRE -
TEHBBCHITRMEE Z21% » kR3F
(i) — BN EFE TR ¢ () BRALAE
RHBARRAR Y 1% LR 2 BBARHE
(i) ERAEEMALTREBEAAR
BERE - BRTEERALZRBEEZ
28 RER (BRIETTEE) MARRERH
FERTEEE °
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Any grant of a share option to a director, chief executive of the
Company or substantial shareholder (or any of their respective
associates) must be approved by the independent non-executive
directors (excluding any independent non-executive director who is the
grantee of the share options).

Where any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director (or any of their respective
associates) will result in the total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon the exercise of the share options already granted and to be
granted to such person under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company (including share options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of grant: (i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue;
and (ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares at each date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further
grant of share options is required to be approved by shareholders in a
general meeting in accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange. Any change in the terms of
a share option granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director or any of their respective associates is also
required to be approved by shareholders.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 30 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors but
may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price
of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share options; and (ii)
the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 27. BERR#ERTEI (8)
The one-third of the share options vests 36 months after the date of =z —ERENZ L BEE 36 @A H
grant and then exercisable on or after 31 January 2021; one-third of B HEN-_ZT-_—F—A=+—H%
the share options granted vests on the fourth anniversary of the date ZEAITIIE =2 —BRERE D
of grant and then exercisable on or after 31 January 2022; remaining AR ENRAFHRE  HER=-S==
one-third of the share options vests on the fifth anniversary of the F—RA=1+—Hxk 2B FIIE: 1
date of grant, and then exercisable on or after 31 January 2023. o7 BRENRLBEEFEFRBESF
Outstanding and unexercised share options of each vesting period may BB HERZZE-Z=F—A=+—H
be rolled over to the next vesting period(s) and exercisable during the R BRI TATE - RERBEMMARTT
relevant validity share option period. FERBFITENBRETEE T —FEB
H - RRERERMERERBAR T
71 -
The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during AEFZFHEBETHARITE ZBRER
the year: T~
2023 2022
—E-=%5 —E-F
Exercise Number Exercise Number
price of options price of options
fTiEE EERERE IEE BIREEE
HK$ per HK$ per
share '000 share ‘000
BiET T3 BB 5
At 1 January mn—HA—H 1.16 5,100 1.16 7,790
Forfeited during the year FrygUk 1.16 (740) 1.16 (2,690)
At 31 December w+=—A=+—8 1.16 4,360 1.16 5,100
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

27. R #ERTEI (8)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

The exercise periods and exercise prices of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

s AR M AR TE B 2 ITE B R AT
BT :

Share options outstanding

im RAT I R AR

Exercise price 2023 2022

TE(E —E-=f —E-—fF

Exercise period HK$ per share '000 ‘000

TR A BB T3 T1n

31 January 2021 to 30 January 2028 1.16 1,453 1,700
- F—-A=t+—HEZZT=-\F—A=+H

31 January 2022 to 30 January 2028 1.16 1,453 1,700
B -A=t+—HEZZ-N\F-H=1+H

31 January 2023 to 30 January 2028 1.16 1,454 1,700
- =Ff—A=t+—HEZZ=-N\F—A=1+H

4,360 5,100

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a total of 740,000 options HE-_T-_=F+=-_A=+—H1E

(2022: 2,690,000) were forfeited due to the resignation of grantees
and no options (2022: Nil) were surrendered by a grantee.

During the year, the Group recognised share option expenses of
RMB59,000 and reversed share option expense of RMB396,000 due
to the forfeiture of share options, resulting in a net reversal of share
option expenses of RMB337,000 during the year (2022: net reversal of
share option expenses to profit or loss of RMB968,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 4,360,000 share
options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 4,360,000 additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of US$43,600
(equivalent to approximately HK$341,000, before issue expenses).

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 4,360,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme, which
represented approximately 0.839% of the Company’s shares in issue
as at that date.
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28. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the current and prior year are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

(a) Statutory reserve fund

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, a
portion of profits as determined in accordance of the Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles of the PRC of subsidiaries
established in the PRC has been transferred to reserve funds.
Such reserve funds are non-distributable except in the event
of liquidation and subject to certain restrictions set out in
the relevant PRC regulations. They can be used to offset
accumulated losses or capitalised as paid-up capital.

(b) Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments
in note 2.3 to the financial statements. The amount will either
be transferred to the share premium account when the related
options are exercised, or be transferred to accumulated loss
should the related options expire or be forfeited.

(c) Capital reserves

Capital reserves consist of (i) the deemed contribution from the
Company’s parent company, Shuifa Singyes with respect to share
options granted by Shuifa Singyes; and (ii) the advance received
from Top Access in 2015 amounting to RMB55,161,000, which
was waived by Top Access during the same year.

28. #iE

REERFEMEBEFEZRESZRR
EREBHHN RS EEEERA -

(a)

(b)

(c)

AEEHES

RBFENABERER - RIB
TEAREERAEER P BEK
T —EHERRME D EMNE
BREFED ZERESTH
DIk (BRIEEATBR) W ZRN T
BRRE SR PR RS TR S - %
ikt ] AR R R R AT B R X
BRI

FRRz R

BRERERFECREEFTE
2B 2 AFE - SRR
M2 3 MR RERNRZE
AAERRNE—FEE - ERREEB
AT - ZERSERE
Betn s Bk - iRk E
mEBOR UL BB R = RS -

BEXfiE

EARBEBREOARGNGA
AIKBEEFRKEHERTE
REMNBELE: RH=ZZT
— T4 Top Access @ 58 5 A R I
55,161,000 THY E 58 » ZBHRE
ARG 2% Top Access Rk °
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29. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 29. WHiE—EME AT
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China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

On 25 March 2022, the Group acquired 51% of the equity interests in
Shanxi Yida from unrelated parties (“Selling Shareholders”).

Shanxi Yida is primarily engaged in manufacture of thermal insulation
and sound insulation materials in Mainland China. Through the
acquisition of Shanxi Yida, the Group obtained access to the thermal
insulation industry which enables the Group to broaden its income
stream and enhance shareholders’ value.

In accordance with the agreement between the Group and the Selling
Shareholders, no consideration will be transferred to the Selling
Shareholders upon completion of acquisition. A qualified independent
valuer has been engaged to determine the fair value of the identifiable
net assets (“FVINA”). Pursuant to the valuation report, the FVINA
acquired by the Group approximately equals to the book value of the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the Group’s proportion, as a
result, a gain on bargain purchase of RMB618,000 was recorded from
the acquisition of Shanxi Yida during the year ended 31 December
2022.

From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2023, no revenue has
been generated by Shanxi Yida and loss after taxation of RMB113,000
and RMB2,163,000 was contributed to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2022 and 2023, respectively.
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29. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 29. WIE—EMBAT (&)
The following table summarises the recognised amounts of assets TERBARAKERRH T _—F=7
acquired and liabilities assumed at acquisition date 25 March 2022: “tHRRKENEEREAENEENDS
RS
RMB’000
AREBTRT
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS FEEY 1
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERRIE -« ZE R EAEUEIE 1,931
Accruals and other payables FERTE A R E M EMNFIE (721)
Fair value of net assets acquired at RUkEE B ERFT S EE ) FEM A FE
acquisition date 1,211
Gain on bargain purchase arising from the acquisition has been RKEWE=ENZBRERZERD
recognised as follows: ™
RMB’000
AREBTR
Consideration transferred DEENAE -
The Group’s share of FVINA acquired REBES(RFTER B EEFENATE (618)
Gain on bargain purchase EAEI Al (618)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of Shanxi MBI IRENRSRESTAT

Yida is as follows:

RMB’000

ARETT

Cash consideration RERE =

Cash and bank balances acquired BARS RIRITHEH 1
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included FFAREBEEELENRESRENRS KRS

in cash flows from investing activities ZEWFEFRA 1
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30. DEREGISTRATION AND DISPOSAL OF

31.

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

SUBSIDIARIES

On 29 December 2023, Shuifa Singyes Shandong, a partially-
owned subsidiary of the Group was disposed to a related party with
no consideration transferred. Meanwhile, the loss on disposal of a
subsidiary was minimal.

On 17 May 2022, Yan'an New Materials, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group was deregistered under PRC law. Net loss generated by
Yan'an New Materials during the year ended 31 December 2022 has
been consolidated to the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. The Group recorded a loss on
disposal of a subsidiary of RMB142,000 in 2022.

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the
reporting period:

30. AR HHEM B2 E]

31.

RZZEZ=F+=ZA=+ANA  &&EH
BB HE B HO BT B A B K B EE 1L R IA
TEERRELE T -2 @B - HBitFE
B HE—RNBARNBEBMTR
5‘50

RZZBE_—_FAA++H " xEE2E
MIE A RBE R M B E AR B B AR
e ERHMBREBEE_S-_—F+=
A=+—HLEFEEENFEEERA
SEGAEEREMEEKEREAA
B o REENR - _FaHE -
BARSSEEARE 142,000 7T °

3

RIEIR - REEA THIEAAIE

2023 2022
—EBC=HF —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFIT
Contracted but not provided for: B ETATER 1 -
Capital contribution for equity EREERE
investment 4,500 4,500
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32. ZFREERERMEE
OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (a) ERMETBHELENEFEEE
2023 —®Z=
Amounts due
to related Lease
Borrowings parties liabilities
FEfTRAES
Be MIE HEaE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETRT ARETRT
At 1 January 2023 R-E—=F—HF—H 39,446 479 10,997
Changes from financing cash flows ~ FEERE&REELNEH) (11,450) - (9,571)
Interest expense charged to FFABRAFE X H
profit or loss 1,804 - 266
At 31 December 2023 RITZ=%F
+=-—A=+—H 29,800 479 1,692
2022 T F
(Restated) (gEH)
Amounts due
to related Lease
Borrowings parties liabilities
FErRRET
BE RIA HEaE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFIT ARBTRT ARBTE
At 1 January 2022 RZZE-_—_F—H—H - 8,460 12,989
Changes from financing cash flows ~ BVEIR & REELRNE 38,452 (7,981) (2,451)
Interest expense charged to FFABEAF B
profit or loss 994 - 459
At 31 December 2022 . ——
+=-A=+—~H 39,446 479 10,997
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32. FEBRERERME(E)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Total cash outflow for leases (b) FHEMNERERH
The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated FFAGER e RERNEERR
statement of cash flows is as follows: ESmBaT
2023 2022
—EZ=HF ZEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT
Within financing activities BEEEN 9,571 2,451
33. DIVIDEND 33. KR
At a meeting of the directors held on 22 March 2024, the directors did R-B-_ME=ZA-_+-_HBTZE=S
not recommend a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 EFL EETERIBE—_T_=
(2022: Nil). FHZRA=+—HLFERNRBARKRE

(ZF=ZZF #|) -
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

BALANCES

Details of the Company’s principal related parties are as follows:

Company Name
Shuifa Singyes

Top Access

Zhuhai Singyes Green Building Technology Co., Ltd.

(“Zhuhai Singyes”)

Zhuhai Singyes Energy-saving Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Singyes Energy-saving”)

Hunan Shuifa Xingye Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Hunan Shuifa Xingye”)

Shuifa Xingye Energy (Zhuhai) Co., Ltd.
(“Shuifa Xingye Energy”)

Singyes Engineering (H.K.) Co., Ltd.
(“Singyes Engineering (H.K.)")

Singyes Green Investment (HK) Company Limited
(“Singyes Green Investment”)

Shuifa Green Energy Co., Ltd.
(“Shuifa Green Energy”)

Shuifa Xingye Holding Co., Ltd.
(“Shuifa Xingye Holding”)

Shandong Shuifa Holding Group Co., Ltd
(“Shandong Shuifa Holding”)

Shuixing New Energy (Jieyang) Co., Ltd.
(“Shuixing New Energy (Jieyang)”)

Shuixing New Energy (Heyuan) Co., Ltd.
(“Shuixing New Energy (Heyuan)”)

Shuifa Xingye Weiling Technology (Zhuhai) Co., Ltd.

(“Shuifa Xingye Weiling”)

Sishui Hengrui Decoration Engineering Co., Ltd.
(“Sishui Hengrui Decoration Engineering”)

Relationship
Parent company

Fellow subsidiary

Fellow subsidiary

Fellow subsidiary

Fellow subsidiary

Fellow subsidiary

Fellow subsidiary

Fellow subsidiary

Fellow subsidiary

Fellow subsidiary

Fellow subsidiary

Fellow subsidiary

Fellow subsidiary

Fellow subsidiary

Non-controlling interest

34. FEAX B REER

AARERBETHEENT ¢

AT EHE EA{z
IR BB EE (SN
Top Access EES )
AR]
GBI BRI CEX )
BRAT YNG]
(TEZREHEZE])
WEEEHRERRARAR RRHE
(T ZEEnRE ) YNC]
SRR EERR AR A EEAN=
il ) NC]
IKEEEEAIR (F8) EEALN=

BRAR([7KEEZELIR ) NSl
BEHETIZERAA] BEHE

(IBBEETRE]) NGl
EERERE (FE) BEHE

BRAR([EEFERE ] NSl
KB ERFRRNERAR RRHE

([7kEAREEER]) NSl
IKBEEEEFERAB (K FERHME
IR ) NSl
WRRBZEREBARAR  RRNEB
(MHLERAKEAERR]) NSl
IKEFTREIR (1BF5) AR AR FRNME
([7kELxraeiR (1865 ) 1) NSl
IKEFRREIR CRIR) AR AR FRMHE
(kB aeiR CAiR) 1) NGl
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (Continued)

34. FEHR XS R4 ()

(@) During the year, the Group had the following material (@) XEE  AEEHEFAESE

200

transactions with its related parties: TUTEXEZS
2023 2022
—g=-= —E-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BiEE ARETT AREETIT
Rental income HEWLA
Singyes Energy-saving FZEERE (i) = 330
Shuifa Xingye Energy KB B REIR 0) 845 1,947
Shuifa Singyes IKEEBLEE (i) - 313
Meal expenses BEHY
Singyes Energy-saving FZENRE (ii) 1,256 1,343
Rental expenses HERZ
Singyes Energy-saving FZEERE (iii) 1,102 =
Service fee REE
Singyes Energy-saving B ERE (iv) 1,102 1,005
Shuifa Xingye Holding IR T AT ) 122 =
Utility KE
Singyes Energy-saving FIZEENRE (vi) - 552
Shuifa Xingye Energy KB B ZEBE IR (vi) 3,800 2,140
Sales of goods HEEm
Shuifa Xingye Energy IKEEELZERETR (vii) - 26
Zhuhai Singyes TRgEE (vi) 104 —
Shuifa Xingye Weiling IKEE L NESE (vii) 3 =
Written-off for other payables — ##5E b fE (4 508
Singyes Energy-saving FIZEERRE (viii) 2,000 =

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (Continued)
(Continued)

(a)

Notes:

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

During the year, the rental income derived from Shuifa Xingye
Energy amounted to RMB845,000, as the related parties rent
machineries from the Group. The rents were negotiated by both
parties by reference to the market pricie.

Singyes Energy-saving provides meal services to the employees
of the Group at the rate of RMB3 per breakfast per person and
RMB11 per lunch/dinner per person as determined under the
service agreements. The directors consider that the rates in
respect of the provision of meal services by Singyes Energy-saving
were determined on normal commercial terms.

During the year, the rental expenses to Singyes Energy-saving
amounted to RMB1,102,000, as the related parties rent a plant
from the Group. The rents were negotiated by both parties by
reference to the market price.

Singyes Energy-saving provides administrative service to the
Group and charges on normal commercial terms.

Shuifa Xingye Holding provides information technology service to
the Group and charges on normal commercial terms.

Shuifa Xingye Energy provides electricity to the Group and charges
on normal commercial terms.

The sales of goods to related parties were made according to the
price negotiated by both parties by reference to the market price.

On 28 September 2023, Singyes Energy-saving and Zhuhai New
Materials entered into a debt exemption agreement, in which
RMB2,000,000 payable to Singyes Energy-saving by Zhuhai New
Materials was waived.

At 31 December 2023, Shandong Shuifa Holding, Shuifa Singyes,
Singyes Energy-saving, Zhuhai Singyes, Shuifa Xingye Energy and
Shuifa Green Energy provided guarantee for a bank borrowing
granted by a bank to the Group with the carrying amount of
RMB18,800,000 (2022: RMB19,600,000). Details of which are
set out in note 23.

At 31 December 2023, Shuifa Xingye Energy provided guarantee
for a borrowing granted by a bank to the Group with the carrying
amount of RMB10,000,000 (2022: RMB10,000,000). Details of
which are set out in note 23.

34. AEFX B REE (E)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

RAEE - AREEE 5 RA
EEAEHS REKEE
¥R FEMHESBABARE
845000 - HEHE H 2=
TS ERERIRE

EEpemARE N ERRRH
mﬁm% 12 IR ek E W
EXR/BATREEARES
TRBABRFE BEAR
Bllx - BEE2RA - pEEE
LR ERBNERTIIR—
RREGRIGHNETE

FR - BESENESRATR
AR #1,102,0007C * £ B8 B
HEAREEEAKEMRE -
TREHSEMLERERR

E o

FE LA AR B HITHR
% R R E

KB EEZERAA S BIREE
ARHR RS - BRI
W -

REEERERAAKEHRE
R EGRE -

AEENHERRIREET
DEMEETOERET -

RZZE-=FAA-+NB"
22 80 B B IR BT M B AT S
BEHReHE BREKEN
MEEMNEXHENARE
2,000,0007T °

R-ZTBZ=F+=—A=+—
A R AKEER . KR
¥ . OB BBEE K
B EE AR MK LB AR
—RRITMAEER L RAEAE
A AR#18,800,000t( =&
— =% : AR¥19,600,0007T)
RIfE FIREER o FEB RN
23

m;;;:¢+ A=+-—
B kEEERR —RIRT

ﬁ$%lﬁﬁ$E@%AE%

10,000,0007C( =& = =

A R #10,000,0007T ) B9 15 3%

REIER - FFIEENME23 -
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (Continued)

34. FEHR XS R4 ()

(b) WEMKREXAES KREE

(b) Material outstanding balances with related parties at

the end of the reporting period: 5] 7
2023 2022
—EC=HF —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT
Due from related parties FEWG BT 2k
Shuifa Xingye Holding KB AT AR 25 48
Shuifa Singyes IKEE 1,027 997
Top Access Top Access - 1
Shuifa Xingye Energy IKEE ELEERE IR 100 =
Shuifa Green Energy IKEE L BREIR 175 175
1,327 1,221
Trade receivables B S ElaE
Shuifa Xingye Energy KB B ZEBE IR 3,801 =
Shuifa Singyes IKEE LR 240 =
Shuixing New Energy (Heyuan) ZKEFTEENR CATR) 53 =
Singyes Energy-saving FIZEENRE 5 -
Shuifa Xingye Weiling K% B ME SR 4 =
4,103 -
Due to related parties FEf R H0E
Hunan Shuifa Xingye RS LR 440 440
Shuifa Xingye Holding P el 129 —
Shuifa Xingye Energy IKEEE SRR 6,563 2,319
Sishui Hengrui Decoration MUV EBEE
Engineering 884 887
Shuixing New Energy (Jieyang) 7KELTEER (18F5) 39 39
Singyes Energy-saving L BT RE 529 1,673
8,584 5,358

RETEHRARE  BEARY

o

and have no fixed terms of repayment. 4 [E TR SR KRR ©

Balances with the related parties are interest-free, unsecured
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (Continued)

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the

34. FEFR X SR G (1F)

) FREXEEEAENFH

Group: B
2023 2022
—TB-=f ot St =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFTT
Salaries, allowances and benefits ¥ & - 8t R EWFIZS
in kind 925 886
Pension scheme contributions R {K4 5HEI 5k = 10
Equity-settled share option DEREE 2 BIRERY
expense, net of reversal BR [0 1 42
926 938
Further details of directors’ and executive’s emoluments are BREERITHAHMNENE—

included in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

35. TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Transferred financial assets that are not derecognised in

THBENF A BERKRMES

35. ERIEEER

AEEXULEIVNEERSME

their entirety E
2023 2022
—F¥-= T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFTT
Gross amount of assets continued to  A2/EEREE v 4858
be recognised:
Endorsed Bills BHEZR 8,162 3,331

“RCEFFERE  PEEXFVAHERARAF
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35. TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

Transferred financial assets that are not derecognised in
their entirety (Continued)

At 31 December 2023, the Group endorsed certain bills receivables
accepted by banks in Mainland China (the “Endorsed Bills”) with a
total carrying amount of RMB8,162,000 (2022: RMB3,331,000) to
certain of its suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due to such
suppliers. The Endorsed Bills had a maturity of one to twelve months
from 31 December 2023. In the opinion of the directors, the Group
has retained the substantial risks and rewards, which include default
risks relating to the Endorsed Bills, and accordingly, it continued to
recognise the full carrying amounts of the Endorsed Bills and the
associated trade payables settled. Subsequent to the endorsement,
the Group did not retain any rights on the use of the Endorsed Bills,
including sale, transfer or pledge of the Endorsed Bills to any other
third parties. The aggregate carrying amount of the trade payables
settled by the Endorsed Bills during the year to which the suppliers
have recourse was RMB8,162,000 as at 31 December 2023.

Annual Report 2023

35. RBEEER(H)

AEEXUIEIVNEEREME
E#E)

R-ZB-_=F+-"A=+—R ~&E
HHRBEAERITEINEREERSA
R#8,162,000t( Z T = =% : /\E
#3,331,0007) WE TRKEER( A

EXBDEETEETHER  UE
HRNZEHERNESRNFA - B
R+ -_A=t—RHE - FF
EENIPEEA—Et_EA-&
ERER - AEECDRE AR ER R E
B EREERREVORR) R4
BERSEZBEIAHMCEEEZEN
RENEHREE - 5ER - AREY
BRECEASEREBNEMEN - 21
AEMEME=TTHE  BELERE
EER - FANHERAERENES
REAENESRNRER T _=F
ToA=+—HNEREERARK
8,162,0007T °
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35. TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their
entirety

As at 31 December 2023, the Group endorsed certain bills receivables
accepted by certain reputable banks in Mainland China to certain
of its suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due to such
suppliers, with carrying amounts in aggregate of RMB21,337,000
(referred to as the “Derecognised Bills”, 2022: RMB13,205,000).
The Derecognised Bills had a maturity from one to twelve months
from 31 December 2023. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable
Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have
a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks default (the
“Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating to the
Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying
amount of the Derecognised Bills. The maximum exposure to loss from
the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and the
undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Derecognised Bills is
equal to their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair
value of the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills
is not significant.

During the year, the Group has not recognised any gain or loss on
the date of transfer of the Derecognised Bills (2022: Nil). No gains or
losses were recognised from the Continuing Involvement, both during
the year or cumulatively. The endorsement has been made evenly
throughout the year.

35. *RBEEZR (/E)

ExXERUILERHCERERE
=

RZEZ=F+-A=+—H ' ~5E
R EARESE TMRRITESHER
HEAARK 21,337,000t (=T ==
£ AR 13,205,0007T) B#E T UK
ER(RIEREBEDEETEET
HIER  UHEEEXRZEHERNES
ﬁﬁ fE - BT _=F+_HA=+—

RIFERZEOE SRR A—2
+:MHomﬁ¢l%ﬁ%vm¢ﬁm
IRITEL  RILERREIBABER
$EIL%Gﬁf/AD°§$%ﬁ'
AEEDERMAK ERERARNE
AEBD B R E R o Hitt - NEEE K
IFFERL IR EBE RN 2 IPIRMEE - A
SEBES2RRIERAZERERZS
RIEBREBRHARMRRSREAEEGL
BRBEXERENEFABE - EFR
R AEERELELIBAREOR
FETTEK -

WA - ARE LB ER I ERR
P R M IR (=B
—oF R DRERMSRTNE
Pask R BERR AU TSI - B
FEASEEFHMEY -

SRCCEFRERE  PREEVRZERARAR
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36. HBENNEZEMTA

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

RBEHR - BRI SR TEANKEE

as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: N
2023 —8|=-=
Financial assets TEEE
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
LABRSHRE A 51 BR
HEREE
RMB’000
ARETT
Trade and bills receivables B 5 EUGRIE R B E IR 82,188
Financial assets included in prepayments, AR - B REM
deposits and other receivables FEUGRIBR B S
TREE 3,906
Pledged deposits [REwireEd 28
Cash and cash equivalents RERRSEEY 44,409
130,531
Financial liabilities THEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
LA EE R A T AR
e =R
RMB’000
ARETT
Trade payables B SR RIA 28,866
Borrowings B 29,800
Financial liabilities included in JESH B R R EMENFIERBEEH
accruals and other payables =L 13,129
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,692
73,487

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36. IRERNEZET A (E)
(Continued)
2022 —g=-=
Financial assets
Financial
assets at

amortised cost

TR SE A ARG BR A

TRIBE
RMB’000
AREFTT
Trade and bills receivables B 5B GRIE K RN E R 123,723
Financial assets included in prepayments, TERFIE - e REMERRIEREE
deposits and other receivables NEemEE 4,285
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIREeEEY 59,535
187,543
Financial liabilities THEE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R SERAR T BR Y
TRIBE
RMB’000
AREFTT
(Restated)
(f2E31)
Trade payables B SR RIA 29,030
Borrowings =3 39,446

Financial liabilities included in accruals and T ERAREMENZEFREENSRAE
other payables 10,050
Lease liabilities HEBE 10,997
89,523
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably
approximate to fair values, are as follows:

37. SR TAEMNAEERAFEE

Fih

AEESRTAZEAERATEE
EEAEEEATFENSBTARI)
o -

Carrying amounts Fair values
ARE{E AFE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E=fE —TB--fF CZT|I=fF —T-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR

ARETT AR®TRE ARETT

Financial asset PREE
Equity investments designated  $8E IR A FEF AHM

at FVTOCI 2HN R ERRE =

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables, trade
payables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, trade payables, and financial liabilities included in accruals
and other payables approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

Management estimated that the fair values of unlisted equity

investments designated at FVTOCI approximates to zero as they
consider such investment to be highly unlikely to be recoverable.

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 37. €M T AN AFEEAFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) H4R(E)

Fair value hierarchy AFEEFR

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of TRIVFALSESHTAAFEFERE
the Group’s financial instruments: & -

Assets measured at fair value BN FE B BE

Fair value measurement using
AFERER

Quoted price Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EETE  EXUHE EXTUHE

ZHE ENER LTPN 7]
(5—1E) (E=@) (B=E) wmEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE ARETRT AR®TR ARETR

As at 31 December 2023 RZZE==F+=A
=+—8
Equity investments designated  $8E IR A FEF AHAM
at FVTOCI EEREZ EERE - - - -
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

37. SR TEMNAFEERAFEE
FH(E)

AFEER ()

BAFEGEZEE(E)

Fair value measurement using

Quoted price

AFEHEER

Significant Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BRAEE SRATAHE
EPAN 74 AR
(F=R) (B=RE) Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT AREBTET

in active
markets
(Level 1)
ERTIS
2B
(B—E)
RMB’000
ARETFT
As at 31 December 2022 RZTBZZF+=H
S—E

Equity investments designated  $§E IR A FEF AHAM

at FVTOCI 2HENE Z ESIEE =

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value
as at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for
both financial assets and financial liabilities (2022: Nil).

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise trade and bills
receivables, prepayments, deposits and other receivables, cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other payables, borrowings and lease
liabilities. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group does not have any significant exposure to the risk of
changes in market interest rates as the Group does not have any
significant long-term receivables and loans which are subject to floating
interest rate.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s principal businesses are located in the Mainland China
and most of the transactions are conducted in RMB. Most of the
Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB, except for those
of the overseas subsidiaries in Hong Kong and the Company whose
functional currency is HK$. Foreign currency exposure mainly arises
from intra-company balance denominated in HK$ as recorded by
Zhuhai New Materials. At 31 December 2023, Zhuhai New Materials
recorded an amount due to the Company of RMB40,326,000 (2022:
RMB40,753,000) denominated in HK$. If RMB strengthens/weakens
against HK$ as a reasonable possible change of 5%, the loss before tax
of the Group will increase/decrease by approximately RMB2,016,000
(2022: RMB2,038,000), correspondingly.

38. MR EEE B RBUIR

FEENTZSMTABIEE HRUIH
AR EREE - BNF0R - TRk EM
YR RERHLEEY  BHN
Hip o8 - fEAREERE - %
SeRTANIZARRANEENK

LERED -

AEESRTAMEE 2T ERRAF
K@ - SNERR - FERRRREE
TER - EEEERMAREESERA
REVBER - BRI T -

I 2= B

AREEYW BTSN KN EAERE
BEKR - AASEL ESTSFIERR
IR EARIESRIBREK -

Ve LR

REBOEZEBHARFEARE - K3
ARBUNRERET - NEBAHHE
ERABEUARETE  EREBE
SNHBRATIRARRINY L EE A
TC o INERRE BEL ARG AR
BZUABTECSEARBIBLEE -
RZEZ=F+ZA=+—1H  ®KEH
MBS LB TTAHE Z B AR A B 5008
ARM40,326,0007(ZTE==F + A
R #40,753,0007T) ° iz Al ge & 1L &
PAREEBTER EIFS% - AR
=B 2 R AT ES R A AREIE D, R A4
AR¥2,016000 (ZFZ2F : AR
#2,038,0007T) °
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. MR aEE M R BIR

212

China Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited

AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
Credit risk EEE R
The Group has established a credit risk management policy under AEEESIEEERRERBERE &

which individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history
of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer operates. In
addition, trade receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Any credit sales exceeding the initial approved limits require approval
from the board of directors. Debtors with balances that are more than
3 years past due are requested to settle all outstanding balances before
any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group considered that there is no significant increase in the credit
risk arising from bills receivables after taking into account payment
history and forward-looking information. Therefore, the expected credit
loss allowance of bills receivables as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
in not material.

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure
to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly
based on past due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at
31 December. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets.

Annual Report 2023
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. MR E I EE BB R EBUR

AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
Credit risk (Continued) SERME (&)
As at 31 December 2023 R-'|-=#+=-HA=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+Z=fEA
BHiER 2HEY
P [HiEEPS
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

F-BR  F-RR SRR GithE st
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARBTRT ARRTRT ARETR ARETR

Trade receivables* E SRR - = - 155339 155,339
Financial assets included in BERENTE - &e

prepayments, deposits and REAEWFIE .

other receivables SREE

- Normal** - 3,906 - - - 3,906
Pledged deposits [REETES A

— Not yet past due ~ (AR HR 28 = = = 28
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALEEM

— Not yet past due - AR 44,409 - - = 44,409

48,343 - - 155339 203,682
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. MR aEE M R BIR

AND POLICIES (Continued) (&)
Credit risk (Continued) EERME(8)
As at 31 December 2022 KRB ZF+=A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
T=f8A
BHER L HES
BX EREX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-BB BB F=RR O GlhE @5t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'0O00  RMB'000
ARETL ARBTE ARETT ARKTT ARETE

Trade receivables* B SR = = = 149,965 149,965
Financial assets included in BERBAFTE ke
prepayments, deposits and REMEKFEL
other receivables TRAE
— Normal** - L 4,285 = = = 4,285
Cash and cash equivalents ReLREZEY
— Not yet past due - WA 59,535 = = - 59,535
63,820 - - 149,965 213,785
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach * RASBHABL T EZEERENE
for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in SEYFIEMS - ERBEEEFH
note 18 to the financial statements. BV AR B TS IR MR 18 455 -

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, o EeREEWRSH R EERKSA

deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they BV EREeREENEERRIL
are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial AR N - ST ABNRIE - &8
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. REMERREBEzcREENEEE

EHRABTER] -
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The Group had certain concentrations of credit risks arising from the
total trade receivables due from the Group’s largest customer and the
Group’s five largest customers as follows:

38. i EMGEE AN RBE

&)
b ()
AEEEETEERRETZAR A

ERAEBZAEF MAKBEAKRES
B TIRMRENT

2023 2022

—BC-=F T

% %

Due from the Group’s largest customer ERASE AR 1.42 23
Due from the Group’s five largest customers JEWAEERREF 14.59 7.4

Most of these customers have long-term business relationship with the
Group. The Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits and monitoring procedures to ensure that there will be
follow-up action to recover overdue debts.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s management reviews the liquidity position of the Group
on an ongoing basis, including review of the expected cash inflows and
outflows in order to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
to meet its liquidity requirements.

The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its ability to
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through
the settlements from customers and the payments to vendors.

R ZERPHRAEE G RPE
BR% FAEEEZk—XEFAEE
EEERBREERR - UHERASERR
BB DB HER o

B &S

AEENEEEFEERAEENRE
B - BRENERRESRARR
H - UHEREBTRIREFHE - UER

AEBENRBESTEIRNEESH
BUEREEBRE PN RENRTHERS
MEN BRI 2 G FEmEED -
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B FEERAR MY RE

31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

38.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of

the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments,

is as follows:

As at 31 December 2023

BATS E b IR B B R BUSR

&)
mEEE M ()

REEHRR - EREFTOEREBRNN
R AREZERABIBBERNT

R=-F==%F+=-A=+—H

Within 1to2 2t05 Over Carrying

On demand 1 year years years 5 years Total amount

REXE -Ff -E-§ CZERE  RBIE @t fREfE

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARETT ARBTR ARETRT ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR

Trade payables BHRNFE 8,600 20,266 - - - 28,366 28,366

Bank borrowings f5E - 13,311 18,474 - - 31,785 29,800

Accruals and other payables  FEstER R EfERFE 13,129 = = = = 13,129 13,129

Lease liabilities HERE - 156 923 196 2,540 2,985 1,692

21,729 33,733 18,567 196 2,540 76,765 73,487

As at 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H

Within 1102 2105 Over Carrying

On demand 1 year years years 5 years Total amount

RERE —ER  -Z-f C—ZRE BB S REE

RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000

ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR

Trade payables UL 19,588 9,442 - - - 29,030 29,030

Bank borrowings B8 = 22202 1,868 18479 = 42 549 39,446
Accruals and other payables  FESHBR R EMER FUR

(restated) (1B =5) 10,050 - - - - 10,050 10,050

Lease liabilities HERE - 2,459 2,549 4,807 3,036 12,851 10,997

29,638 34,103 4417 23,286 3,036 94,480 89,523
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31 December 2023 —E==F+=A=+—H

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Capital management

The Group’s objectives of its capital management are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can
continue to provide returns for the shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, and to provide an adequate return to shareholders by
pricing services and products commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group
manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of
changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debts.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by total equity plus net debt. Net debt comprises trade
payables, borrowings, lease liabilities, accruals and other payables,
and tax payable, less cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits.
Capital represents equity attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company.

38. I EEEE B RBIK

&)
HEXER

AEBENEAEE B FERREAKER
BISEHIRE N - DABCHL AT R AR R 1
S E R S H AL M SRR E R AR A -
3838 SRR SR 7K AR B IR TS I EE am
FEBRBIREH R SR -

AEBZERLLOIFFIEA T - NE
EEEEEANEELRFLERNE
REEEENRBREHINARE - BT
MR ABEANGRE  AREARHED
NEROBRE SR  MBREREERN
BT E B EARIE

AEBNEREREZEER  ZLEXA
FEBRARESINFER - FEBE
EESEMNFA (5 HERE &
AHERAREMBNRIBREMNTIE B
ERE RS FEYREREK - BEX
AR A R A
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. M5 E I EE B i R IBR
AND POLICIES (Continued) (%8)
Capital management (continued) BEXEE(E)
A5 8 ) 5 B 2 (RISt R A AR R 1
EAKTE - AR - AEBIRR
MEBREBIEETRENEHNAKRRS
REERAL N BEIER G - R
TRRAREES KT RBEREH
BFMETE (WNFE) - BRAER
HESIKEMERSIBEER - =
T =FR_E_—F+-_A=+—H

The Group’s strategy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a healthy capital
level in order to support its businesses. The principal strategies adopted
by the Group include, but are not limited to, reviewing future cash
flow requirements and the ability to meet debt repayment schedules
when they fall due, maintaining a reasonable level of available banking
facilities and adjusting investment plans and financing plans, if
necessary, to ensure that the Group has a reasonable level of capital to
support its business. The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2023 and

218

2022 were as follows: MEEARBHLENT :

2023 2022

—E-=f -4

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AREFTT

(Restated)

(E7)

Trade payables B SR 28,866 29,030

Borrowings BE 29,800 39,446

Lease liabilities HESE 1,692 10,997

Accruals and other payables FERTE A R E MBS RIA 22,539 23,364

Tax payable FERIEIE 1,951 1,960

Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BeRIReEEY (44,409) (59,535)

Less: Pledged deposits o BT (28) -

Net debt (A) SFETS (A) 40,411 45,262
Equity attributable to equity RAEIHER AELERE

shareholders of the Company 159,127 199,254

Capital and net debt (B) BARRFER (B) 199,538 244516

Gearing ratio (A/B) 1B (A/B) 20% 19%
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  39. AL SIMAIKR AT
COMPANY

2023 2022
—E|-=%F —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTT AREETTT
NON-CURRENT ASSET EREBEE
__Investmentin subsidiaries  RKH@ARzEE loeg4 21,848
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIA 3,160 3,489
Prepayments, deposits and other AR - e REMEREIE
receivables 405 -
Due from subsidiaries JE U B BB A B FE 142,312 141,165
Dividend receivables FEURAE S 3,618 =
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALEFRBY 448 867
149,943 145,521
CURRENT LIABILITIES RENEE
Accruals and other payables EETERA R EMEMNFIE 1,383 1,442
Due to a subsidiary JE < — IR B A R RUE 5,225 4,019
6,608 5,461
_NET CURRENT ASSETS ~ #%®#Z#E 143335 140,060
NET ASSETS BEFHE 156,019 161,908
EQUITY Wi
Issued capital BT 35,415 35,415
Reserves (note) s (FsE) 120,604 126,493
TOTAL EQUITY g 156,019 161,908

“RCEFFERE  PEEXFVAHERARAF 219
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

39. FABMBRAR (15)

Note: MisE -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RATRREEBMAT
Share Exchange Share
premium Capital  Contributed  fluctuation option Accumulated
account reserve surplus reserve reserve losses Total
ER RS FaE

BRpRER  EFGE  GAER fikt s Rt a5t

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

At 1 January 2022 R=¥=-=§-H-H 65,163 55,161 16,744 (1,761) 3,804 (22,868) 116,243

Total comprehensive income  AFE 2 AN zEEH

for the year - - - 10916 - 302 11,218
Equity-settled share option ~ SAMERS 48 v BRI 2 HE

arrangements - - - - (968) = (968)

At 31 December 2022 R=B-—f+=-RA=+-H 65,163 55,161 16,744 9,155 2,836 (22,566) 126,493

At 1 January 2023 R-B-—§#-H-H 65,163 55,161 16,744 9,155 2,836 (22,566) 126,493

Total comprehensive loss for AN & 2 F B 1E40%R

the year = = = 4,545 - (10,097) (5,552)
Equity-settled share option ~ LAEZ A E 2 BIRIER S

arrangements - - - - (337) - (337)

At 31 December 2023 RZB¥-=F+-A=+-H 65,163 55,161 16,744 13,700 2,499 (32,663) 120,604
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40. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued,
but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial
statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these new
and amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they
become effective.

Amendment to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

In September 2022, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 16 to
specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the
lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction, to ensure the
seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that
relates to the right of use it retains.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024 and must applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial application
of IFRS 16. Earlier application is permitted and that fact must be
disclosed.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

40.

=+— EIEFEE BN
RAMMIETE - AR
REBHTRENE

BEASEYHRERME AEBME
AR ARV FT AT R ARIE AT R S B
BT - REEFNZ SRR REER]
RN R (A0 ) ARG T IABRAA -

[ P Bt 5 4R o5 2 R 56 16 53k (85T
X): ERFHOIZHER R

RZZE-_FhA  BREHEAZRE
SR BIFR M R IR EERIE 165k (BFT
) EHEIABAGEAESERER
REHZTVELANHERBERAERANS
ko URERE T ABEA TSR EME
FAERE M REM RS kB IRFOR -

ZEEITA T -_WNFE - —H%k’
PSRRI R RE BREAER - XABHRE
FARHt6 FE R B A 76 5 E R 2 1657
HERETHERERRS W RFFR
RIER - EMARBEARESR -

ZEEF RIS HAREMBRRE
EERYE -
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40. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 40. 82— =-=%+—=H
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED =+—HIEEFEEEMHER
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR FEMBIETA - HEHIR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 (Continued) 2ENTRERE(E)
Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as EEEEERE 15 (ERTE) -
Current or Non-current BE7E5EBsL AR
In January 2020 and October 2022, the IASB issued amendments to RZZEZZF—ARZZE=Z=F+A1"
paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements for classifying BN e ERIE B 2R M B g%
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify: BIZE 1560 E 76 B (BT A ) @ BB

BESHEREVESIERIER E5k - %18
FTAATE -
. What is meant by a right to defer settlement . EEBEERENNTESR
o That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period o EREEMERN N BEERS R
BT
. That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity o BERIESITEEESERTT
will exercise its deferral right FEAENED
. That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability o EErEHaETRANITER
is itself an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not AE ST AR BEERS
impact its classification BN -5 LS
In addition, a requirement has been introduced to require disclosure HINIREIHE—TBIRE - EREER B
when a liability arising from a loan agreement is classified as non- EENBERBEAIERBUREREE
current and the entity’s right to defer settlement is contingent on BEEZEFNNTZ@EARNETAEKR
compliance with future covenants within twelve months. AR IR AL RER
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning ZEBFEE_NFE—HA—Hzi&
on or after 1 January 2024 and must be applied retrospectively. The MK FREREBBANER - WEEH
Group is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on FEA - AREBIEEFEZIEFTHIRITH
current practice and whether existing loan agreements may require ERRE  WIEREERREES R

EFHE °
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40. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

41.

42.

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 (Continued)

Supplier Finance Arrangements — Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

In May 2023, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures to clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements in
understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an
entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

The amendments will be effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. Early adoption is permitted, but
will need to be disclosed.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There have been no material events that are subject to disclosure after
the year ended 31 December 2023 to the date of this report.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.4, certain prior period adjustments have
been made to correct prior period errors, and certain comparative
amounts have been reclassified and restated to conform with the
current year’s presentation and accounting treatment, and a third
statement of financial position as at 1 January 2022 has been
presented.

40.

41.

42.

=+— EIEFEE BN
RAMMIETE - AR
REBHTRRE (7)

HrEmRE < EERSE A
7R R EPRIA SR 2 AUSE 7 5%
(183T%)

R-Z-=F1RH BEEREEHAENEE
SROEKR ST ENFE7RRERER
MERMBREEFTReB TR - K
F o LHAHERRELHNER . I
ERBBARIETRINEE - ZFE
IRV RE R R E EBBM B RERER
ETREERRELFHERNEE
RengNMndEcRRNTE -

ZEBIHRN T _IF—A—B%z
&R FEREHREAER LA
RIER - 1R TIABE -

ZEE PTG HAREN BREE
EEAFE -

MEMEEIE

BE-_ZE-_=%+-"A=1+—RHIFE
EAREAL  MEATHENEARSE
18 o

A

BT 2 A — A - AEEDE
TETBRABRMAENE EBTHM
IR METUHESECETSHE
REFIAREAFEZ 2 REE
BRA - WERNE=MH_T__%F
—A—BRFBRRE
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFMHHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial
statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below. The
amounts for certain years in the five-year financial summary have been
adjusted for the effects of the prior period adjustments, as detailed in note 2.4
to the financial statements.

2019

—E-NEF ZECZF

AEEBERAMBRFENEENREERA
BEME(HRaC TENSETTB®RER X
BE5/EEFHBE(WER)) BT -
WEA SRR 2. 4 FrEF - AEMBEHMES
ETFENSBECHBEPERERNZE T

Year ended 31 December
B8FE+-A=+—HLEE

2020 2021 2022 2023
F B B ZEZ=

RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'0O00  RMB’000
AEBTIT ARBTET AR®ETT AREBETET ARETR

224

(Restated)
(F&E71)
RESULTS E S
Revenue WA 148,034 100,529 131,279 78,057 85,353
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELATE R, (EER) 19,366 (506) (20,870) (14,824) (50,836)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF (E18) 16,761 61 (17,977) (13,511) (42,356)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: ~ JATN AL FEME R,
(E18) -
Equity shareholders of the  ZAA EIREZAARER
Company 16,469 584 (18,211) (13,098) (39,779)
As at 31 December
R+=A=+—H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-hEFE —ZE-TFE B ZE-—_F ZETZ=
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARBTRT ARBTT ARBFT ARETRT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(F&&E75) (&e&E5) (re&75)) (& E51)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Total assets BEBTE 319,100 316,057 316,265 313,605 249,266
Total liabilities BERRE 70,921 76,357 95,778 109,048 87,414
Net assets BESFE 248,179 239,700 220,487 204,557 161,852
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